Ubiquitous Metadata: Design and Fabrication of Embedded Markers for Real-World Object Identification and Interaction

by

Mustafa Doğa Doğan

B.S., Boğaziçi University (2018) S.M., Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2020)

Submitted to the Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

February 2024

© 2024 Mustafa Doğa Doğan. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT a nonexclusive, worldwide, irrevocable, royalty-free license to exercise any and all rights under copyright, including to reproduce, preserve, distribute and publicly display copies of the thesis, or release the thesis under an open-access license.

Authored by:	Mustafa Doğa Doğan Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science January 26, 2024
Certified by:	Stefanie Mueller Associate Professor of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science Thesis Supervisor
Accepted by:	Leslie A. Kolodziejski Professor of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science Chair, Department Committee on Graduate Students

Ubiquitous Metadata: Design and Fabrication of Embedded Markers for Real-World Object Identification and Interaction

by

Mustafa Doğa Doğan

Submitted to the Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science on January 26, 2024, in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

The convergence of the physical and digital realms has ushered in a new era of immersive experiences and seamless interactions. As the boundaries between the real world and virtual environments blur and result in a "mixed reality," there arises a need for robust and efficient methods to connect physical objects with their virtual counterparts. In this thesis, we present a novel approach to bridging this gap through the design, fabrication, and detection of embedded machine-readable markers.

The vision of mixed reality relies on mobile and wearable devices being aware of the surroundings to enhance real-world experiences with contextual information. For individual object identification, machine-readable tags such as barcodes and RFID labels are typically used. Barcodes, though cost-effective, tend to be obtrusive, less durable, and less secure than RFID labels. Regardless of their type, such tags are usually added to objects after fabrication, rather than being integrated into the original design.

This thesis attempts to overcome the shortcomings of traditional post-hoc augmentation processes by proposing novel tagging approaches that extract hidden, integrated features of objects and employ them as machine-detectable markers. Our research focuses on the design, implementation, and evaluation of comprehensive systems for embedding and interacting with embedded markers. We categorize the proposed tagging approaches into three distinct categories: *natural markers, structural markers,* and *internal markers.* Natural markers, such as those used in *SensiCut*, are inherent fingerprints of objects repurposed as machinereadable identifiers, while structural markers, such as *StructCode* and *G-ID*, leverage the structural artifacts in objects that emerge during the fabrication process itself. Internal markers, such as *InfraredTag* and *BrightMarker*, are embedded *inside* fabricated objects using specialized materials. Leveraging a combination of methods from computer vision, machine learning, computational imaging, and material science, the presented approaches offer robust and versatile solutions for object identification, tracking, and interaction.

These markers, seamlessly integrated into real-world objects, effectively communicate an object's identity, origin, function, and interaction, functioning as gateways to "ubiquitous metadata" – a concept where metadata is embedded into physical objects, similar to metadata in digital files. Across the different chapters, we demonstrate the applications of the presented methods in diverse domains, including product design, manufacturing, retail, logistics, education, entertainment, security, and sustainability. Finally, we discuss the challenges and opportunities associated with deploying embedded machine-readable markers at scale, such as integration with mass manufacturing, privacy considerations, consumer product applications, and novel interactions for AR personalization.

In conclusion, this thesis presents a comprehensive exploration of embedded machinereadable markers as a means to connect real-world objects to virtual worlds to achieve ubiquitous metadata. The thesis forges ahead with a future where objects come alive, environments become interactive, and virtual worlds seamlessly merge with our everyday lives.

Thesis Supervisor: Stefanie Mueller Title: Associate Professor of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science

Acknowledgments

Reflecting upon the incredible odyssey of doing a PhD at MIT, I am compelled to acknowledge the exceptional individuals whose support, guidance, and expertise have shaped my growth and enriched my scholarly pursuits.

First and foremost, I am forever indebted to my thesis advisor, Stefanie Mueller. Her mentorship, scholarly brilliance, and firm belief in my potential have been pivotal in my intellectual and professional development. Under her guidance, I have had the privilege to be part of the distinguished Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) Engineering group, likely the most international research team at CSAIL. I am incredibly honored that I got to hang out with the coolest and most interesting individuals with so many different interests, both in research and life. Thank you, Cedric, Dishita, Faraz, Junyi, Martin, Marwa, Ticha, and Yunyi, for being constant sources of inspiration and encouragement, and not hesitating to offer me last-minute feedback whenever I needed it. A special note of gratitude goes to Ticha, who has gone above and beyond to support us, whether it is through offering us fancy teas and snacks, or hosting cozy meetups with live music. After almost 6 years, it is astounding to think that time flew so quickly; looking back, I feel privileged to have worked with brilliant postdocs who have gone on to be at top research institutions around the globe – Junichi, Michael, Moji, Mackenzie, Yoonji – thank you for your mentorship at MIT and beyond. And Linda, as the one-and-only administrative assistant of our lab, the biggest thanks go to you, for coming to our rescue whenever we struggled.

I would like to express my earnest gratitude to my academic advisor Daniela Rus, and my thesis advisors and mentors Arvind Satyanarayan and Michael Nebeling. Their guidance and mentorship have been crucial in shaping my research journey, and their insights and feedback have deeply enriched my understanding of the broader scientific landscape.

One of the most fun and rewarding experiences during my time at MIT was having the opportunity to work with numerous undergraduate researchers, *UROP*s, as well as Master's students, which made me a better mentor. Boundless gratitude to and admiration for Ahmad Taka, Steven Acevedo, and Veerapatr "Vic" Yotamornsunthorn, who won Best UROP and Master's Thesis awards, and made me and Stefanie so proud.

Steven, you are greatly missed, you will be remembered forever. May you rest in peace. To the reader of this thesis: Please consider supporting research for treatments and a cure for DSRCT, an aggressive and rare type of cancer that took Steven from us, by donating to the MD Anderson Cancer Center through the Cory Monzingo Foundation.

I extend my heartfelt appreciation to my other esteemed colleagues and friends at MIT and in Boston, whose camaraderie, collaborative spirit, and intellectual exchange have been a constant source of strength during challenging times. I am indebted to Cathy, Dylan, Jack, Kru, Lucio, Miranda, Raul, Reza, Safa, Tuna, and Ulya for making MIT and Boston feel like a second home, even during the freezing winters.

I remain genuinely thankful for my friends Ecem and Ege, who have been beacons of motivation and support since *İstanbul Erkek Lisesi*, our high school. I am still moved to tears when I think about all we accomplished together, from Technology Student Association trophies, to film contests and *İcat Çıkar*. Also enormous thanks to my dear friends from the HCI community and beyond, including Eric, Frederik, Jasper, Jingyi, Mert, and Parastoo, whose presence has been a pillar of support throughout my PhD journey. And heartfelt thanks to Marcel, who made Delft feel like a true home during times of uncertainty.

I consider myself extremely fortunate to have had the opportunity to collaborate with exceptional mentors and role models from institutions around the world. I am grateful to Sriram Subramanian and Kaan Akşit from University College London, Elvin Karana, and Zjenja Doubrovski from TU Delft, Thijs Roumen from Cornell Tech, Alexa Siu, Jennifer Healey, Tong Sun, Chang Xiao, and Eunyee Koh from Adobe Research, David Kim, Mar-Gonzalez Franco, and Ruofei Du from Google, and Aakar Gupta from Meta Reality Labs. Their invaluable contributions have elevated the impact and rigor of my research.

I am also immensely grateful to the professors and mentors from my college years, with whom I have not only forged a strong academic bond but also developed lasting friendships over the years. I owe Metin Sitti, İlke Ercan, Ali Emre Pusane, Donghoon Son, and Ankur Mehta a profound debt of gratitude for instilling in me the love for learning and the belief in my own potential. Their mentorship laid the foundation upon which I stand today.

I am profoundly thankful to my parents, Neşe and Rifat, and my sister, Bengü, I owe an immeasurable debt of gratitude for their unconditional love, understanding, and belief in my abilities. Their support has been a constant source of motivation throughout the years.

In closing, I would like to express my deep appreciation to all individuals and institutions that have played a role in shaping my doctoral journey. Your collective support and encouragement have been invaluable in realizing my ambitions and aspirations.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction 2	23
	1.1	Design Criteria	24
	1.2	Categories of Machine-Readable Markers	26
	1.3	Natural Markers	27
	1.4	Structural Markers	28
		1.4.1 Laser Cutting Artifacts as Machine-Readable Data	28
		1.4.2 3D Printing Artifacts as Identifiers	29
	1.5	Internal Markers	30
		1.5.1 Invisible Markers in 3D Printed Objects	30
		1.5.2 Increasing the Contrast of Markers	31
	1.6	Structure of the Thesis	32
2	Rela	ated Work	35
	2.1	Computer Vision-Based Approaches	35
	2.2	Use Cases for Markers in HCI	36
	2.3	Making Markers Less Obtrusive	37
		2.3.1 Marker Location: Inside, Surface, Structure	38
		2.3.2 Data Complexity: Identifiers, Information	38
		2.3.3 Complexity of Tagging Approach: Fabrication, Detection	39
3	Sen	siCut: Material-Aware Laser Cutting Using Speckle Sensing and Deep	
	Lea	rning 4	11
	3.1	Introduction	41
	3.2	Motivation	44
	3.3	Speckle Sensing Hardware Add-On for Laser Cutters	46

		3.3.1	Speckle Sensing Working Principle	46
		3.3.2	Hardware Add-On	47
	3.4	User I	Interface and Applications	49
		3.4.1	Identifying Single Material Sheets	49
		3.4.2	Identifying Multiple Sheets of Different Materials at Once	52
		3.4.3	Engraving onto Multi-Material Objects	53
	3.5	Classi	fication of Materials	55
		3.5.1	Choosing Material Samples	55
		3.5.2	Data Capture and Material Speckle Dataset	57
		3.5.3	Training the Neural Network	58
	3.6	Evalua	ation of Material Classification	59
		3.6.1	Detection Accuracy Results	59
		3.6.2	Effect of Illumination and Sheet Orientation on Detection $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	60
		3.6.3	Generalization to Different Material Batches and Manufacturers	62
	3.7	Softwa	are Implementation	62
	3.8	Discus	ssion \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	64
	3.9	Concl	usion	65
4	Q4		les I serves sin a Falaziantian Antifanta ta Stana Data in I serve Cod	L
4	Ohi		les: Leveraging radrication Artifacts to Store Data in Laser-Cut	67
	00j	Tuturd		67
	4.1	Introd		07
	4.2	Metho	d: Embedding Data in StructCodes	69 5 9
		4.2.1	Identifying Features Suitable for StructCodes	70
		4.2.2	Structural Embedding of Data Bits	70
		4.2.3	Encoding Scheme	72
	4.3	End-to	o-End Workflow	73
		4.3.1	User Interface for Embedding StructCodes	73
		4.3.2	Mobile Interface for Reading StructCodes	74
	4.4	Applie	cations	74
		4.4.1	Embedding Identifiers for Static or Dynamic Labels	74
		4.4.2	Embedding Context: Resources and Instructions	75
		4.4.3	Embedding Overlaid Media	77

	4.5	Detect	tion of StructCodes	77
		4.5.1	Detection of Finger Joints	78
		4.5.2	Detection of Living Hinges	79
		4.5.3	Evaluation of the Detection Pipelines	80
	4.6	Mecha	nical Evaluation	83
		4.6.1	Compression Evaluation of Finger Joints	83
		4.6.2	Bending Evaluation of Living Hinges	84
	4.7	Softwa	are Implementation	86
	4.8	Discus	sion \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	87
	4.9	Conclu	usion	88
5	G-I	D: Ide	ntifying 3D Prints Using Slicing Parameters	91
	5.1	Introd	uction	91
	5.2	Metho	d: Labeling and Identifying Objects By Their Slicing Parameters \ldots	92
		5.2.1	Main Benefits of Using Different Slicing Parameters	93
		5.2.2	G-ID Workflow for an Identification Application	93
		5.2.3	Labeling Interface (Slicer)	94
		5.2.4	Identification Interface (Mobile App with Object Alignment) \ldots .	95
		5.2.5	Surface and Interior: Detecting Infill Using a Light Source	95
	5.3	Slicing	g Parameters Used for Labeling	96
		5.3.1	Surface Parameters	96
		5.3.2	Infill Parameters	97
		5.3.3	Selecting Parameters that Minimize Print Time and Material $\ . \ . \ .$	98
	5.4	Detect	ing and Identifying Slicing Parameters	98
		5.4.1	Aligning the Object's Base in Handheld Camera Images	98
		5.4.2	Detecting Bottom Line Angle and Width	100
		5.4.3	Error Checking	100
		5.4.4	Detecting Infill Angle, Width, and Pattern	101
	5.5	Spacir	ng of Slicing Parameters	101
	0.0			
		5.5.1	Selecting 3D Models to Evaluate Parameter Spacings	102
		5.5.1 5.5.2	Selecting 3D Models to Evaluate Parameter Spacings	102 103

		5.5.4	Results of the Experiments
		5.5.5	Total Number of Instances Possible
		5.5.6	Cross-Validation
	5.6	Syster	n Implementation $\ldots \ldots 105$
	5.7	Evalua	ation
		5.7.1	Different Materials, Lighting Conditions, Thicknesses
		5.7.2	Different 3D Printers
		5.7.3	Camera Distance and Angle
	5.8	Applie	eations
	5.9	Discus	ssion and Limitations
		5.9.1	Other Slicing Parameters
		5.9.2	Rotational Symmetry of Outlines
		5.9.3	Non-Flat Side Surfaces
		5.9.4	Applicability Beyond FDM Printing
	5.10	Concl	usion
c	T. C.	100	
6	Infr 2D	aredTa	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent
6	Infr 3D	caredTa Printin	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113
6	Infr 3D 6.1	raredTa Printin Introd	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 function 113 function 113
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2	raredTa Printin Introd The In	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 uction 113 nfraredTags System 115 I for IDT 115
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2	raredTa Printin Introd The In 6.2.1	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 uction 113 nfraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2	raredTa Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 uction 113 nfraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 G 111
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2	raredTa Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 uction 113 nfraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2	raredTa Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 Embed	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 uction 113 nfraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117 dding and Reading InfraredTags 120
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2	Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 Embed 6.3.1	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 nuction 113 nfraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117 dding and Reading InfraredTags 120 User Interface for Encoding InfraredTags 120
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2	raredTa Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 Embed 6.3.1 6.3.2	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 auction 113 afraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117 dding and Reading InfraredTags 120 User Interface for Encoding InfraredTags 120 IR Imaging Module for Reading the Tags 121
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2 6.3	Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 Embed 6.3.1 6.3.2 Softwa	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 uction 113 infraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117 dding and Reading InfraredTags 120 User Interface for Encoding InfraredTags 120 IR Imaging Module for Reading the Tags 121 are Implementation 123
6	Infr 3D 6.1 6.2 6.3	Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 Embed 6.3.1 6.3.2 Softwa 6.4.1	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 auction 113 afraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117 dding and Reading InfraredTags 120 User Interface for Encoding InfraredTags 120 IR Imaging Module for Reading the Tags 121 are Implementation 123 UI Implementation 123
6	 Infr 3D 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 	Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 Embed 6.3.1 6.3.2 Softwa 6.4.1 6.4.2	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 uction 113 infraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117 dding and Reading InfraredTags 120 User Interface for Encoding InfraredTags 120 IR Imaging Module for Reading the Tags 121 are Implementation 123 UI Implementation 123 Mobile IR Imaging 124
6	 Infr 3D 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 	Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 Embed 6.3.1 6.3.2 Softwa 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ng Filaments 113 uction 113 infraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117 dding and Reading InfraredTags 120 User Interface for Encoding InfraredTags 121 are Implementation 123 UI Implementation 123 Mobile IR Imaging 124 Image Processing Pipeline 124
6	 Infr 3D 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 	Printin Introd The In 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3 Embed 6.3.1 6.3.2 Softwa 6.4.1 6.4.2 6.4.3 Applio	ags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent ing Filaments 113 auction 113 afraredTags System 115 Infrared Filament 115 Choosing an Infrared Camera 116 Composition of the Tags and Materials 117 dding and Reading InfraredTags 120 User Interface for Encoding InfraredTags 121 are Implementation 123 UI Implementation 123 Mobile IR Imaging 124 Image Processing Pipeline 124 area in s 124

		6.5.2	Embedding Metadata about Objects
		6.5.3	Tangible Interactions: Use Anything as a Game Controller
	6.6	Evalua	ation of the Detection $\ldots \ldots
	6.7	Discus	ssion $\ldots \ldots 130$
	6.8	Concl	usion
7	Bri	ghtMa	rkers: 3D Printed Fluorescent Markers for Object Tracking 133
	7.1	Metho	od: High-Contrast Markers Using Fluorescent Filaments
		7.1.1	Fluorescent Filament
		7.1.2	Infrared Imaging of Fluorescence
	7.2	Fabric	cating, Capturing, and Tracking BrightMarkers
		7.2.1	Adding Markers for Fabrication
		7.2.2	Detection Using Imaging Modules
		7.2.3	Image Processing for Marker Detection
	7.3	Applie	cations $\ldots \ldots 145$
		7.3.1	Rapid Product Tracking
		7.3.2	Wearables for Tracking Human Motion
		7.3.3	Tangible Interfaces for MR Experiences
		7.3.4	Privacy-Preserving Night Vision
	7.4	Evalua	ation
		7.4.1	Detection Distance, Excitation Intensity, and Surface Color 148
		7.4.2	Detection Rate and Marker Speed
		7.4.3	Marker Size
	7.5	Discus	ssion $\ldots \ldots
		7.5.1	Concentration of Fluorescent Dye
		7.5.2	Mass Production
		7.5.3	NIR Power
		7.5.4	Embedding Circular Markers
		7.5.5	Occlusion
	7.6	Concl	usion
8	Dis	cussior	n 155
	8.1	Scalin	g Up and Mass Production

Conclusion			61
	8.4	Interaction and Personalization in AR	58
	8.3	Embedded Markers in Consumer Products	57
	8.2	Privacy	56

9 Conclusion

List of Figures

- 1-1 My research vision. Reading metadata embedded unobtrusively into objects
 and materials in the physical world and reflecting it in the digital world.
 24
- 1-3 StructCode embeds data in the fabrication artifacts of laser-cut objects, such as the patterns of (a) living hinges and (b) finger joints, to augment objects with data. Here, the embedded StructCodes allow narration for a painting and status updates for a potted plant, among others.
- 1-5 InfraredTags are 2D markers and barcodes embedded unobtrusively into 3D printed objects and can be detected using infrared cameras (top-right images). This allows new applications for (a) identifying and controlling devices in AR interfaces, (b) embedding metadata such as 3D model URLs into objects, and (c) tracking passive objects for tangible interactions.

- 1-6 BrightMarkers are embedded into objects using a NIR-fluorescent filament.
 (a) When viewed with a NIR camera with the matching filter, the markers appear with high contrast, which allows them to be tracked even when the objects are in motion, e.g., on a conveyor belt.
 (b) BrightMarker can be used to fabricate custom wearables for tracking, or (c) for transforming physical controls into precise input methods in MR environments.
 32

3-5	Making a face shield. (a) Find flexible sheets from the stockpiles and (b) place in the cutter. (c) Upon identification, the UI labels all 3 materials and gives relevant information on, e.g., their handling and safety. (d) After the cut parts are assembled, the shield can be safely sanitized with alcohol	51
3-6	Rapid material testing for product design. (a) Choosing multiple samples from a material swatch and (b) inserting in the laser cutter. (c) After sensing, the UI matches each shape with the corresponding material. It also warns that the kerf for felt will compromise the design	52
3-7	Adjusting the design for kerf. (a) The user can enlarge the shape to compen- sate for the thicker kerf for felt. (b) Without the adjustment, details like the hole and fine blades of the leaf disappear in the cut felt. (c) The fabricated prototypes	53
3-8	Engraving a multi-material phone case, which consists of (a) wood-like rubber and leather. SensiCut scans (b) the input design's outline and (c) splits it into two parts based on the material type detection. (d) Engraved design	54
3-9	Engraving a pattern on a T-shirt that has (a) plastic details on it. (b) Sensi- Cut uses the right combination of laser settings after partitioning the design (middle). Top/bottom shows the outcome for singular settings	55
3-10	Material considerations and evaluation. (a) Most common material types for laser cutting. (b) Visually similar materials. (c) Confusion matrix from our trained classifier for 30 material subtypes	59
3-11	Effect of (a) varying illumination and (b) sheet orientation on detection	60
3-12	Our detection pipeline takes the user's drawing as input and turns it into target points to capture speckle patterns. The captured images at those points are passed to the CNN to retrieve the material label	63
4-1	StructCode embeds data in the fabrication artifacts of laser-cut objects, such as the patterns of (a) finger joints and (b) living hinges, to augment objects with data. Here, the embedded StructCodes allow narration for a painting and status updates for a potted plant, among others	68

4-2	General design of (a) finger joints and (b) living hinges. To embed bits, we resize both the fingers and gaps in the finger joints, but only the links in the living hinges.	71
4-3	Workflow for encoding and decoding information. (a) After the tool highlights the compatible structures, the user selects the hinge and encodes <i>"Red Oak"</i>.(b) They use the StructCode mobile application to decode the message	73
4-4	(a) Document folders with encoded personal labels, which the user views in AR to retrieve the right one. (b, c) Status updates inform the user about when the plant needs watering	75
4-5	Providing context. (a) The user can access the fabrication files of the furni- ture. (b) Running low on cookies, the user adds a new batch to the online shopping cart through the embedded reorder link	76
4-6	Disassembly instructions are linked to the shelf in case the user needs to take it apart for recycling or transport.	76
4-7	Overlaying media. (a) In an exhibit, visitors use an AR app to view narrative videos by the artists. (b) The crocodile has StructCodes that describe what part they are located on, which is used for educational applications	77
4-8	Image processing steps for (a) finger joints and (b) living hinges	78
4-9	Curvature of living hinges. (a) As bit lengths may be distorted due to curvature, StructCode encodes them with sufficient tolerance to ensure correct detection. (b) StructCodes can be encoded on various shapes, e.g., conical hinges.	82
4-10	Mechanical evaluation of StructCodes: (a) Compressive strength of finger joints and (b) bending of hinges	83
5-1	Different ways to embed tags into 3D models while leaving the surface in- tact: (a) changing the internal geometry (<i>InfraStructs</i>), (b) varying slicing	

parameters (G-ID), (c) relying on fabrication imprecisions (PrinTracker). . . 92

5 - 2	3D printed objects inherently possess surface patterns due to the angle of the	
	print path and the thickness of the trace the 3D printer lays down. G-ID	
	exploits such features to identify unique instances of an object without the	
	need to embed an obtrusive, additional tag. G-ID provides (a) a user interface	
	for slicing individual instances of the same object with different settings and	
	assigning labels to them. After (b) 3D printing, users can (c) identify each	
	instance using the G-ID mobile app that uses image processing techniques to	
	detect the slicing parameters and retrieve the associated labels	93
5-3	G-ID labeling interface: load a 3D model and enter number of unique in-	
	stances needed	94
5-4	G-ID mobile app for identifying instances: (a) select model from library, (b)	
	face the object, (c) once outlines are aligned, the app automatically takes the	
	image	95
5-5	By adding a small light source, we can also detect variations in infill, such as	
	different infill angles, patterns, and densities, which allow for a larger number	
	of instances. Here, the coffee maker recognizes the mug's infill and pours the	
	user's preferred drink.	96
5-6	Combinations of different line widths and angles	97
5-7	Different layer angles achieved by rotating the model at the expense of addi-	
	tional support material and print time (a vs. b), and various print qualities	
	(b vs. c). \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	97
5-8	Cross-sections of the mug model show (a) different infill angles and densities,	
	(b) different infill patterns	98
5-9	Image registration & processing pipeline. (a) The captured outline is regis-	
	tered with that of the 3D model model for (b) improved alignment. (c) Its	
	Fourier transform is used to infer line angle δ and width d . (d) The distance	
	Δx between intensity peaks on the inclined line is inversely proportional to d .	99
5-10	Image processing to extract the components of the infill pattern: (a) photo,	
	(b) contrast increased, (c) blurred, (d) binarized, and (e) matched to the	
	template of the respective infill type: grid, triangles, trihexagon from top to	
	bottom.	101

5-11	Detection accuracies vs. parameter spacing between pairs of instances for the four slicing parameters (bottom line angle and width, as well as infill angle and width). All plots have the same y-range
5-12	Detection accuracies vs. parameter spacing between pairs of instances for the four slicing parameters (bottom line angle & width, as well as infill angle & width). All plots have the same y-range
5-13	System overview
5-14	Different filament colors vs. minimum illuminance required to correctly detect the traces on the bottom surface
5-15	Identifying particular print settings with G-ID: (a) exploring different slicing parameters and (b) printing them, (c) retrieving the best settings using G-ID. 109
5-16	Toys-to-life figurines are used to identify the player and display their info in the video game
5-17	The hotter the nozzle, the darker the print's finish
5-18	(a) Model's axis of rotation is orthogonal to the image plane of the virtual camera, (b) rendered target outline for the user to align model, (c) image has parallel traces
5-19	A sample from a <i>Formlabs</i> SLA printer captured by a conventional mobile phone camera
6-1	Material composition of the tags for a sample ArUco marker. We modify the interior of the object to embed the tag based on (a) single- or (b) multi- material printing. (c) The transmission spectrum of the IR PLA and regular PLA
6-2	Determining the shell thickness for a multi-material print with white PLA. As t_{shell} increases, the checkerboard pattern becomes less visible in both (a) the visible camera and (b) IR camera image. Thus, it gets more challenging to (d) identify the contrast in the pattern for humans, and to (c, e) binarize it correctly from the IR view
6-3	InfraredTags embedding interface

6-4	Infrared imaging module. (a) The module is attached onto a flexible case	
	that can be 3D printed based on the user's mobile device. (b) The module's	
	hardware components.	2
6-5	Image processing to read the tags. (a) Infrared camera view. (b) Individual	
	processing steps needed to decode the QR code message: "HCI_IR_TEST". 124	4
6-6	Controlling appliances using a mobile AR application. The user points at (a)	
	the home speakers to adjust its volume, and the (b) thermostat to adjust the	
	temperature. The infrared camera in the phone's case identifies the appliances	
	by reading the embedded QR codes. (c) Pairing a phone with a WiFi router,	
	whose SSID is visible from all sides but the password is visible only from its	
	bottom	7
6-7	Embedded metadata about the object itself: The user is redirected to the	
	Thingiverse model that was used to fabricate the object	8
6-8	Using passive objects (a) as a game controller. (b) This wheel is black un-	
	der visible light and has no electronic components. (c) The fiducial marker	
	embedded inside is only visible to an infrared camera	8
6-9	Detection evaluation. (a) Maximum detection distance for single- and multi-	
	material ArUco markers. (b) Cases where the IR LED and the visible cut-off	
	filter improve detection	9
7-1	Ways to add tracking capabilities to objects as used in previous HCI projects.	
	External tags rely on adding retro-reflective beads [123, 38], sensor mod-	
	ules [166, 37], or fiducial markers [125], but may result in bulky or visually	
	obtrusive objects. To address this, BrightMarker (rightmost) embeds high-	
	contrast markers using a fluorescent material	4
7-2	Fluorescence and our imaging approach. (a) BrightMarker embeds tracking	
	markers with fluorescent filaments, which "shift" the wavelength of IR radia-	
	tion. (b) Although the excitation and emission spectra of the filament overlap	
	(top), they can be separated in practice using optical tools (bottom). (c) Our	
	imaging setup filters for the marker's fluorescence	6

7-3	The design space of possible material colors. Each test slab was printed
	increasing shell thickness. The left image of each pair shows the visible camera
	capture, while the right image shows the NIR capture
7-4	Marker embedding process. (a) Our tool allows users to (b) uniformly dis-
	tribute markers based on the object geometry
7-5	Hardware modules for tracking BrightMarkers
7-6	BrightMarker's image processing pipeline. (a) The objects are tracked using
	(b) the outlines in IR capture. (c, d) The localized markers are decoded using
	a set of filters
7-7	Wearable for hand tracking. (a) Rigid and flexible bracelet designs with
	embedded markers. (b) Fluorescence imaging is used to detect the unique
	tracking IDs. (c) The user's motion is digitized
7-8	Using a lightsaber as a prop to slice fruits in a game
7-9	Privacy-preserving night vision. (a) Regular CCTVs help monitor important
	objects but may intrude on users' privacy. (b) Our detection setup allows
	tracking of solely the fluorescent objects
7-10	Excitation intensity required with increasing marker distance from the camera.149
8-1	Adaptive display of related information acquired from unobtrusive tags could
	be utilized to create a more personalized and assistive mixed reality environ-
	ment

List of Tables

4.1	Average peak load comparison of the finger joints
4.2	Average bend angle of the living hinges
5.1	Each slicing parameter's range (min, max) and incremental spacing values as determined by our experiments. The last column shows the number of
	variations that can be realized. (*2 angles reserved for error checking) 102
5.2	Polar angle θ vs. the percentage of identified objects
6.1	Thickness values for the shell and code layers
6.2	Filter combinations and QR code detection accuracy

Chapter 1

Introduction

Mobile and wearable devices promise to enrich our daily interactions by providing information to us whenever we need it. These devices, especially those intended for augmented reality (AR), or more broadly, mixed reality (MR) applications, need to constantly identify what is around us and display relevant digital content. Imagine yourself in a store, browsing various items, and desiring further information about the ones that caught your attention: the unit price, calorie information, recipes, or perhaps more affordable options. To facilitate such interactions, the objects around us need to carry labels that describe what they are and communicate this information to digital devices. While paper-based labels like QR codes are cost-effective to manufacture, they often prove visually distracting and lack the durability and security of electromagnetic alternatives like radio-frequency identification tags (RFID), which can be discretely embedded within the object. In this thesis, we study the design, fabrication, and detection of **novel**, **low-cost**, **and durable physical tagging mechanisms** that allow for **unobtrusive identification** of everyday objects, products, and materials to overcome these challenges.

We envision that one day, every real-world object in our lives will contain some sort of metadata that describes its identity, look, origin, function, or instructions on how to use it — and we will be able to access these just by pointing our phones or augmented reality glasses at the objects (Figure 1-1). This is familiar to us in the digital ecosystem, where audio or image files include embedded metadata that helps the user or software seamlessly identify not just what they are but also when and by whom they were captured or recorded. We aspire to transfer this paradigm to **physical objects** – **using embedded physical**



Figure 1-1: My research vision. Reading metadata embedded unobtrusively into objects and materials in the physical world and reflecting it in the digital world.

markers. We call this "ubiquitous metadata."

Ubiquitous metadata refers to the concept of embedding metadata into physical objects, allowing them to be identified and augmented with relevant information when viewed through digital devices. This approach could allow information to weave itself into the "fabric of everyday life" until it is indistinguishable from it [150]. The implementation of ubiquitous metadata through physical tagging mechanisms requires robust fabrication and detection pipelines. If implemented correctly, this can open up new possibilities for immersive spatial computing, where the paradigm will shift from *content inside the screen*, to users inside the content, where one will be able to directly and seamlessly interact with and contribute to the digital content associated with physical objects.

1.1 Design Criteria

As we progress in our exploration of machine-readable markers, we have identified pivotal design criteria that serve as the guiding principles for to our proposed tagging methods. This list is derived from the limitations of existing solutions and literature, which we will detail in Section 2. The criteria consider the practicality, robustness, and widespread adoption of the markers in real-world applications, and are listed as follows.

1. Embeddedness: We advocate for these markers to be integral components of objects

right from the fabrication stage, rather than being considered as afterthoughts or additions. This seamless integration into the physical object's design ensures both unobtrusiveness and resistance to tampering. The embedding strategy may be more *opportunistic*, implying a reliance on existing features for identification, or more *engineered*, involving more sophisticated marker embedding processes to achieve specific design objectives. Some of our methods demonstrate the feasibility of integrating the marker embedding process into existing manufacturing pipelines, which enables the creation of the object and its marker in a single, harmonious process, thus preserving the object's form and appearance.

- 2. Uniqueness: Our proposed tagging mechanisms feature a unique identifier (ID) or metadata for precise object or product identification. A unique ID can come in the form of a distinctive pattern in each object instance for facilitating straightforward identification and accurate data retrieval from digital databases. On the other hand, a unique metadata approach involves embedding more comprehensive information directly into the object, providing a richer context beyond a mere identifier. The choice between these two options depends on the specific requirements of the application and the desired depth of self-contained information associated with each physical entity.
- 3. Cost-effectiveness: The methods prioritize cost-effectiveness, leveraging readily available materials and standard manufacturing processes. By operating without an embedded power source, i.e., adopting a *passive* design, these markers also become more durable and less susceptible to failure, accommodating diverse usage scenarios and environmental conditions. Further, this approach reduces the complexity of tag design and streamlines the object's fabrication process.
- 4. *Detectability*: Regardless of their embedded nature, these markers should be easily detectable by commonly available sensors, such as RGB and near-infrared cameras on devices. This not only enhances user experience but also promotes widespread adoption, as it eliminates the need for specialized equipment. The choice of sensors should align with the intended application to find a balance between accuracy and accessibility.
- 5. *Spatiality*: Spatial awareness plays a pivotal role in the successful integration of ubiquitous metadata, especially in the context of AR. Some of the markers we will introduce in this thesis provide spatial information about the objects that they are attached

to. Knowing the exact position and orientation of the objects is critical for accurately overlaying and anchoring virtual elements in AR applications. Additionally, the markers should retain their machine-readability from various angles and distances to accommodate the dynamic interactions characteristic of AR applications.

In summary, the design criteria of the proposed embedded machine-readable markers encompass important considerations, including the integrated embedding of markers as part of the object design, the choice between unique ID and metadata, the cost-effectiveness of passive solutions, detectability through accessible sensors, and spatial anchoring in AR. Establishing a balance to meet these criteria is essential for creating effective and versatile systems.

1.2 Categories of Machine-Readable Markers

Aligned with the established design criteria, this thesis centers around the exploration and development of three distinct categories of embedded machine-detectable markers. These categories are strategically designed to comprehensively address the identified criteria through different technical methods.

The categories, presented below based on the design criterion of embeddedness, range from the most *opportunistic*, implying a reliance on existing features for identification, to the most *engineered*, meaning more sophisticated marker embedding processes.

- 1. *Natural markers*: Leveraging the inherent fingerprints of objects and materials, this category explores the use of natural features for identification.
- 2. *Structural markers*: Exploiting the structural artifacts that emerge during the fabrication process, this category aims to repurpose inherent elements in the object's construction as markers.
- 3. *Internal markers*: Using specialized materials, this category involves embedding custom markers seamlessly *inside* the fabricated items.

In the pursuit of these categories, novel methods were developed and evaluated, optimizing the design of the markers to have minimal impact on the object's look and form (i.e., unobtrusiveness). The fabrication processes were designed to be compatible with low-cost tools, such as commonly available fused deposition modeling (FDM) 3D printers. Subsequently, the markers can be detected using readily accessible sensors such as RGB and near-infrared cameras.

Throughout the following sections, we will study these tagging approaches in detail and elaborate on the methodologies used to ensure their effectiveness. By combining techniques from computer vision, machine learning, computational imaging, and material science, our presented approaches offer robust and versatile solutions for object identification, tracking, and interaction.

1.3 Natural Markers

Natural markers allow us to leverage objects' natural properties, such as their micron-scale surface texture, as identifiers.

To make use of naturally available markers, we can employ optical methods such as laser speckle imaging, where an image sensor detects how the laser reflects off the object's raw surface. In this method, differences in surface structure result in unique speckle patterns for each material type, which allows us to classify objects. While we can integrate this technology in any digital device, it comes in handy for tools that already have a laser source, e.g., laser cutters.

For the project **SensiCut** [23], we leverage laser speckle imaging to sense material sheets in laser cutters without any pre-labeled stickers (Figure 1-2). To identify materials in traditional laser cutting and set the laser power or speed settings accordingly, users either manually select the type from a database, or an on-board camera takes pictures of material sheets that come with a QR code. Our imaging method, on the other hand, can automate this mundane but risky task, and is not subject to the limitations of conventional cameras, which may confuse visually similar materials, or QR codes, which may be cut off from sheets.

Our technical evaluation shows that *SensiCut* can accurately sense laser cutting materials most commonly used by designers under different environmental conditions, such as illumination and sheet orientation. *SensiCut*'s sensing hardware can be attached to existing laser cutters with our compact sensing hardware add-on, enabling a new workflow for using laser cutters and applications, e.g., providing user safety alerts when hazardous materials are detected, facilitating rapid prototyping, and engraving multi-material objects.

While SensiCut focuses on addressing these important laser cutting challenges as iden-



Figure 1-2: SensiCut. (a) Many laser cutting materials look alike and are hard to distinguish visually by users or regular cameras. Furthermore, there are many hazardous materials that are often confused for safe ones. (b) SensiCut instead senses the sheet's unique surface structure using speckle imaging and deep learning. This enables us to select the correct machine settings, which prevents material waste and ensures user safety, as well as (c) precisely engrave multi-material objects.

tified in recent human-computer interaction literature (Yildirim et al. [160]), our technique may be used within everyday tools and consumer electronics such as smartphones, many of which now come with infrared lasers for facial recognition [50]. More recently, research prototypes have used speckle imaging hardware directly on mixed reality headsets to amplify detection capabilities, showing the potential for sensing-enhanced AR interactions in the future [131].

1.4 Structural Markers

A distinct category within embedded markers closely aligns with the fabrication process itself. These markers, which we refer to as *structural markers*, leverage the inherent characteristics and structures that emerge during the fabrication process to create markers. In this section, we will introduce two methods that utilize different digital fabrication processes and enable different use cases.

1.4.1 Laser Cutting Artifacts as Machine-Readable Data

StructCode [22] allows users to store machine-readable metadata within laser-cut objects' structure by harnessing the fabrication artifacts themselves. By selectively modifying the lengths of laser-burnt finger joints and living hinges, *StructCode* represents different bits of information without requiring additional parts or materials. These modifications, inherent to the fabrication process, enable the integration of meta-information such as labels, instruc-



Figure 1-3: StructCode embeds data in the fabrication artifacts of laser-cut objects, such as the patterns of (a) living hinges and (b) finger joints, to augment objects with data. Here, the embedded StructCodes allow narration for a painting and status updates for a potted plant, among others.

tions, and narration directly into the physical objects (Figure 1-3). *StructCode* provides a reliable and unobtrusive means of capturing information, and can be read with standard device cameras, such as those available on smartphones and AR/VR headsets.

We present and evaluate a marker decoding pipeline that is robust to various backgrounds, viewing angles, and wood types. In our mechanical evaluation, we show that StructCodes preserve the structural integrity of laser-cut objects.

1.4.2 3D Printing Artifacts as Identifiers

Compared to fabrications methods such as laser cutting, 3D printing provides greater flexibility in achieving complex 3D geometries for objects. To integrate identifiers into 3D printed items, we may exploit the artifacts resulting from the extrusion-based FDM process. By manipulating the 3D printer's path through custom CNC machine instructions ("G-code"), we can obtain unique and subtle surface textures for each instance of the same 3D model.

By strategically adjusting slicing parameters that do not alter the geometry of the object, our method G-ID [25, 24] creates unobtrusive machine-readable differences. These variations serve as distinct markers for identifying and distinguishing similar-looking objects from



Figure 1-4: G-ID. (a) 3D printed objects inherently possess surface patterns due to the print path. G-ID exploits such features that would normally go unnoticed to identify unique instances of an object. Our mobile app (b) uses image processing to detect them.

a single photograph captured using a conventional smartphone (Figure 1-4).

We evaluated how finely these texture-related parameter differences can be differentiated between, and built a mobile application that uses image processing techniques to retrieve these parameters from photos and their associated labels. This enables low-cost, interactive applications for user identification.

1.5 Internal Markers

While G-ID is powerful for distinguishing between different copies of 3D printed objects, an important limitation is that the objects do not carry a large amount of data, but rather a single, uniquely identifiable texture. This restricts users from embedding larger amounts of custom information.

On the other hand, internal markers enable users to embed data in the form of 2D markers directly into 3D printed objects. Previous works in internal markers require the use of expensive or specialized equipment. For instance, *AirCode* [80] uses a camera and projector setup to detect gaps beneath the object surface. *InfraStructs* [153] uses a terahertz scanner to detect even deeper holes. Our goal is to develop internal markers that are easy to fabricate and that can be detected using low-cost scanning tools.

1.5.1 Invisible Markers in 3D Printed Objects

InfraredTags [29, 30] are 2D markers and barcodes imperceptible to the naked eye that can be 3D printed as part of objects, and detected rapidly by low-cost near-infrared (NIR) cameras (Figure 1-5). These 2D markers and barcodes consists of multiple bits, as opposed



Figure 1-5: InfraredTags are 2D markers and barcodes embedded unobtrusively into 3D printed objects and can be detected using infrared cameras (top-right images). This allows new applications for (a) identifying and controlling devices in AR interfaces, (b) embedding metadata such as 3D model URLs into objects, and (c) tracking passive objects for tangible interactions.

to a single texture demonstrated in G-ID. We achieve this by printing objects from an infrared-translucent filament, which infrared cameras can see through, and by having air gaps inside for the tag's bits, which appear at a different intensity in the infrared image.

By integrating *InfraredTags* into 3D printed objects during the fabrication process, we enable interactive applications for identifying and controlling devices in AR interfaces or embedding metadata such as links to download the object's 3D model. We also show how convolutional neural networks can be used in conjunction with data augmentation methods to improve the detection of these tags from near-infrared camera streams [31].

1.5.2 Increasing the Contrast of Markers

We built on *InfraredTag* to create markers that have higher contrast. Called *Bright-Marker* [27, 26], these markers are are fabricated using NIR-fluorescent filaments to allow real-time tracking of 3D printed color objects. By using an infrared-fluorescent filament that "shifts" the wavelength of the incident light, our optical detection setup filters out all the noise to only have the markers present in the infrared camera image. The high contrast of the markers allows us to track them robustly regardless of the moving objects' surface color (Figure 1-6).

BrightMarker can be used in a variety of applications, such as custom fabricated wearables for motion capture, tangible interfaces for AR/VR, rapid product tracking, and privacypreserving night vision. *BrightMarker* exceeds the detection rate of state-of-the-art invisible



Figure 1-6: BrightMarkers are embedded into objects using a NIR-fluorescent filament. (a) When viewed with a NIR camera with the matching filter, the markers appear with high contrast, which allows them to be tracked even when the objects are in motion, e.g., on a conveyor belt. (b) BrightMarker can be used to fabricate custom wearables for tracking, or (c) for transforming physical controls into precise input methods in MR environments.

marking, and even small markers (1"x1") can be tracked at distances exceeding 2m.

The integration of these embedded machine-readable markers into real-world objects serves as a gateway to virtual worlds, enabling users to access a wealth of multimedia content, interactive experiences, and valuable contextual information. We will showcase the applications of our methods across diverse domains, including product design, manufacturing, entertainment, marketing, logistics, security, and sustainability.

1.6 Structure of the Thesis

In the remainder of the thesis, we first introduce the landscape of related work in the identification, tagging, and digital fabrication domains (Chapter 2). We then explain each of the previously introduced methods in individual chapters, including natural markers (*SensiCut* in Chapter 3, and structural markers (*StructCodes* in Chapter 4, *G-ID* in Chapter 5), internal markers (*InfraredTags* in Chapter 6, *BrightMarkers* in Chapter 7).

Lastly, we address the challenges and opportunities associated with deploying embedded machine-readable tags at scale (Chapter 8). These considerations encompass aspects such as generalization to faster fabrication methods, integration into consumer products, AR interactions, and privacy concerns. By addressing these challenges, we aim to pave the way for a future where objects come alive, environments become interactive, and virtual worlds seamlessly merge with our everyday lives.

In conclusion, this thesis represents a comprehensive exploration of embedded machinereadable tags as a means to bridge the gap between real-world objects and virtual worlds. Through our research, we strive to advance a future where ubiquitous metadata enhances our interactions, enabling us to effortlessly access information and engage with the physical and digital realms.

Chapter 2

Related Work

In the realm of identifying and tagging physical objects, a wide range of approaches has been explored to bridge the gap between the physical and digital domains. This section provides an overview of existing methodologies, and highlights their strengths, limitations, as well as contributions to HCI.

2.1 Computer Vision-Based Approaches

Computer vision, as a powerful and versatile tool, has significantly advanced object recognition capabilities [136] Machine-learning (ML) classifiers, particularly convolutional neural networks (CNNs) [78], have proven highly capable at assigning general labels to objects based on visual features [45]. This made various computational solutions possible in the field of semantic understanding. Techniques like YOLO [106] and SSD [84] provide realtime object detection by identifying the bounding boxes of objects in the scene. Semantic segmentation involves classifying each pixel in an image into predefined categories, while instance segmentation takes this a step further by distinguishing between individual instances of the same object category. These techniques, as employed in popular models such as Mask R-CNN [54] and U-Net [110], as well as frameworks such as MediaPipe [86], allow for more precise identification and localization of objects.

While these classifiers excel at recognizing and categorizing objects into broader classes, they often fall short in capturing fine-grained details necessary for a comprehensive understanding of the scene [82, 59]. The incapacity to extract specific *metadata* – such as the subtype of an object, detailed product information, origin, or owner – poses a challenge in achieving a deeper and more contextually rich comprehension of the environment.

Real-world scenarios often demand more granular information about objects that go beyond generic labels. For instance, in a retail context, being able to access detailed product information, including specifications or pricing, enhances the overall user experience. In industrial settings, knowing the specific model or version of a machine component holds critical importance. As we explore methods for ubiquitous metadata, we aim to address this limitation by capturing and associating specific metadata with each object instance, ensuring a more comprehensive and contextually relevant representation of the physical environment.

2.2 Use Cases for Markers in HCI

Markers have been used to allow instance-level object identification to extend beyond the capabilities of conventional computer vision [60].

In HCI, visual markers, such as ArUco markers, barcodes, and QR codes have been used to mark objects and enable different interactive applications with them. For instance, *Printed Paper Markers* [162] use different paper structures that conceal and reveal fiducial markers (i.e., *ArUco* [109]) to create physical inputs, such as buttons and sliders. *DodecaPen* [154] can transfer users' handwriting to the digital environment by tracking ArUco markers attached on a passive stylus. *Cooking with Robots* [133] uses detachable markers to label the real-world environment for human-robot collaboration. *Position-Correcting Tools* [108] scan QR code-like markers to precisely position CNC tools while users cut sheets.

While traditional barcodes and QR codes offer a cost-effective identification solution, such markers are visible to the human eye, which impacts object aesthetics and may reduce the usable area on the object, as depicted in Figure 2-1. Furthermore, practical usage often sees visually unappealing labels removed by users, and visible codes may be tampered with by malicious third parties [94]. Conversely, RFID tags, equipped with unique identifiers, can be attached to physical objects for efficient tracking [129, 62]. While RFID provides nonline-of-sight identification and finds applications in various environments, it has limitations in terms of range and scalability [95]. The cost of RFID tags, coupled with the size of RFID readers, may pose challenges in large-scale deployments and integration with the object's geometry while objects during fabrication [151].


Figure 2-1: An exaggerated portrayal of an urban environment saturated with QR codes, showing the aesthetic and practical challenges of current object tagging methods. Illustration used with permission from Michael Sloan.

2.3 Making Markers Less Obtrusive

Researchers have investigated two primary approaches to make markers less obtrusive: making existing visible markers more *aesthetic* [105, 10, 104], or developing unobtrusive markers that can be part of the objects [89, 80].

To make existing codes more aesthetic, researchers have modified traditional QR codes (*halftoned*) to look more like an aesthetic image (e.g., a photo) while still preserving its detectability [105]. *ReacTIVision* [10] creates fiducial markers that look like amoeba to create an organic look.

Specifically for 3D objects, there are more specialized ways to abstract away the marker component. To achieve this, markers can be embedded *inside* the objects, or integrated unobtrusively onto the *surface* of 3D objects so that users do not perceive them as "markers."

Integrating markers with objects in a seamless and unobtrusive manner can provide meaningful contextualization and allows for sharing of information [36]. In HCI, the general idea has been explored for photographs [138], font characters [155], charts [42], documents [147, 28], and textiles [165]. In the next sections, we review different types of tags for 3D physical objects specifically and categorize the approaches based on where the tag is located on the object, how much data it can store, and how complex the associated fabrication and detection processes are.

2.3.1 Marker Location: Inside, Surface, Structure

Researchers have investigated different locations on objects to embed markers [8]. One way to embed markers is on the inside of objects. For instance, *AirCode* [80], *InfraStructs* [153], and *InfoPrint* [69] embed markers by adding air gaps inside 3D printed objects. Another way is to embed tags on the surface of objects instead. For instance, *Seedmarkers* [44] are visual markers optimized for aesthetics that can be placed on the surface of either lasercut or 3D printed objects. *ObjGen* [92] engraves *Data Matrix* cells on the object to store the vector file it originated from. However, since multiple codes are needed, they typically occupy the whole object surface, resulting in an unnatural look. Tenmoku et al. place small visual components (e.g., T-shaped or triangular) on objects to use them as visually elegant tracking markers for mixed reality, however, these markers do not carry any data [139], *Acoustic barcodes* [53] are physical notches that can be etched on the object surface using a laser cutter and that create unique, identifiable bursts of sound when swiped. *LayerCodes* [89] are barcodes on the surface of 3D models printed from an infrared resin and then detected from smartphone camera images.

2.3.2 Data Complexity: Identifiers, Information

A marker is a label that can be used either to identify items or to store information in the form of data. Kubo et al. [74] distinguish multiple copies printed with different infill structures by measuring their vibration characteristics. However, while such methods can store identifiers, they do not allow users to store information specifically defined by the user, such as custom texts or metadata, in the tag. *AnisoTag* [87] increases the tags' data capacity by combining different print textures.

To store information, *AirCode* [80], *LayerCode* [89], and *InfraStructs* [153] embed barcodes and QR codes in the form of air gaps or lines ("physical bits") within the objects. Since such codes store arrays of characters or digits, they can be used to embed texts or metadata within the object.

2.3.3 Complexity of Tagging Approach: Fabrication, Detection

To embed unobtrusive markers that store information into objects, existing methods require specialized fabrication equipment or additional post-processing steps. For instance, *LayerCodes* [89] require a custom modification to a 3D printer and a special NIR resin. *AirCodes* [80] require that objects are printed in two parts and combined manually after washing away the support material.

Another important consideration is the availability and complexity of the detection equipment. For example, *InfraStructs* [153] employs a large and costly terahertz scanner, which is not readily available to consumers. *AirCodes* [80] use a camera and projector setup that are calibrated to each other, which takes time to set up and image the tag. *Info-Print* [69] uses a thermal camera to capture patterns embedded into objects. *AnisoTag* [87] needs the object to be manually swiped using a collimated laser beam and photoresistors, making it difficult to integrate it with users' existing devices.

To facilitate the implementation of ubiquitous metadata, the markers should ideally be detectable using commodity hardware, capturing the tags must follow a simple workflow, and the detection method needs to work across a variety of different environments.

Chapter 3

SensiCut: Material-Aware Laser Cutting Using Speckle Sensing and Deep Learning

3.1 Introduction

While there have been many support tools for laser cutting that help users with tasks such as automatically packing parts onto sheets [116, 124], systems that support users with the different *material types* available for laser cutting are largely unexplored [8].

For users, working with the various materials available in a workshop comes with several challenges: First, identifying unlabeled sheets from scrap buckets or material stockpiles in a shared workshop is challenging since many materials are visually similar [70]. As a result, users may take the wrong material from the stack and use it with another material's power and speed setting. This can lead to wasted material when the power setting is too low, causing the outline to not be cut through – or worse the material may catch fire when the power is too high leading to safety risks. Further, there are many materials that are not safe to laser cut because they release toxic fumes [117]. These hazardous materials may easily be mistaken for safe materials due to similarity in appearance (e.g., PVC vs. acrylic) [102].

Because of the challenges outlined above, laser cutter users desire smarter machines that can "identify the materials they [are] working with, so that the system could [...] suggest settings based on material" as shown in a recent HCI study by Yildirim et al. [160]. One naive solution for this is to add a camera to laser cutters to automatically identify the sheets. However, a conventional camera can be easily fooled by visually similar materials or materials with printed decorative textures that imitate another material.

To ensure reliable identification, recent laser cutters use sticker tags attached to the sheets (e.g., QR codes on *Glowforge Proofgrade* sheets [66]). As can be seen in Figure 3-1b, these tags can be detected by a camera even when materials look similar or are transparent. However, scanning the tags to detect the material type has its own issues. First, a new tag has to be attached onto each new material sheet. Second, laser cutter users need to be careful to not cut off the tag to ensure that the remaining part of the sheet can later still be identified. These issues exist because using tags for identification is not inherently material-aware as the laser cutter does not measure the physical properties of the material.



Figure 3-1: Existing material identification approaches: (a) Manually selecting from a database (e.g., *ULS* [135]) or (b) scanning QR code stickers on sheets (*Glowforge*). (c) SensiCut uses *speckle sensing* to identify the material based on its surface structure without the need for additional tags.

In this project, we investigate how we can identify laser cutting materials by leveraging one of their inherent properties, i.e., *surface structure*. A material's surface structure is unique even when it is visually similar to another type. To achieve this, we use *speckle sensing*. This imaging technique works by pointing a laser onto the material's surface and imaging the resulting speckle patterns. We built a hardware add-on consisting of a laser pointer and a lensless image sensor, which can be attached to the laser cutter head using a mount. We then use the captured speckle patterns to identify the material type with our trained neural network. Our user interface uses the material type information to support users in different ways, i.e. it automatically sets the power and speed settings for the detected material, it warns the user against hazardous materials, it automatically adjusts the shape of a design based on the kerf for the detected material, and finally, it automatically splits designs when engraving onto multi-material objects. We also discuss how speckle sensing



Figure 3-2: SensiCut augments standard laser cutters with a speckle sensing add-on that can (a) identify materials often found in workshops, including visually similar ones. (b) SensiCut's user interface integrates material identification into the laser cutting workflow and also offers suggestions on how to adjust a design's geometry based on the identified material (e.g., adjusting the size of an earring cut from felt since the kerf for felt is larger than for other materials). (c) Each identified sheet is cut with the correct power and speed settings.

can be used to estimate the thickness of sheets as another material-aware component for future laser cutters.

In summary, by leveraging speckle sensing as an identification technique, we can improve the material awareness of existing laser cutters. Our work enables safer and smarter material usage, addresses common material identification-related challenges users face when laser cutting, and encourages makers to reuse laser-cut scraps to reduce waste [20, 143]. We note that this chapter was originally published at *ACM UIST 2021* [23]. Our contributions are the following:

- An end-to-end laser cutting pipeline that helps users identify materials by sensing the material's surface structure using laser speckles to, e.g., automatically set the corresponding power/speed, warn against hazardous materials, adjust designs based on material-specific kerf, or split designs when engraving onto multi-material objects.
- A compact (114g) and low-cost material sensing add-on for laser cutters that simplifies hardware complexity over prior work by using deep learning.
- A speckle pattern dataset of 30 material types (38,232 images), which we used to train a convolutional neural network for robust laser cutter material classification (98.01% accuracy).
- A technical evaluation showing which visually similar materials speckle sensing can distinguish under various sheet orientation and illumination conditions.

3.2 Motivation

SensiCut addresses an important open challenge in the personal fabrication literature. A recent field study [160] in HCI revealed an unaddressed user need for fabrication tools concerning the "awareness of material types". In particular, users wished that the tools could "identify the materials they were working with [and] suggest settings." The authors conclude that "HCI researchers could advance [these tools] by leveraging new sensing [...] capabilities".

To further understand what specific challenges exist, we surveyed five additional HCI publications [4, 65, 12, 100, 72]. We also conducted formative interviews with six expert users that we recruited by reaching out to makerspaces. Each expert user had several years of laser cutting experience working with different material types. During the 1-hour semi-structured interviews, we interviewed them about their experiences using different material types, difficulties they had identifying materials, and how different material types affected their designs for laser cutting. Additionally, we performed a study in which we gave 13 novice users, who had used laser cutters at least once but no more than four times, a list of 30 materials commonly found in workshops (list of materials in Section 3.5.1), and asked them to match them to 30 unlabeled sheets. For the interview responses, we took a bottom-up approach in our thematic analysis to identify four main challenges, which we report below.

Characterizing unlabeled sheets: We found that users have a hard time identifying materials. In our study, novices were able to label on average only 29.23% (SD=6.41) of the sheets correctly. The ones that were correctly identified by most users were cardboard and cork. The top 10 mislabeled sheets were all different types of either plastic or wood. However, this is not only an issue for novices, but also for experts. One senior maker we interviewed reported that certain materials are too similar to distinguish by only looking and touching. He added that he checks if a sheet is acrylic or Delrin by "breaking the sheet and seeing how brittle it is." Identifying materials by their surface structure eliminates these issues since even similar types of plastic have different surfaces structures.

Democratizing material knowledge: One way to help novices identify materials is to ensure sheets are labeled at all times. However, in practice, this is infeasible to do for all sheets. One expert we interviewed, a manager of a large workshop, said that "there is no way to keep track of all the sheets [as] so many people contribute to the scrap piles." Another option if sheets are unlabeled is that novice makers ask an experienced maker which type of material it is. However, Annett et al. [4] report that makers with "knowledge [of] material [were] often difficult to access" and that users need "intelligent sensing [of] materials." Hudson et al. [65] show that "early in the casual makers' learning process motivation appeared to be very fragile" and "early failures [can] result in them completely giving up." A smart system that provides access to reliable material identification would eliminate this issue, thereby lowering the entry barrier to laser cutting and democratizing its use.

Automating mundane work: Laser cutting requires several steps that are mundane and would benefit from being automated. For instance, in today's workflow, users have to identify the sheet, select the correct material type from the material database, and then verify the power/speed settings. Yildirim et al. [160] found that professional users want "automated [fabrication tools] that could pick up menial work, [e.g.] registering materials." They "find it frustrating when they have to monitor an autonomous [tool]." A material-aware sensing platform can remove the tedious overhead and allow users to focus on the essential work.

Enhancing safety of all users: Laser cutting poses both safety and health hazards [58, 85]. In our interviews, all experts reported that they experienced multiple fires in the laser cutter at their workspaces. One of them said that "all of the places [he has] worked at had a fire" and that it is a "huge safety risk." Concerning health, one of our interviewees, a class instructor, said someone almost cut a hazardous material that includes chlorine, which would release toxic fumes and corrode the machine. In addition, not adhering to the rules would have "revoked all class participants' access to the workshop." For safety-critical tasks, HCI researchers have looked into designing interfaces where the role of users is "mediated by computer technology" [12, 100]. For fabrication tools specifically, Knibbe et al. [72] found the "implementation [of] safety alerts could provide significant benefits within group makerspaces." A smart sensing platform can provide such safety alerts and prevent human error by determining if hazardous materials are used or when users accidentally select wrong laser settings, which can cause a fire.



Figure 3-3: Speckle sensing. (a) Laser rays reflect off the material surface and arrive at the image sensor. Phase differences between the rays result in mutual interference and thus dark or bright pixels in the captured image. (b) Different materials viewed by a regular camera, a scanning electron microscope, and our speckle sensing imaging setup. (c) Our speckle sensing add-on consists of a laser pointer, lensless image sensor, microprocessor, and battery.

3.3 Speckle Sensing Hardware Add-On for Laser Cutters

In this section, we first discuss the working principle behind laser speckle imaging. We will then show how we built a sensing add-on that can be mounted onto existing laser cutters and highlight the technical contributions of our add-on over prior work.

3.3.1 Speckle Sensing Working Principle

Figure 3-3a illustrates how laser speckle sensing works. It uses a coherent light source, i.e., a laser, to create the speckles and an image sensor for capturing them. To create the speckle pattern, the laser light reflects off the material surface, resulting in a reflectance pattern (speckle) of bright and dark spots that looks different depending on the material's surface structure. This occurs because the tiny features of the material surface lead to small deviations in the optical path of the reflected laser beam. To show this, we provide additional electron microscope images of different materials in Figure 3-3b. Although the materials look visually similar to the human eye, the electron microscope images clearly show different surface structures, resulting in different speckle images that can be used for material identification.

3.3.2 Hardware Add-On

To integrate speckle sensing into an existing laser cutter, we consider (1) which light source and (2) image sensor to use, as well as (3) how to mount all required components on the platform. We provide additional specifications for each component in the appendix.

Laser Pointer: Our initial idea was to utilize the laser pointer present in our laser cutter (model: Universal Laser Systems (ULS) PLS6.150D), which conventionally serves as a guide to align the material sheet. However, we found that laser pointers need to be sufficiently powerful to create speckles detectable by the image sensor. For this reason, green laser pointers work best given equal power since most commercial cameras have a Bayer mask with twice as many green elements as red or blue. Unfortunately, our laser cutter has a red laser pointer with a power of <1 mW, which according to our experiments was not sufficient to create detectable speckle patterns. We therefore decided to use an additional green laser pointer (515nm, <5mW). In the future, this additional laser pointers may not be necessary if manufacturers increase the power of their existing laser pointers.

Image Sensor: Our goal was to choose a sensing setup that is compact, i.e., uses as few components as possible, yet provides sufficiently high resolution to detect the speckles. When surveying the related work, we found that existing setups consist of multiple sensors and/or LEDs [52, 119]. Each component in these setups helps acquire a unique datapoint related to high-level statistics, such as the average brightness or overall spectral reflectivity, which are then input into a classifier as 1D data. We found that we can reduce the hardware complexity over prior work to only a single image sensor if feed the raw image, in which the 2D spatial data correlates with the materials' surface structure, directly into a convolutional deep neural network (see Section 3.5.3). Although the 2D image input requires additional time to compute the prediction result compared to 1D data, it does cause not a disruption to the laser cutting workflow (0.21s on a 2GHz Intel Core i5 processor).

For the image sensor, we chose an 8MP module (model: Raspberry Pi [99]. As explained previously, this image sensor, like most commercial ones, has a higher sensitivity to the green region of the spectrum [128], which is beneficial for capturing speckle images created by our green laser pointer. We placed the laser pointer and image sensor as close as possible so that the speckles' intensity caused by the laser illumination is high enough when captured by the image sensor. Before mounting the image sensor, we removed the lens of the camera module using a lens focus adjustment tool. We did this because the laser pointer only illuminates a tiny area on the material sheet (i.e., size of the laser spot). When imaging the sheet with the off-the-shelf camera module that has the lens attached, the speckle is present in only a small portion of the entire image because the lens directs not just the laser light, but all the available light rays in the scene onto the image sensor. This gives us less speckle data to work with. When removing the lens from the camera module, however, it is mainly just the reflected laser light that hits the sensor, causing the speckle pattern to appear across the entire image (last column in Figure 3-3b). Thus, the camera module with no lens utilizes all the pixels of the bare image sensor and can capture a higher-resolution pattern.

Microprocessor and Battery: Since commercial laser cutters are closed source, we had to add a small and lightweight microprocessor and an external battery pack to allow our add-on to capture images. Since the microprocessor has limited computational capacity, we send the captured images wirelessly to a computer for further processing. To make speckle sensing available in future laser cutters, manufacturers do not need to add these components since laser cutters already include processing hardware and a power supply.

Mounting on Laser Cutter: To make our hardware add-on compact and easy to use, we designed and 3D printed the lightweight mechanical housing (60g) shown in Figure 3-3c. The housing snaps onto the laser cutter's head and can be mounted with a small rod. Attaching the sensing hardware to the laser head allows us to avoid additional calibration since because of the mount, the add-on is always located at a fixed offset from the laser. All together, the add-on weighs 114g.

In summary, our speckle-based hardware add-on consists of a laser pointer, a lensless image sensor, a microprocessor, and a battery pack. However, to integrate speckle sensing into future laser cutters, manufacturers only need to add the lensless image sensor – all other components (power and computing infrastructure, laser pointer) already exist in laser cutters.

3.4 User Interface and Applications

In this section, we describe our custom user interface (UI) that integrates laser speckle sensing into the laser cutting pipeline. In particular, we show how it helps users identify the material of a single sheet or multiple sheets at once, and supports users with cutting or engraving multi-material objects. Additionally, SensiCut can offer safety warnings, provide extra information on materials, and help with kerf-related geometry adjustments. We also describe how we use the interface and SensiCut's material sensing capabilities for different applications.

Similar to the traditional laser cutting pipeline, users first start by loading their design (i.e., an SVG file) into the SensiCut UI, which subsequently shows it on the canvas (Figure 3-4a). Next, users place the material sheet they intend to use inside the laser cutter.



Figure 3-4: SensiCut UI. (a) The *Pinpoint* tool allows users to identify the material at a desired location on the cutting bed. (b) The user enters the thickness value corresponding to the detected sheet and starts cutting.

3.4.1 Identifying Single Material Sheets

To identify a single material sheet, users point SensiCut's laser pointer to a desired location on the sheet as shown in Figure 3-4a. They can do this by first choosing the *Pinpoint* tool (arrow 1) and clicking the point on the canvas that corresponds to the physical location in the laser cutter (arrow 2). SensiCut then moves the laser over this location to capture the speckle pattern and classify the material. The resulting material name is then shown to the user (arrow 3).

After the user clicks *Continue*, the shapes in the canvas are color-coded to reflect the material type (e.g., *red* corresponds to *Cast Acrylic*). The user then enters the material thickness in the text field next to the classification result (Figure 3-4b). Once ready for laser

cutting, they can hit the *Start* button and SensiCut automatically retrieves the appropriate laser power, speed, and pulse per inch (PPI) settings from the material settings database.

Using the identified material type, SensiCut can further support users via different functionalities:

Toxic and Flammable Material Warnings: As mentioned in the introduction, there are many materials that should not be laser cut because they are toxic, flammable, and/or harmful to the machine. Based on the identified material type, SensiCut displays a warning whenever the user requests to cut a material that is hazardous and should not be used in the laser cutter.

Showing Material-Relevant Information: Even though some materials appear similar, they may exhibit different characteristics, which novice users may not be aware of. To address this, SensiCut displays additional information on each detected material to inform users about general characteristics of the material, ideal uses with sample pictures, and handling/care instructions. We referred to the laser cutting service *Ponoko* [67] to retrieve this information. Workshop managers can edit and extend this information depending on the workshop type and its users (architecture vs. engineering).

Kerf Adjustments: Design files can have details that are too intricate for certain material types, especially when the sheets are thin. Cutting these fine geometries can fuse details together because of *kerf*. The kerf, i.e., the amount of the material removed due to the laser, depends on the type of the material [112, 114]. When details are affected by kerf, SensiCut shows a warning to the user and then offers three options to address it: SensiCut can either slightly enlarge the design based on the material type, smooth out too intricate details, or ask the user to adjust the file manually in the drawing editor (e.g., *Adobe Illustrator*).

Application: Fabricating a Face Shield From Different Unlabeled Scraps: In this application example, we would like to fabricate a face shield and use transparent plastic materials to ensure clear sight while wearing it. We start by surveying different designs online and after deciding on one [35], we download the parts, which consist of a visor and a shield. The design instructions highlight the importance of using the correct material for each part. In particular, it is recommended to use a transparent *rigid* material for the visor (e.g., acrylic) and a transparent *flexible* material for the face shield (e.g., acetate or PETG).

We start by browsing through the leftover scrap materials from our workshop. However,



Figure 3-5: Making a face shield. (a) Find flexible sheets from the stockpiles and (b) place in the cutter. (c) Upon identification, the UI labels all 3 materials and gives relevant information on, e.g., their handling and safety. (d) After the cut parts are assembled, the shield can be safely sanitized with alcohol.

while going through the transparent scrap materials, we notice that almost all of them are unlabeled. To make the visor, we take the first rigid transparent material we find in the pile that has a sufficient size and place it inside the laser cutter. We then open SensiCut's UI (Figure 3-4a) and select *Pinpoint* to identify the material at a desired location. The right-hand bar shows the material has been detected as *cast acrylic*, which is a suitable rigid material for the visor. Once we confirm, SensiCut automatically retrieves the appropriate power/speed settings for this job and the laser cutter starts cutting the acrylic.

We repeat the procedure for the shield, which needs to be made from a flexible transparent material. We go back to the scrap materials and find three different flexible sheets (Figure 3-5a). We read online that acetate and PETG may be more suitable than other plastics, but are not sure which one is which. We take all three and place them in the laser cutter. In the UI, we then choose *Identify sheets* and set the number of sheets to *3*. Next, we click on one point on each sheet to instruct SensiCut to identify the material there. Once the results are displayed, we realize that one of them is a *polycarbonate (Lexan)*, which SensiCut labels with a "hazardous" warning (Figure 3-5c). The other two sheets are identified as acetate and (thin) cast acrylic.

To learn more about the difference between the two materials, SensiCut shows information from its knowledge database and displays it on the corresponding material. For example, it shows that acetate has high impact strength and is reasonably flexible, and that, in contrast to acrylic, it can be wiped down with alcohol, which is important to disinfect the shield. We remove the Lexan and acrylic sheets from the laser cutter, choose acetate in the UI, and start cutting. Now that all parts are cut, we can assemble the final



Figure 3-6: Rapid material testing for product design. (a) Choosing multiple samples from a material swatch and (b) inserting in the laser cutter. (c) After sensing, the UI matches each shape with the corresponding material. It also warns that the kerf for felt will compromise the design.

face shield (Figure 3-5d).

3.4.2 Identifying Multiple Sheets of Different Materials at Once

SensiCut also allows users to cut multiple sheets of different material types in rapid succession. The user first loads the design files that contain the shapes they want to cut from the different sheets. Next, they place the corresponding material sheets inside the laser cutter and initiate the *Scan multiple shapes* mode. This causes SensiCut to go to the location of each shape and capture an image there for material identification. The resulting material names are then displayed in the *Material Detection* sidebar and the shapes are similarly color-coded based on the material types.

Application: Rapid Testing of Multiple Material Types for Product Design: In our second example, we want to rapidly prototype a new earring design in a white color. We want to fabricate the earrings to test the look and feel of different materials to determine which one looks best when worn. To evaluate different material types, we pick a handful of white samples from a material swatch (Figure 3-6a).

To speed up our prototyping process, we want to cut all the material samples at once. To do this, we place all our selected material samples on the laser cutter bed as shown in Figure 3-6b. We then load the earring design. Next, we position a copy of the earring design in the UI in the location where each material sample is placed. Next, we choose the *Scan multiple shapes* option. After the scan, each earring's shape is color-coded to reflect the detected material type: felt, foam board, cast acrylic, and leather (Figure 3-6c).

Next, we enter the thickness for each material sheet: 1mm for felt and leather, and 3mm for the others. For felt, SensiCut shows a notification that our design has details that are too



Figure 3-7: Adjusting the design for kerf. (a) The user can enlarge the shape to compensate for the thicker kerf for felt. (b) Without the adjustment, details like the hole and fine blades of the leaf disappear in the cut felt. (c) The fabricated prototypes.

intricate for a thickness of 1mm and may thus fuse together because of kerf (Figure 3-7b). We choose the *Make shape bigger* option and enlarge the felt earring so that the minimum feature size no longer goes below the kerf limit (Figure 3-7a). Once adjusted, we cut and engrave all sheets in a single job. The finished earring prototypes are shown in Figure 3-7c.

3.4.3 Engraving onto Multi-Material Objects

Compared to individual material sheets, cutting or engraving designs onto multi-material objects (e.g., the smartphone case in Figure 3-8a) is a particularly challenging task. It requires a cumbersome workflow where users first have to split the design into multiple files, one for each material. More specifically, proper alignment of the shapes in the digital design with the different parts of the physical object is challenging without knowing where the material borders are located.

SensiCut facilitates cutting and engraving on multi-material objects by automatically splitting the design precisely along the border of different materials by sensing the material type at each point in the design. For this, users start by loading a single file containing the entire design, insert the multi-material object into the laser cutter, position the design onto the multi-material object, and select the *Scan multi-material objects* mode. SensiCut then samples points along the laser-cut path to identify the material at each point. The scanning progress is shown in the SensiCut UI by highlighting the scanned trajectory. After scanning is completed, SensiCut splits the design according to the detected material type at each point to ensure the correct laser settings will be used.

Application: Personalizing Existing Multi-Material Products: In this example, we want to engrave a custom design at the center of a smartphone case that consists of two different



Figure 3-8: Engraving a multi-material phone case, which consists of (a) wood-like rubber and leather. SensiCut scans (b) the input design's outline and (c) splits it into two parts based on the material type detection. (d) Engraved design.

materials across its surface, i.e., leather and wooden parts (Figure 3-8a).

First, we load the design file, position it on top of the phone case, and select *Scan multimaterial objects*, which then moves the laser head along the design's engraving path to detect the material at each point (Figure 3-8b). Once the scan is complete, SensiCut splits the design into two parts, one for each of the two materials (Figure 3-8c).

Once SensiCut identified the materials, we realize that the part we had thought was wood is actually made of silicone rubber with a decorative wood pattern. SensiCut is not deceived by the disguise pattern because it measures surface structure and sets the correct laser engraving settings. Once we confirm, our design is engraved onto our multi-material phone case (Figure 3-8c).

Application: Customizing Multi-Material Garments: Figure 3-9a shows another multimaterial item, i.e. a T-shirt, that we want to engrave with a custom seagull design. The T-shirt has a plastic iron-on material applied on it. To engrave our design, SensiCut detects which parts are made of textile and which are made of plastic. It then splits the seagull design into multiple paths accordingly and assigns the correct laser power/speed settings for each one (Figure 3-9b). If we had instead used only one set of laser power/speed settings for the entire seagull design, i.e., the settings for either textile or plastic, the lines would either not be visible on the yellow plastic or the textile would have been burned. Further, it would be particularly difficult to achieve this without SensiCut: One would have to remove the iron-on plastic from the fabric itself, engrave the plastic and fabric separately, and put them back together precisely. This shows how SensiCut could help users further customize garments that have non-textile parts (e.g., [40]) quickly and on demand.



Figure 3-9: Engraving a pattern on a T-shirt that has (a) plastic details on it. (b) SensiCut uses the right combination of laser settings after partitioning the design (middle). Top/bottom shows the outcome for singular settings.

3.5 Classification of Materials

SensiCut can differentiate between 30 different materials relevant to the challenges laser cutter users face. In the next section, we discuss how we built a dataset of speckle patterns of these materials using an automated script, and how we trained a convolutional neural network (CNN) to be able to distinguish between them.

3.5.1 Choosing Material Samples

For our dataset, our goal was to choose materials that are most representative of the materials commonly found in makerspaces and workshops, with a particular focus on the ones that cause confusion because of their appearances. Figure 3-10a summarizes the list of materials we compiled by surveying a range of online communities (e.g., *Thingiverse* [90], *Instructables* [6]), educational materials on laser cutting [7], supply vendors [67, 77], as well as the laser cutter material databases that come with the default laser cutter control software (e.g., ULS Universal Control Panel [135]).

The resulting material list includes 30 different materials ranging from different types of paper, plastic, wood, fabric to (engraved) metal. In the next section, we discuss how these selected materials are representative of the challenges that laser cutter users face.

Different Laser Cutting Materials with Similar Appearance: As our formative material labeling study showed, plastics are particularly challenging to distinguish for users due to their visual similarity (Figure 3-10b). To represent such cases, we purchased samples of cast acrylic, extruded acrylic, and Delrin (also known as *acetal* or POM) of the same color, which require different settings to properly cut/engrave a design [7]. We also included samples of different transparent sheets, i.e., acrylic, PETG, and acetate. In addition, we included other materials that have slightly varying appearances, but still are difficult to distinguish for non-expert users who are not familiar with the specific nuances, such as different types of wood (e.g., maple, oak, bamboo, or birch) [152].

Hazardous Materials that Look Similar to Safe Ones: To represent cases where some of the commonly found materials in workshops are hazardous (flammable, toxic, or harmful to the machine) and cannot be safely laser cut [7, 73], we included polyvinyl chloride (PVC), Lexan (polycarbonate), acrylonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS), and carbon fiber sheets. PVC is often mistaken for the common laser-cut material acrylic. However, it is highly toxic as it releases hydrochloric acid fumes when heated, which also rapidly corrode the laser system [58]. Lexan and ABS are also hazardous and easily flammable¹ but look similar to safe plastics. However, whether a material is considered safe for laser cutting or not depends on the specific hardware setup (air filter type and volume, power of laser) as well as local regulations [49]. For our setup, materials in the ULS material database that comes with our laser cutter and its UAC 2000 filter (MERV 14, HEPA, 2 Carbon filters) are marked as safe. For instance, polystyrene is listed as safe for our setup but may not be safe for others. Thus, we recommend that when deployed in a new workshop, SensiCut's database be updated by the workshop manager locally after checking material safety data sheets (MSDS) for potential laser generated air contaminants (LGAC). Workshop managers should also talk to their local occupational health institution (e.g., $NIOSH^2$ in the US).

To make the material composition of our dataset representative of a real-world workshop, where certain materials like acrylic and cardboard are much more available in terms of quantity/color options, we included more than 1 sheet for these as seen in Figure 3-10a. This also allows us to evaluate our system for different colors and transparencies. In total, we used 59 material samples, the majority of which were purchased from *Ponoko* [67], except for the 5 hazardous material sheets (PVC, Lexan, etc.), which we purchased from other suppliers on *Amazon.com*. A list of these material samples and the associated vendors can be found in the appendix.

¹https://wiki.aalto.fi/display/AF/Laser+Cutter+Materials

²https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/

3.5.2 Data Capture and Material Speckle Dataset

After purchasing the different materials, we captured images of each sample to build a dataset for training our convolutional neural network.

Preliminary Experiment: Before capturing data for all materials, we ran a preliminary experiment to determine two values: (1) the distance between the image sensor and the material surface at which the speckle pattern is most visible, and (2) the number of images necessary for training the classifier with high accuracy. For the distance, we empirically found that 11cm between our image sensor and the material surface led to the best results. For the number of images, we placed material samples below the image sensor at the recommended distance and took images, moving the sample in the xy plane manually to simulate how the laser cutter would take images at various points of the sheet. We found empirically that around 80-100 images are sufficient for each material to train a CNN for classification.

Data Collection: After this manual exploration, we started the data collection of all materials. For this, we wrote a script to automate the laser cutter's movement and image capture. For our material samples (6.3cm x 6.3cm), we chose to capture a 9x9 grid of points leading to 81 images, which satisfies our criteria from the preliminary experiment. For consistency, we kept the image sensor settings, i.e., exposure time, digital/analog gains, and white balance constant.

Additionally, we captured images at different heights (z-locations) to ensure that the network can classify materials of different thicknesses. This is necessary since the speckle pattern changes with the distance between the material surface and the image sensor. We chose 8 different heights ranging from 0mm (to support paper) to 7mm (thickest material sheet we were able to buy) spaced at 1mm increments. However, not every sheet has a thickness of a multiple of 1mm (e.g., some sheets are 2.5mm). We can generate this additional data using data augmentation methods as explained in Section 3.5.3. Since our model was trained for materials with a thickness of 0-7mm and the material surface was 11cm away from the image sensor, this leads to an effective detection range of 110-117mm. To integrate material identification into other cutting-based methods like *LaserOrigami* [96] or *FoldTronics* [158], the model can be trained for larger distances in the future.

Dataset: Our final data set contains 38,232 images from 59 material samples of 30 unique materials (14.93 GB, 800x800 pixels each). Each material sample includes 648 images (81

images/height x 8 heights), which took about 40 minutes to capture with our automated setup. The majority of this time is spent waiting for the laser head to stabilize after moving to a new location to ensure that the captured image is not blurry. The dataset is used for training the CNN and does not need to be stored on the user's computer. The trained CNN model that is used at detection time is 120MB. The dataset is publicly available³.

3.5.3 Training the Neural Network

To train the CNN and build a detection model using the captured images, we used transfer learning with a ResNet-50 model [55] that was pre-trained on the *ImageNet* dataset [115]. We used the Adam optimizer with a learning rate of 0.003 and a batch size of 64. We used 80% of images for the training set and reserved 20% for the validation set.

Image Size Used for Training: For the input image size, we chose 256x256 pixels. Although we captured the images in 800x800 pixels, we found that the higher resolution caused lower accuracy as the model overfit to irrelevant details in the image. The lower resolution input also saves training time because the model has fewer nodes to compute. Moreover, it speeds up the detection during use (i.e., average prediction time: 0.21s for 256x256px vs. 0.51s for 400x400px on a 2GHz Intel Core i5). We still keep the full-size images in our dataset to enable future research.

Data Augmentation: To make the model robust to different lighting conditions and intermediate sheet thicknesses (e.g., 2.5mm), we generated additional images during training using data augmentation. Every time the network starts training on a new batch of images, a portion of the images is transformed by changing the brightness and the contrast of all pixels (by up to $\pm 30\%$), as well as zooming into the image to enlarge the speckles as would be the case when the thickness of the sheet decreases (by up to $\pm 20\%$). This allows our model to generalize better and also saves time by avoiding the capture of more images with the physical setup.

In the future, new materials can be added to SensiCut by capturing more speckle images and adding them to the dataset. For this, the neural network needs to be retrained but the weights from this previous training can be used (transfer learning), which significantly speeds up the process, i.e., takes only 10-12 minutes vs. 6 hours training from scratch.

³https://hcie.csail.mit.edu/research/sensicut/sensicut.html



Figure 3-10: Material considerations and evaluation. (a) Most common material types for laser cutting. (b) Visually similar materials. (c) Confusion matrix from our trained classifier for 30 material subtypes.

3.6 Evaluation of Material Classification

We conducted a technical evaluation to determine our trained classifier's accuracy. We also carried out additional tests to understand how the model generalizes to different physical conditions (rotation of sheets, illumination variations) and material sheets purchased from different vendors.

3.6.1 Detection Accuracy Results

The results of the classification accuracy for the 30 different materials in our dataset are shown as a confusion matrix in Figure 3-10c. Our average identification accuracy is 98.01% (SD=0.20) across the different materials. This is based on a 5-fold cross-validation, which we ran to ensure consistency of the classification accuracy across different training and validation splits. The small standard deviation shows that training our model leads to similar results independent of how the dataset is split. For this reason and the fact that cross-validation is a time-consuming procedure (30 hours for 5-fold), the remainder of the technical evaluation is based on a single run.

We further analyzed the results to understand which of the materials outlined in Section 3.5.1 are confused for each other most. For instance, given a specific color (either white, black, or red), we evaluated the identification accuracy across cast acrylic, felt, paper, and laminated MDF. The accuracy was 100% for white and red, and 92% (SD=12.72) for black, on average. The latter is likely due to the fact that black reflects less light. Since the image sensor's exposure is the same for all photos, this causes the reduced accuracy for black materials. Enabling adaptive exposure when capturing images could eliminate this difference in the future [159].

Figure 3-10c also shows materials that were mistaken for each other. For instance, leather and silicone were confused with each other at a relatively high rate compared to other pairs. We believe this is because our full-grain leather piece is *hot stuffed*, i.e., conditioned with unrefined oils and greases, which likely makes its surface structure closer to that of silicone. One can also observe some confusion between walnut and paper-based materials, such as cardstock. Thesimilarity in their surfaces may be due to the fact that paper is produced using cellulose fibres derived from wood.

We also evaluated the accuracy of materials within the same material groups. We got a mean accuracy of 98.92% across woods (SD=1.66), 98.84% across plastics (SD=2.36), 97.25% across textiles (SD=2.50), 95.90% (SD=2.94) across paper-based materials, and 97.00% (SD=2.16) across metals. The fact that paper-based sheets had the lowest rate is expected as they share the most similarities in their surface structures among different subtypes (e.g., cardstock vs. cardboard have a similar surface texture).

3.6.2 Effect of Illumination and Sheet Orientation on Detection

To understand how detection accuracy is affected under different illumination (ambient light) conditions and sheet orientations, we ran additional tests.



Figure 3-11: Effect of (a) varying illumination and (b) sheet orientation on detection.

Ambient Light: When we captured the images for our main dataset, we kept illumination in the workshop low (i.e., all lights turned off). To evaluate if the trained model can distinguish between materials even when the ambient light varies, we created an additional test set of images under different lighting conditions. For this, we used two lamps, one on the left and one on the right corner of the room, resulting in three conditions (light1 on, light2 on, both lights on) that cover an illumination range of up to 80 lux, in addition to the initial data with all lights off. We tested this on different black and white sheets, representing the two ends of the light reflectance spectrum, as well as clear (transparent) sheets. We compare the accuracy in the following three scenarios: 8 white and 8 black sheets (for each color 2 sheets per type: plastic, paper, textile, wood), and 6 transparent sheets (all plastic).

The results are shown in Figure 3-11a. We found that the increased brightness did not have a major impact on the detection of white and black sheets. For clear sheets, however, the mean accuracy was lower (66.67%). The reason for this is that while opaque sheets benefit from data augmentation, this is not the case for clear sheets. We found that the illumination increase in the room was not realistically simulated in the digitally generated images of clear sheets because such materials allow light to pass through in all directions. This can be overcome by capturing additional images of clear materials under the varying light conditions and then retraining the model. Indeed, such retraining resulted in an increased accuracy of 88.10% (shown in the last bar). We also found that retraining the model on this augmented dataset did not have a major impact on other materials' detection (only by 0.41% on average).

Orientation of the Sheets: The images we captured for our main dataset were all taken in a specific sheet orientation. We thus evaluated if the classifier is still accurate when the sheets are arbitrarily rotated for materials with uniform (e.g., acrylic) or non-uniform/irregular surface structure (e.g., wood). For this, we created an additional test set by capturing speckle images while rotating the material sheets at 45° increments. For materials with uniform surface (plastic, textile, paper, metal), we picked two subtypes each (cast acrylic, Delrin, cardboard, matboard, felt, leather, aluminium, carbon steel). For materials with non-uniform surface, we tested eight subtypes of wood (oak, maple, walnut, birch, MDF, veneer, bamboo, laminated).

The results are shown in Figure 3-11b. The lowest average detection accuracy was for wood sheets (70.31%), which also had a high standard deviation among the wood subtypes (24.94%). This is due to the fact that wood sheets included both artificial ones with regular surface structure (e.g., MDF), which resulted in 100% detection accuracy, and natural woods with irregular surface structure (e.g., oak), which resulted in lower accuracies. The

misidentified images for those materials were all captured at the odd degrees (45° , 135° , etc.). We believe this is due to the cellular 3D microstructure of natural wood that has a 90° rotational symmetry at the microscopic level [5]. We can increase detection accuracy for natural woods by augmenting the training dataset with more pictures taken at different angles, at the expense of longer capture time.

3.6.3 Generalization to Different Material Batches and Manufacturers

In our main dataset, each set of samples came from one manufacturer. To ensure that our trained model can work robustly for sheets from different batches of the same manufacturer or different manufacturers, we conducted the following two tests.

New sheets from the same manufacturer: Two months after we purchased our samples, we ordered a second batch of sheets from *Ponoko* (two subtypes per material: oak, maple, cast acrylic, Delrin, felt, leather, cardboard, cardstock) and placed them inside the laser cutter to test if our trained model can still identify them. We found that only the maple sheet was incorrectly classified. As explained in Section 3.6.2, this is likely due to unique microstructural orientation of natural wooden sheets.

New sheets from different manufacturers: To test if sheets from different manufacturers can be reliably identified, we ordered 8 different sheets from various vendors on Amazon.com (two subtypes per material: birch, cork, cast acrylic, Lexan, leather, felt, cardboard, matboard). Only one of them, leather, was incorrectly classified. We later found out that the new sample was synthetic leather, whereas the classifier was trained on natural leather.

While the above evaluation demonstrated that our classification model can detect material types across various conditions, more longitudinal tests are needed to further verify its applicability across various workshop settings.

3.7 Software Implementation

Our user interface is Web-based and implemented using JavaScript and the *Paper.js* library. When users request a material identification, our system automatically moves the laser cutter head to the corresponding xy-coordinates on the physical cutting bed. These coordinates are offset by the distance between SensiCut's laser pointer and the cutting laser. For the z-value,



Figure 3-12: Our detection pipeline takes the user's drawing as input and turns it into target points to capture speckle patterns. The captured images at those points are passed to the CNN to retrieve the material label.

a fixed distance to the sheet is used for capturing the speckles (Section 3.5.2). To input the coordinates and initiate the movement, our system uses the PyAutoGUI library to interface with the ULS Universal Control Panel (UCP). It then detects if the laser head stopped moving, i.e., is stable enough to take a picture, by checking if the laser is in *idle* mode. This is indicated via a color change in UCP, which our system can detect via PyAutoGUI's *screenshot()* and *getcolors()* functions.

Next, the captured image is wirelessly sent from the hardware add-on's Raspberry Pi board to the main server, which runs on an external computer. This Python server uses the image as input to the trained CNN model, which was implemented using *PyTorch* and *fast.ai* [61]. The CNN returns the classification results, which are then displayed in the UI. The communication between the JavaScript front-end and the Python back-end is handled by the *Socket.IO* framework. The complete pipeline is shown in Figure 3-12.

After the user confirms the results, the laser power, speed, and PPI (pulses per inch) settings are retrieved from the ULS database based on the detected material. Because the UCP interface does not have an API, we extracted these values from the its back-end using a *Firebird* server and *Database Workbench 5 Pro* to create an interim datasheet from which we can look up values as needed.

To detect kerf-related issues, we first dilate the drawing with a kernel of the size of the material-specific kerf. We check if two curves overlap or if the dilation results in extra blobs, i.e., the cut may lead to an undesired shape. The materials' kerf values are based on the "Minimum feature size" values listed on Ponoko.

For the multi-material object mode, our system samples points uniformly along the cutting path and processes the captured images according to the pipeline described previously. Our system then assigns the respective identified material to each part of the users' drawings.

3.8 Discussion

In the next section, we discuss insights gained from our work, acknowledge the limitations of our approach, and propose future research.

Avoiding Dust on the Sensor: In conventional cameras, lenses help prevent dust particles from landing on the sensor. Although we use a lensless image sensor to capture the speckle patterns, over the course of our research we did not observe the lack of the lens to interfere with classification results. We hypothesize that this is the case because (1) the sensor is facing down, which prevents dust particles from reaching the surface of the sensor due to gravity, and (2) the ventilation in the laser cutter bed sucks away particles from the image sensor.

Confidence Scores for Misidentified and/or Unknown Materials: The neural network's final layer outputs a vector for the confidence score of each material type. If multiple types have similar scores, the material is either misclassified or not included in the original training dataset. As part of our future work, we will extend the user interface to show bars to visualize the confidence scores and inform the user to act with caution when confidence scores of multiple materials are similar. Additionally, a confidence threshold for when a material is safely classified could be set by the workshop manager for all users of the workshop.

Effect of Scratches on Sheets: Scratches on sheets are often local, i.e., they occur when a sheet's sharp corner abrades a spot on another sheet's surface. We picked 2 cast acrylic, 2 birch, 2 cardboard sheets with the most scratches from the material pile in our workshop and captured speckle patterns at 30 uniformly distributed points across the surface of each material sample. We found that the majority of points were correctly classified, i.e. 90% for acrylic, 91.7% for birch, 86.7% for cardboard. In future work, to make material detection robust to local scratches, SensiCut could take more than one image and cross-check the classification result at the expense of longer detection times.

Materials with Protective Cover: Some material sheets come with a protective plastic/paper cover to avoid scratches during transportation and some users may prefer to leave it on during laser cutting. Since SensiCut needs access to the material's surface, users can peel a small section from the corner and use our interface's *Pinpoint* function to detect the material type from that corner.

Estimating the Sheet Thickness from Speckles: As the distance between the image sensor and the material surface increases, the speckles appear larger in the image [127]. If the pictures are taken at a fixed height (i.e., a fixed distance of the laser head to the cutting bed), then the surface of thicker sheets is closer to the laser head, which results in smaller speckles, while thinner sheets are further away from the laser head, resulting in larger speckles. We tested if this can be used to detect the sheet thickness by using the same dataset and CNN structure as the material type classifier (ResNet). However, as this is a regression problem, we used mean squared error instead of cross-entropy as our loss function. An initial test across 14 material sheets gave us a mean error of 0.55mm (SD=0.68mm). For the ULS laser lens we have, the depth of focus (i.e., tolerance to deviations from the laser's focus) is 2.54 mm, which is larger than this detection rate. Thus, for future versions of SensiCut, we can also include thickness detection.

Labeling Workflows: While some users may prefer to keep material sheets unlabelled and launch SensiCut every time they use the laser cutter, SensiCut can also support hybrid workflows, such as printing a sticker tag after identifying a sheet, which can then subsequently be attached to the material sheet. Similarly, the software interface could remind users to label the material sheet with a pen after use as a courtesy to the next maker.

Material Identification for Other Fabrication Tools: For future work, we plan to explore how SensiCut's material identification method can be used for other personal fabrication machines as well. For example, in 3D printing, some manufacturers, such as *Ultimaker*, add NFC chips into filament spools to allow the chip reader integrated in the 3D printer to automatically detect them. However, not all spools come with such chips. To address this issue, we plan to investigate how speckle sensing can be integrated into filament feeder systems to detect the filament type when a new spool is loaded onto the 3D printer.

3.9 Conclusion

In this chapter, we presented SensiCut, a material sensing platform that helps laser cutter users to identify visually similar materials commonly found in workshops. We demonstrated how this can be achieved with speckle sensing by adding a compact and low-cost hardware add-on to existing laser cutters. We showed how the material type detection can be used to create a user interface that can warn users of hazardous materials, show material-relevant information, and suggest kerf adjustments. Our applications demonstrated how SensiCut can help users identify unlabeled sheets, test various materials at once, and engrave onto multi-material objects. We discussed how we chose the materials in our dataset and how we trained the convolutional neural network for their classification. We reported on the detection accuracy for different material types and evaluated the impact of varying the room illumination, rotating the sheets, and using sheets purchased from different manufacturers. We then highlighted how our system can be extended to also detect the thickness of sheets. For future work, we plan to investigate how speckle sensing can be used to detect materials in other fabrication tools. Furthermore, we plan to collaborate with laser cutter manufacturers to integrate our material sensing approach into future commercial products, which only requires adding the lensless image sensor and adjusting the power of the existing visible laser pointer.

Chapter 4

StructCodes: Leveraging Fabrication Artifacts to Store Data in Laser-Cut Objects

4.1 Introduction

To achieve unobtrusive passive tags that do not require object modification, researchers investigated ways to use the inherent characteristics of objects, which may manifest in the form of either naturally occurring or engineered features. As an example of natural unobtrusive tags, *SensiCut* [23] senses the micron-scale surface structure of materials using speckle sensing to identify the material's type. Similarly, *Verifiable Smart Packaging* [146] uses radio-frequency signals that penetrate through an object's exterior to identify the object by its internal structure. The second approach, engineered unobtrusive tags, offers more flexibility to define how the tag should by embedded with the object. For example, in agriculture, researchers developed tamper-evident tags using biodegradable silk particles, allowing for seed traceability and anti-counterfeiting [134].

In this project, the question that prompted our research was: Can we make use of existing fabrication artifacts of objects to store metadata in them? Our goal is two-fold: (1) not introducing additional materials, parts, or features to the object, but simply make use of its existing visual structures that arise as a byproduct of the fabrication process. (2) The added data should be decoded from regular camera images so the meta-information can be



Figure 4-1: StructCode embeds data in the fabrication artifacts of laser-cut objects, such as the patterns of (a) finger joints and (b) living hinges, to augment objects with data. Here, the embedded StructCodes allow narration for a painting and status updates for a potted plant, among others.

easily used to augment the objects, e.g., in augmented reality (AR) applications.

Our proposed solution, *StructCode*, slightly varies fabrication artifacts, i.e., the patterns resulting from joints, which does not change the main object geometry, but can still be detected from camera images. Thus, *StructCode* does not add any new features to the object, but instead exploits the structures that are inevitable artifacts of the fabrication process. While this idea can be applied using many different manufacturing processes and materials that allow for the customization of individual tangibles (to embed individual tags), for the scope of this project we focus on *laser cutting*. Laser cutting is particularly suitable because it allows the rapid fabrication of sturdy, functional, and large-scale objects [9, 23]. These typically contain many visual artifacts across their surfaces due to their finger joints and living hinges. *StructCode* subtly changes the widths of these elements to represent

machine-readable information. The *StructCodes* can be read as part of existing AR pipelines to augment the user's view with information relevant to the tangible objects that they are interacting with.

Figure 4-1 shows how laser-cut objects use their existing joints to store meta-information, such as labels (e.g., used to retrieve watering updates for the plant), context (e.g., to access the digital model of the chair), disassembly instructions (e.g., to recycle the bookshelf), and narration (e.g., explanatory video for the artwork on the wall). *StructCode* achieves this by modifying the lengths of laser-cut finger joints and living hinges, which are inherent artifacts of commonly laser-cut objects. The modified lengths represent different bits while ensuring the codes are easy to capture with a mobile camera. Because *StructCodes* are an inherent part of the objects, they cannot be easily removed without causing damage to the object. Compared to other unobtrusive tagging methods in HCI, which use additional equipment such as infrared cameras [29, 153], *StructCode* only requires a conventional RGB camera for detection, and thus can be used on off-the-shelf mobile devices and headsets.

While this project demonstrates the idea of opportunistic data embedding for the example of laser-cut objects, we discuss how it can be generalized to other types of fabricated objects in the future in Section 4.8. We note that this chapter was originally published at ACM SCF 2023 [22]. Our contributions can be listed as follows:

- An unobtrusive and integrated tagging method that embeds *data* in the existing *fabrication artifacts* of objects, as demonstrated for laser cutting, and only requires *a standard camera* for detection.
- A tag decoding pipeline that is robust to various backgrounds, viewing angles, and wood types.
- A set of applications showing how this opportunistic embedding can enrich tangible interactions with laser-cut objects.
- A mechanical evaluation illustrating that the addition of StructCodes maintains the overall integrity of objects.

4.2 Method: Embedding Data in StructCodes

In this section, we discuss how to physically embed the code into existing laser-cut structures and which encoding scheme we use for StructCodes. Our goal is to be able to store custom text (e.g., sentences or website URLs).

4.2.1 Identifying Features Suitable for StructCodes

To better understand how to embed information in laser-cut objects' artifacts, we surveyed what joints are used in their structure and which of these are suitable to be leveraged as a StructCode. We considered the top 100 laser cutting projects on the popular online repository *Instructables*¹ and classified the identified joints in objects. If an object contained more than one joint type, we took into account all of them.

In total, 58% of projects had at least one type of joint. We found four main types of joints contained in the laser-cut objects: finger joints (26%), mortise and tenon joints (16%), slot joints (8%), and living hinges (8%). We count living hinges as a type of joint because under *joints*, we consider any connection between two planes in the laser-cut model. These joint types can also be commonly found in the research community, e.g., finger joints in *Enclosed* [149], *CutCAD* [57], and *Fresh Press Modeler* [17], slot joints in *FlatFitFab* [93], *SketchChair* [120], and *Planar Pieces* [122].

Out of these four joint types, we identify **finger joints** and **living hinges** as most suitable for illustrating the concept of StructCodes. Both contain repeating elements, i.e., finger joints have individual fingers repeated along the edges of a plate and living hinges are made up of repeated individual lines. They are both on the outside surface of the object, i.e., visible to the camera. Living hinges form a well-defined shape that can be tightly enclosed by a bounding rectangle. While finger joints can also be applied to non-rectangular parts, they are most common on rectangular shapes (73.1% of the joint projects had joints on rectangular plates). Both structures offer large encoding capacity; particularly, living hinges have many line cuts that could be used as bits.

4.2.2 Structural Embedding of Data Bits

As shown in Figure 4-2, the identified structures typically contain material interleaved with cuts, i.e., gaps. For instance, in finger joints, the fingers are interleaved with cut outs that match the fingers of the neighboring plate, and in living hinges, the sheet is cut at specific distances to make the material bendable.

¹https://www.instructables.com/



Figure 4-2: General design of (a) finger joints and (b) living hinges. To embed bits, we resize both the fingers and gaps in the finger joints, but only the links in the living hinges.

To encode a message, we can either vary the length of the *material* (*fingers* of joints or *links* of hinges) or the length of the *gaps* between the fingers or between the links. Below we outline how we embed the codes for each of the two structural element types.

Finger joints To embed StructCodes into finger joints, we modify both the widths of the individual fingers and the widths of the gaps between the fingers, as labeled in Figure 4-2a (i.e., $d_1, d_2, d_3, ...$). We did not consider modifying the depth of the fingers because the depth has to be the same as the sheet thickness to ensure properly interlocking plates. To maintain the structural integrity of the joints, modifications to the widths of the elements (i.e., fingers or gaps) should be minimized to be as close to the original width as possible while being distinguishable by the camera and distributing evenly over the plate length (see Section 4.5.1).

Living hinges There are two ways to embed StructCodes into living hinges, either by modifying the size of the individual links, the widths of the hinge gaps (i.e., the vertical cuts between the links), or both as shown in Figure 4-2b. To ensure that the hinge can be bent into the desired curved configuration after laser cutting, the links have to be vertically aligned. Therefore, we only modify the lengths of the *links*. Furthermore, since the links are typically shorter than the gaps, they are less prone to warping when comparing the lengths against each other and thus more suitable for our purposes. This is because the links are situated in a smaller local region, which allows the projection to the image plane to maintain the ratio of distances [89]. To ensure the structural integrity, we chose lengths that are as close to the original as possible while being distinguishable by the camera (see Section 4.5.2).

4.2.3 Encoding Scheme

StructCode employs a base 3 (ternary) encoding scheme², i.e., it uses the bits 0, 1, and 2. This is represented in the physical code as a narrower element ("0"), a medium element ("1"), and a wider element ("2"). Four elements, i.e., four bits, represent one character. The different combinations of element widths that make up the four bits can generate up to 81 different variations, which allows to embed 81 different character types, including 62 alphanumeric characters and 18 special characters for strings that can include URLs. The remaining bit combination is used as the start/end sequence, which is asymmetric ("0120"). This allows us to identify where the code starts and thus helps to find the location in the captured image where we need to begin decoding. In addition, since the start/end sequence contains the 0, 1, and 2 bits, it makes it easier for us to detect the widths of the narrow, medium, and wide elements. We chose the base 3 encoding scheme rather than a base 2 scheme (only 0 and 1, such as in conventional barcodes) as it allows us to increase the amount of information we can embed in the same number of elements. We did not go up to base 4 or higher in order not to sacrifice subtlety (Section 4.8). If a bit string is relatively short and the plate or hinge has a large area, our tool automatically repeats the string throughout the structure to achieve a more even look.

Finger joints The bit sequence is encoded in a circular fashion beginning at one of the four corners of a rectangular plate so that it covers its whole perimeter. When investigating the average number of joints used in rectangular plates on *Instructables*, we found that the ones that have joints on all four sides had on average a total of 50.3 fingers and gaps (std=33.6). By varying both the finger and the gap, this allows us to embed 7 characters with a base 2 scheme, or 12 characters with a base 3 scheme, a capacity sufficient to store longer URLs using shortened URLs (similar to regular QR codes). For instance, t.ly/aNPf with 9 characters is the shorted version of a 39-character *kyub* link to a 3D model.

Living hinges A row of columns is encoded from left to right, and an individual column goes top to bottom. As an example, in Figure 4-2b, the first column is read from top to bottom $(d_{1,1}, d_{1,2}, d_{1,3})$, and then the second column is read $(d_{2,1}, d_{2,2}, ...)$. We found that the average number of links in two-dimensional hinges from the *Instructables* dataset

²In ternary logic, the digits are called *trits* (**tri**nary digit). However, for familiarity, we use the term *bits* in this chapter although it is normally used for the binary system.
is 85.7 (std=43.1), excluding the hinges that are completely circular and thus would not fit in a single camera frame. This allows for a data capacity of 21 characters using our base 3 scheme. Thus, we conclude that compared to finger joints, living hinges usually fit longer StructCodes because they have more repeating elements.

4.3 End-to-End Workflow

We next describe how a user can embed StructCodes into their laser cut object. Our workflow is designed to work with laser-cut objects made in the 3D editor kyub [9] or 2D models (.svg) from other sources imported into kyub using $assembler^3$ [113]. Users import the project from kyub as a 2D file into our Web-based tool to embed StructCodes in it. After fabricating the object in the laser cutter, the user can detect the code using our mobile application.

4.3.1 User Interface for Embedding StructCodes

Once the user has imported their *kyub* object into our tool, they click on the *Identify* compatible structures button in the tool (Figure 6-3), which marks the jointed plates and hinges that allow embedding codes. In our walkthrough, the user is making a box and the StructCode tool shows that the two rectangular plates of the box and the one with the living hinge can be used to embed a code. It also reminds the designer to choose a structure that is facing towards the user when they take a photo of it. Since the hinge pattern on the top part of the object is most visible, the designer chooses it for the StructCode.



Figure 4-3: Workflow for encoding and decoding information. (a) After the tool highlights the compatible structures, the user selects the hinge and encodes "*Red Oak*". (b) They use the StructCode mobile application to decode the message.

Once we select one of the structures, the tool shows how many characters can be embedded in it based on its number of joints or lines in the hinge pattern, e.g., that the selected hinge can embed up to 15 characters in it. In this example, we want to embed a StructCode that can later help us identify which material the object was laser cut from, i.e., red oak plywood. We type in "Red Oak" which is within our character limit (Figure 6-3a) and as a result, the tool modifies the hinge cuts. After embedding this code, users have the option to also add more codes into the other structural elements of the object. In our case, we do not need to embed additional messages, so we leave all other structural elements as they are.

Finally, the user exports the laser-cut design with the embedded StructCodes as an SVG file and send it to the laser cutter's software. After fabrication, the user assembles the parts using the instructions generated by kyub. Our tool preserves the plate numbers from kyub to facilitate the assembly process.

4.3.2 Mobile Interface for Reading StructCodes

The StructCode mobile application is used for decoding data embedded in objects. To do so, the user points their phone at the structure as shown in Figure 6-3b. The mobile application automatically starts capturing images and processes them to decode the message. After enough images are taken to ensure correct decoding, the app displays the encoded message, i.e., in our case "Red Oak". The decoded information can be used to augment various mobile experiences, which are illustrated in Section 4.4.

4.4 Applications

We demonstrate how StructCodes enriches object interactions with data, including identifiers for labels, object context, such as instructions, as well as overlaid media, such as narration.

4.4.1 Embedding Identifiers for Static or Dynamic Labels

Users can add identifiers to objects which allow static or dynamic labels for the specific use cases of the objects.

Static labels As shown in Figure 4-4a, a set of office folders contain various personal documents (e.g., *personal finances* or *visa documentation*) that the owner would rather not have visibly shown. The user embeds a StructCode into the finger joints of the folder's front



Figure 4-4: (a) Document folders with encoded personal labels, which the user views in AR to retrieve the right one. (b, c) Status updates inform the user about when the plant needs watering.

plates. Thus, the information is only visible to the user in AR and otherwise the folder looks unlabeled. For the most sensitive tags, the mapping of code to label can be encrypted and available to that user only.

Dynamic labels The embedded identifiers can be also used for dynamic labels, i.e., status updates. In the example shown in Figure 4-4b, the designer is creating a plant pot that lets the user pull up an online dashboard to keep track of the plant's health (i.e., watering, trimming the branches, fertilizing). The pot has an identifier embedded into its living hinges as StructCodes. When the designer leaves for vacation, they ask their friends to take care of the plants. StructCode allows the friend to identify the plant and retrieve its recent status, e.g., that it needs to be watered today.

4.4.2 Embedding Context: Resources and Instructions

StructCodes allow embedding references to the object's context, such as accessing the digital model, on-demand renewal, and (dis)-assembly instructions.

Accessing the digital model As shown in Figure 4-5a, the laser-cut chair contains a shortened link to its *kyub* page. Users who see the chair and like the design can scan the StructCode to download its files online and make a copy for themselves.

On-demand renewal As shown in Figure 4-5b, the user reorders cookies by simply capturing its container, which has the reorder link encoded as a StructCode. This allows users to access and renew supplies whenever needed.



Figure 4-5: Providing context. (a) The user can access the fabrication files of the furniture. (b) Running low on cookies, the user adds a new batch to the online shopping cart through the embedded reorder link.

Assembly / disassembly instructions Furniture manufacturers such as *IKEA* provide not only the assembly instructions for their products, but also the *disassembly* instructions to improve recycling for better sustainability [3]. However, users frequently misplace instruction manuals over time. Similarly, for fabricated objects, users may struggle to locate the related instructions that originally came with the digital file. As shown in Figure 4-6, the owner retrieves the disassembly manual through the StructCode when they need to discard of the piece, or transport and reconstruct it elsewhere.



Figure 4-6: Disassembly instructions are linked to the shelf in case the user needs to take it apart for recycling or transport.

While we showed the use case of StructCodes for linking *disassembly* instructions, our method can also be integrated into existing systems for helping users with the *assembly* of laser-cut objects [2, 101]. For instance, the part numbers could be embedded into individual plates so that our app guides the user to pick the right one in each step.

4.4.3 Embedding Overlaid Media

StructCodes enable users to overlay objects with related media such as narrative videos or illustrations using AR.

Narrative media As shown in Figure 4-7a, StructCode links a video of the original artist narrating their artwork. Using StructCode, students quickly set up a temporary gallery by laser cutting wooden frames for their own works. Visitors can use their phones to view the art in AR, which overlays the video on the related artwork. The app can tailor the content and duration to the individual viewer's level of interest.



Figure 4-7: Overlaying media. (a) In an exhibit, visitors use an AR app to view narrative videos by the artists. (b) The crocodile has StructCodes that describe what part they are located on, which is used for educational applications.

Illustrative sublabels Individual parts of an object can have different functions. Struct-Codes are used to associate relevant information with each part using illustrative sublabels. One example of this is the educational toy model shown in Figure 4-7b that has different sublabels embedded into different limbs of the crocodile. Thus, users access educational materials for each limb. This allows teachers to interactively introduce new concepts in classrooms. For such use cases, we expect that users are made aware of the existence of StructCodes through the toy description or manual.

4.5 Detection of StructCodes

The image processing pipeline of StructCodes is implemented using OpenCV [15]. As shown in Figure 7-6, StructCodes are detected by locating the structure of interest, detecting the modifications in it to extract the bits, and finally decoding the message.

This section describes the decoding pipeline for finger joints and living hinges, which use slightly different image processing techniques. If the user selects what type of feature



Figure 4-8: Image processing steps for (a) finger joints and (b) living hinges.

to decode when launching the application, StructCodes can run the corresponding pipeline directly on the phone's processor. However, running both pipelines at the same time requires higher processing power and is thus recommended to run on a server, which in our applications takes less than a second. We implemented both standalone phone detection for simpler applications and the server-based approach for other use cases for which joints and hinges are expected to be identified at the same time.

4.5.1 Detection of Finger Joints

We explain the steps to read the code from the raw image of the finger joints as shown in Figure 7-6a.

Isolate the plate of interest StructCode's finger joint detection pipeline starts by grouping the pixels using k-means based on each pixel's HSV values. This creates multiple black and white masks such that a plate of interest is white in at least one of the masks. It runs this process for k=3, 6, 10. It creates a different mask for each k, k (i.e., a total of 3+6+10 masks). The algorithm then applies a morphological opening on each mask to disconnect the plates from the background. It takes the larger rectangles found over all masks (with a padding of 25% to account for any error margin) and applies a 4-point perspective transformation to isolate the plate.

Correct for perspective The next step in the pipeline applies Gaussian blur to reduce noise and use Otsu's thresholding to turn the gaps between fingers into contours. For each

edge of a plate, it samples points on the gaps' contours, and draws a line of best fit through the points closest to the center, rather than using the details closer to the sides. This allows the the algorithm to segment the interior plate even if the background has a similar color. It uses these four fitted lines to find the bounding quadrilateral for the plate interior. It then applies another perspective warp that maps the four corners of the quadrilateral to an axis-aligned rectangle. And finally, it slightly extends the bounding rectangle to include the fingers but exclude the background.

Decode the message The gaps of interest are the white rectangles in the final image, and the width of the fingers can be calculated by the distance between consecutive gaps along each edge. The pipeline then runs k-means with k=3 to classify the gap and finger lengths as 0, 1, or 2 bits. It converts the entire ternary string into characters by grouping bits into blocks of 4. To identify the correct reading direction irrespective of the plate orientation, the start/end sequence, which has an asymmetric order (i.e., "0120", see Section 4.2) is detected from one of the corners and used as an anchor.

4.5.2 Detection of Living Hinges

We next explain the pipeline to detect living hinges, as demonstrated in Figure 7-6b.

Identify individual hinge gaps The first step of the pipeline uses adaptive thresholding to turn the image into black and white. A morphological opening and closing are applied to eliminate small isolated patches of black pixel noise. Because the living hinge consists of many thin and long gaps (i.e., the cuts between links) that are parallel and close together, the algorithm first searches for thin rectangles. It measures each contour's similarity to a rectangle by comparing its enclosed area to the minimum-area rectangle that contains it.

Group gaps to isolate the hinge The next step groups rectangles based on proximity, as living hinges consist of many parallel nearby gaps with similar dimensions and orientation. For this, it creates a graph with edges between similar rectangles and find the bounding boxes around the largest connected components. For each bounding box, it applies a 4-point perspective transform and crop out the rest so that the hinge is axis-aligned and takes up the whole image.

Sort the gaps This step removes noise due to the side joints via morphological opening, resizes the image to thicken the rectangular gaps, and iterates through the gaps to assign them to rows and columns by their coordinates.

Decode the message Since every row of *gaps* is determined, the final step calculates the position and lengths of the *links* (i.e., the bits) by measuring the distances between the gaps within each row. It scans the links from top to bottom, where it groups each link together with the previous link that has approximately equal x-coordinate. StructCode runs k-means with k=3 to classify each link length as a 0, 1, or 2 bit. The entire ternary string is then converted into characters by grouping bits into blocks of 4. The correct reading direction is determined by identifying the start/end sequence "0120".

4.5.3 Evaluation of the Detection Pipelines

We evaluated what the smallest detectable length difference Δd is between individual bit categories (0, 1, or 2) when processing the camera images with our detection pipeline. If 0 is represented by distance d, then 1 is represented by $d + \Delta d$, and 2 is represented by $d + 2\Delta d$. Our goal is to only use the smallest possible length difference Δd to maintain the mechanical integrity of the object.

The smallest possible length difference Δd is related to the length of the captured joint plate w_{plate} and the camera distance since larger plates require the the camera to be held further to capture all features (joints or hinge links), which results in them appearing smaller in the image. Further, in certain applications, the user may want to identify more than one object at the same time and hold the phone further away, thus differences may become even subtler. We formalize this relationship as $\Delta d_{min} = \frac{w_{plate}}{\alpha}$, where α is the camera distance scaling factor and w_{plate} is the longest plate dimension or the longest dimension in the bounding box around living hinge regions.

To obtain a conservative bound for α , we conduct the following test in our workshop (80-150 lux), which is in line with regular indoor lighting conditions [98]. We first cut multiple joint plates of a fixed size (15cm x 10cm, from the folder application in Section 4.4.1) with 6 different α values with increments of 5 (from $\alpha = 75$ to $\alpha = 100$), which corresponds to a range of 1.5-2mm for Δd . Next, we captured the plate with a phone (12.2MP on *Pixel 2*) and downscaled the images to 2048x1536 for fast processing. To ensure that at least two objects can be identified from a single image as shown in the use cases, we held the camera far enough (45cm) so that at least three plates can fit into the frame.

We then ran our image processing pipeline on the resulting images and found that it was able to distinguish between bits with $\alpha \leq 80$. Thus, with the given α , a 15x10 cm plate requires a difference $\Delta d = 1.88$ mm, allowing up to 26 fingers, which can store up to 14 characters. By contrast, a larger plate of 20x20 cm (60 fingers) can store up to 31 characters but requires a larger difference $\Delta d = 2.5$ mm since the camera has to be held further away.

We repeated this experiment for living hinges. We first cut multiple copies of a hinge (5cm x 3.7cm, the model from Section 6.3.1), with 6 different α values with increments of 5 (from $\alpha = 25$ to $\alpha = 50$), which corresponds to a range of 1-2mm for Δd . We held the camera at a distance far enough (20.7cm) so that at least three of these hinges can be detected from the captured shot.

The processing pipeline managed to distinguish between bits with $\alpha \leq 45$. Thus, with the given α , a hinge of a size of 5 cm x 3.7 cm requires a difference $\Delta d = 1.11$ mm, resulting in 72 hinge cuts in the area, which can store up to 9 characters. In contrast, a larger hinge of 10 cm x 7.4 cm (193 cuts) can store up to 36 characters but requires a larger difference $\Delta d = 2.22$ mm since the camera has to be held further away.

Evaluation of the viewing angle Using the above results, we evaluated the maximum camera capture angle at which the message can still be decoded relative to the plate normal. To do this, we fixed the model with finger joints on a surface and rotated the camera around the plate of interest until the code is no longer detectable, while keeping track of the angle using a protractor attached onto the surface. We did this for three different codes (Figure 4-4) and three different backgrounds (black, white, wood). The maximum viewing angle was 25.28° (std=2.81) across the nine resulting conditions. When repeated with the living hinge samples, we found that the maximum angle was 37.19° (std=4.52) around the axis perpendicular to the hinge gaps (y-axis in Figure 7-6b), and 19.08° (std=2.95) around the axis along the gaps (x-axis) across the nine conditions. The reason the second value is smaller is that due to the curvature, the outermost gaps become more easily occluded with deviations away from the center.

Evaluation of hinge curvature For reliable detection, we need to ensure that different bits can be correctly distinguished even though their lengths may be distorted as a result of hinge curvature. For instance, the more curved an (outward) hinge is, the more likely it is that a 0 bit at the center of the hinge appears longer than a 0 bit at the edge of the hinge. Figure 4-9a shows an exaggerated case of this where the camera is very close the the hinge (4cm). As length is the differentiating factor between bits, this distortion creates a risk of incorrect detection (i.e., mistaking a 0 bit for a 1 bit as a result of length distortion). Based on the pinhole camera model [132], we formalize the condition to avoid this risk using the expression $\Delta d > d \left[\frac{dist_{edge}}{dist_{enter}} - 1 \right]$, where $dist_{center}$ is the camera distance from the bit at the center and $dist_{edge}$ is the camera distance from the bit at the edge. The difference between these distance values is proportional to the curvature. However, since the camera is sufficiently far from the object, we have $dist_{center} \approx dist_{edge}$. Thus, in practice the right-hand term is smaller than the Δd values used.



Figure 4-9: Curvature of living hinges. (a) As bit lengths may be distorted due to curvature, StructCode encodes them with sufficient tolerance to ensure correct detection. (b) Struct-Codes can be encoded on various shapes, e.g., conical hinges.

For instance, for the typical viewing distance of the model evaluated in Section 4.5.3, we need $\Delta d > 2.1mm \left[\frac{21.3cm}{20.7cm} - 1\right] \approx 0.06mm$, which is satisfied since the Δd used is 1.11 mm. This gives enough legroom to ensure correct detection in various conditions, such as different angles as mentioned in the earlier section. Another example is conical hinges (Figure 4-9b), here the lines on which the hinge cuts lie have different angles. The legroom allows the detection of the correct measurements, however, the maximum viewing angles reported in Section 4.5.3 are reduced by the angle difference between \vec{v}_{center} and \vec{v}_{edge} on which the central and the edge cuts lie.

4.6 Mechanical Evaluation

When embedding StructCodes, the individual elements of mechanical structures are slightly modified, i.e., the width of the finger joints and the distance between the living hinge cuts are adjusted by multiples of Δd . To evaluate how much this change affects the mechanical integrity, we conducted several tests with modified finger joints and living hinges.

4.6.1 Compression Evaluation of Finger Joints

To compare how the addition of StructCodes affects sturdiness, we compared the ultimate compressive strength of box structures before and after embedding the code (i.e., unmodified vs. modified).

Experiment setup We evaluated two different box sizes because each size results in a different resizing difference Δd based on the camera scaling factor $\alpha = 80$ for finger joints as explained in Section 4.5.3. The smaller box, which can carry up to 5 characters, had a plate size of 5cm x 5cm and required a Δd of 0.625mm. The larger box, which can carry up to 10 characters, had a plate size of 12cm x 12cm and required a Δd of 1.5mm. The dimensions for the large box were chosen since they represent the largest size that can fit into the measurement machine. We laser cut 4 unmodified and 4 modified boxes of each box size (total of 16 boxes) from 3mm birch plywood sheets. The messages embedded in the modified boxes were produced using a random string generator. Similar to the technical evaluation for *kyub* [9], we used a common low-cost material to obtain a conservative lower bound for the sturdiness of the tested objects. All boxes were held together solely press fitting their joints together, i.e., without glue.



Figure 4-10: Mechanical evaluation of StructCodes: (a) Compressive strength of finger joints and (b) bending of hinges.

Experiment procedure We used an *Instron* universal testing machine (UTM) as shown in Figure 4-10a. We placed the modified boxes such that the side with the StructCode faced upward. The Instron increased the compression force on the box and we measured the ultimate compression strength to the point where the box failed under crush loading. The ultimate compression strength represents the maximum stress the structure can sustain.

Results We found that the width modification of joints required to embed StructCodes did not strongly affect the sturdiness when compared to the values reported in previous literature. In their tests with kyub objects, Baudisch et al. [9] have reported that (unmodified) objects were still intact when they exceeded the 500kg (4,903 N) value range of their measuring device. We were able to confirm this as shown in Table 4.1. Both unmodified and modified objects go well beyond the reported 4,903 N value. Even though the peak load the box can handle decreased on average by 14.5% for the 5cm box and increased on average by 0.16% for the 12cm box after modifying the joints, the force that each of these boxes can withstand is still larger than what is required of most objects used in daily life. The high standard deviation, specifically for the large boxes, is likely due to the fact that there is a large variation in the composition of plywood sheets even though they all came from the same batch.

	Unmodified	Modified with	Relative change	
	Unmodified	StructCode		
$5~\mathrm{cm}$	15,939.7 N	13,630.6 N	Degraage by 14 50	
	(std=621)	(std=641)	Decrease by 14.570	
$12 \mathrm{~cm}$	12,578.6 N	12,599.3 N	Increase by 0.16%	
	(std=2,020)	(std=1,760)	merease by 0.1070	

Table 4.1: Average peak load comparison of the finger joints.

4.6.2 Bending Evaluation of Living Hinges

To evaluate if the introduction of StructCodes into living hinges changes their flexibility, we measured up to what angle the living hinge can bend before fracturing and compared the results for both modified and unmodified living hinges.

Experiment setup Similar to the setup from Section 4.6.1, we created 4 pairs of hinges based on the camera scaling factor for living hinges $\alpha = 45$, which was explained in Sec-

tion 4.5.3. We repeated this for hinges of two sizes: a smaller one that can carry 10 characters (4.7cm x 3.64cm, $\Delta d = 1.04$ mm) and a larger one that can carry 50 characters (12.2cm x 9.6cm, $\Delta d = 2.71$ mm). We laser cut the 4 unmodified and 4 modified hinges of each size (16 hinges in total) from 3mm birch plywood sheets. The messages embedded in the modified ones were produced using a random string generator. While different hinge designs may exhibit different flexibility [39], we use the default pattern generated by *kyub* as this is the tool we used for fabricating our application samples.

Experiment procedure To evaluate the bending angle, we bent the living hinge pattern either up to 180° (maximum) or up to the point where it started cracking, and then read the corresponding maximum angle from a protractor as shown in Figure 4-10b.

Results For the larger hinge, we found that both the unmodified and modified hinge were able to bend to 180° (Table 4.2). Thus, the change did not impact the performance. This is likely because the cut distance is not a main factor impacting the maximum hinge bend angle, which is rather directly linked to the the sheet thickness and the number of links in series [39]. For the smaller hinge, the unmodified hinge was also able to bend to the maximum of 180° , whereas the modified hinge was still able to bend to 175° (i.e., a decrease only 2.8% after the insertion of the code). We believe this should not affect the use of hinges as they are typically bent to 90° for most objects (see Section 4.8).

	Unmodified	Modified with StructCode	Relative change	
$\operatorname{smaller}$	180°	$175^{\circ} \text{ (std=5)}$	Decrease by 2.8%	
larger	180°	180°	No change	

Table 4.2: Average bend angle of the living hinges.

The above evaluation demonstrated that the addition of StructCodes preserves the large compression strength of laser-cut objects held together with joints and curvatures achieved via hinges. However, more longitudinal tests might be needed to further examine the joints' usage in diverse applications where, for instance, the effect of shearing (i.e., when the direction of the force is parallel to the plane of the object) is more important than the effect of compression. Similarly, while the hinge applications presented were for static objects, further analysis could be conducted to determine the long-term impact of repeated bending on hinges with StructCodes.

4.7 Software Implementation

Our software tool for embedding StructCodes is Web-based and uses *JavaScript* as well as the *Paper.js* canvas library.

Extracting laser-cut plates from SVG To extract the laser-cut structures from the user's kyub design file (.svg), our software first parses through its layers that contain the individual path segments of the drawing. For each plate, our tool utilizes the annotations in the kyub file to create a data structure instance that contains the ID of the plate and the IDs of interlocking plates on the plate's sides.

Identifying structures in each plate Once the plates are extracted from the SVG file, the software interface identifies the finger joints and living hinges in each plate using our algorithm and adds the line segments that represent them to the data structure. To identify joints, it detects parallel line segments whose endpoints match in either the x- or y-axis and stores these segments in an array inside the data structure. To identify hinges, it detects groups of adjacent parallel lines with tiny distances between them. For hinges, once the last line is found, a bounding box is created to encompass all segments within that hinge.

Converting text into bit sequences The user-inputted characters are transformed into 4-bit, base 3 sequences to form a bit string according to a pre-defined dictionary.

Modifying structures to embed bits The fingers joints and living hinges are then manipulated to encode the computed bit sequence in the following manner:

For finger joints, we first compute Δd_{min} based on the formula described in Section 4.5.3 $(\Delta d_{min} = \frac{w_{plate}}{\alpha})$ for the selected plate. While modifying the fingers and gaps of the joints, we readjust their widths to ensure that the joints cover the whole side of the plate based on the computed Δd_{min} value as well as the number of 0s, 1s, and 2s needed for the specific message. We modify the widths by shifting each parallel line from the line before it by the required calculated difference, and this shifting continues along each of the sides in a counter-clockwise manner until complete. When a side is done, the neighboring plate and its side are also shifted with the corresponding bit subarray to ensure interlocking.

For living hinges, we similarly first compute Δd_{min} based on the formula described in

Section 4.5.3 ($\Delta d_{min} = \frac{w_{hinge}}{\alpha}$) for the hinge selected by the user, and use this value to find the lengths corresponding to the different bits. These length values are used to modify the endpoints of the two adjacent line segments that represent a gap between hinge cuts.

4.8 Discussion

In the next section, we discuss insights gained from our work, acknowledge its limitations, and propose future research.

Aesthetics vs. code capacity Even though varying structural elements keeps the surface and the main geometry of the object intact, the varying patterns may come across as unfamiliar or less smooth to users that are used to the standard joint or hinge patterns. Thus, similar to *FoolProofJoint* [101], which varies the joints to facilitate assembly, the use of StructCodes comes at an aesthetic cost based on the user's familiarity and experience with these patterns. StructCode aims to minimize this by choosing Δd values as small as possible while also ensuring machine-readability. Future work can explore how to optimize the look of joints for being completely unnoticeable to humans by aiming to go under the *Just Noticeable Difference*, i.e., the minimum level a stimulus that needs to be changed for humans to perceive it [56]. Psychologists show this difference is proportional to the original length [14]. Therefore, distinguishing between two rectangles (e.g., joints) with different lengths is more difficult when their *average length* increases while the difference between them is kept constant [144].

The current version of StructCode uses a base 3 encoding scheme, which allows us to embed a variety of characters sufficient to represent, e.g., a URL. Other numeral systems (e.g., base 5) can embed more characters with fewer bits, but they require more variation in the joint lengths. Thus, the difference between individual joints may be more visible and have a stronger impact on the object integrity and look. A future version of StructCode can offer multiple encoding schemes and allow users to decide on the best trade-off between data capacity, subtlety, and mechanical performance.

Error correction Error correction codes (ECCs) such as Reed-Solomon [107] or Hamming code [51] could be added to StructCodes to further increase detection robustness. By adding redundancy, these may help detect and correct errors that may occur in particularly noisy

or blurry images. However, this comes at the expense of reduced code capacity.

The effect of post-hoc polishing After laser cutting an object, some users prefer smoothing the finger joints depending on intended use and time availability. However, sanding finger joints may impact the size of the detected joints. We evaluated how much sanding our image processing pipeline can endure for different wood materials, i.e., birch plywood, walnut, and medium-density fiberboard (MDF). We cut the same sample with these materials and sanded them with sandpaper of grit sizes 1000, 600, 220, and 110 (fine to coarse), 30 passes for each. We could decode each sample before sanding. For birch plywood and walnut, we found that sanding with grit size 1000 and 600 preserved decodability. For MDF, only grit size 1000 preserved decodability. This is likely because plywood sheets consist of multiple stacks of veneers, one of which naturally has a darker color that remains intact even after sanding. In the future, our detection algorithm could be further optimized to increase recognition under tougher conditions by enhancing contrast using methods such as CLAHE [156]. Future research may also consider using specialized cameras [29] for cases where fabrication artifacts like joints are intentionally occluded by the designer.

Extending StructCode to other types of shapes and objects Our initial survey showed that finger joints and living hinges are most suitable for StructCodes. We therefore optimized our image processing pipeline to detect these structures. However, the StructCode concept is not limited to these. We plan to embed codes into more freeform shapes in the future, such as joints placed along circular plates. Future work can investigate ways to embed StructCodes into joints used in other fabrication processes, e.g., stitching in *Joinery* [161], 3D printing textiles in *DefeXtiles* [40] or joints in *Hybrid Carpentry* [88], and machining traditional or modern woodworking joints in *Tsugite* [76], *JigFab* [79] and *MatchSticks* [140].

4.9 Conclusion

In this chapter, we presented StructCode, a technique to embed data into laser-cut fabrication artifacts. By modifying the patterns of laser-cut joints while maintaining their functionality, StructCode enables the embedding of data that can be decoded using a mobile phone camera. We explained the encoding scheme used to embed data into finger joints and living hinges. We then presented a software tool for embedding codes into existing 3D models, and a mobile application to decode them. Our applications illustrated how fabrication artifacts can be leveraged to augment laser-cut objects with data such as labels, instructions, and narration. We explained our image processing pipeline which extracts the data from camera images. Finally, we evaluated the mechanical integrity of the fabricated objects to ensure that they are stable after StructCodes are embedded, and discussed how StructCodes can be further developed to make them fully inconspicuous to humans and more robust using error correction codes.

This work aims to bring us one step closer to the vision of embedding data for augmented objects as an inherent part of the fabrication process [21].

Chapter 5

G-ID: Identifying 3D Prints Using Slicing Parameters

5.1 Introduction

As identified in the earlier chapters, a key challenge when using machine-readable tags is how to make them unobtrusive. For this purpose, researchers have investigated methods to leave the surface intact and instead change the inside geometry of a model. *InfraStructs* [153], for instance, scans the object's interior with a terahertz scanner, while *AirCode* [80] requires a projector and camera setup to detect internal air pockets using subsurface scattering. Even though these approaches leave the object's surface intact, both need large equipment, which prevents these solutions from being used in everyday scenarios.

To be able to use regular scanning equipment, such as a mobile phone camera, researchers proposed to analyze small imprecisions on the object's surface that are created during the fabrication process. Those imprecisions are unobtrusive yet machine readable and can therefore be used as tags. Such imperfections make it possible to identify which fused deposition modeling (FDM) printer was used to create an object [81].

In this work, we propose a different approach to identification. When a 3D model is prepared for 3D printing, it first undergoes *slicing*, a computational process which converts a 3D model into layers and their corresponding print path (a **G**-code file), which the extruder then follows to create the 3D object. The parameters for the slicing process can be modified for each individual instance, which allows **G**-ID to create unique textures on the surface of



Figure 5-1: Different ways to embed tags into 3D models while leaving the surface intact: (a) changing the internal geometry (*InfraStructs*), (b) varying slicing parameters (*G-ID*), (c) relying on fabrication imprecisions (*PrinTracker*).

objects that can be detected with a commodity camera, such as those available on a mobile phone. Since our approach allows us to be in control over which printed instance has been modified with which slicer settings, we can identify each instance and retrieve associated labels previously assigned by a user. We note that this chapter was originally published at $ACM \ CHI \ 2020 \ [25].$

The contributions of G-ID can be summarized as follows:

- A method to utilize the subtle patterns left as an inevitable byproduct of the conventional 3D printing process to identify objects without the need to embed an additional tag.
- A tool for users who want to create multiple instances of an object but intend to give each one a unique identifier.
- A mobile app that helps users take pictures of objects to be identified, as well as a stationary setup to detect finer variations in slicing parameters using image processing.
- An evaluation of the space of slicing parameters that can be varied to generate unique instances of a 3D model and the corresponding detection accuracy under different environmental and hardware-related conditions.

We demonstrate these contributions with a diverse set of interactive applications.

5.2 Method: Labeling and Identifying Objects By Their Slicing Parameters

The main contribution of G-ID is a framework to *label* and *identify* 3D printed objects by their distinct slicer settings.

G-ID labels 3D printed objects by intentionally varying the slicing settings of an un-



Figure 5-2: 3D printed objects inherently possess surface patterns due to the angle of the print path and the thickness of the trace the 3D printer lays down. G-ID exploits such features to identify unique instances of an object without the need to embed an obtrusive, additional tag. G-ID provides (a) a user interface for slicing individual instances of the same object with different settings and assigning labels to them. After (b) 3D printing, users can (c) identify each instance using the G-ID mobile app that uses image processing techniques to detect the slicing parameters and retrieve the associated labels.

modified 3D model which determine the path the extruder will follow. This allows G-ID to produce multiple instances that all have a unique artifact, e.g., the small grooves on the surfaces of the object that can be shaped differently when the print path is laid down.

G-ID then *identifies* the 3D printed object by such textures, i.e. after users take a picture of the object with a commodity camera, G-ID applies image processing techniques to first extract and then correlate the features with their initial slicing settings to retrieve the identifying label.

5.2.1 Main Benefits of Using Different Slicing Parameters

Slicing parameters reveal themselves on any printed object as a fabrication byproduct that is normally ignored. One may make use of these inevitable textures that come for free due to 3D printing. G-ID combines a wide range of slicing parameters to create a sufficiently large parameter space. For each slicing parameter for surface and infill, there is a variety of values available (see section "Spacing of Slicing Parameters"). The use of so many values is enabled by G-ID's recognition algorithm, which uses a Fourier-based method for precise measurements. Detecting these values precisely in turn enables new applications such as "Finding optimal print settings" (see "Application Scenarios").

5.2.2 G-ID Workflow for an Identification Application

In the following section, we describe how we use (1) the G-ID labeling interface to assign each instance of a 3D printed object a unique tag prior to 3D printing, and how we use (2)



Figure 5-3: G-ID labeling interface: load a 3D model and enter number of unique instances needed.

the G-ID identification app that runs on a mobile device to detect each object's tag after 3D printing.

We explain the workflow of G-ID using an application scenario, in which we will create a set of forty key covers—each with an unobtrusive feature that identifies its owner. We use these key covers in our research lab: At the end of the semester when members depart, we often forget to write down who has returned their keys. Using G-ID, we can quickly identify whom the previously returned keys used to belong to and then send a reminder to those who have outstanding keys.

5.2.3 Labeling Interface (Slicer)

To assign each key cover a unique tag, we open G-ID's labeling interface (Figure 5-3) on our computer and load the 3D model of the key cover by dragging it onto the canvas. Since we want to create 40 key covers, we enter 40 instances into the left-hand panel of the interface.

#1 Generate Instances: We select "Mobile phone" as the desired detection setup. Next, we click the "Generate previews" button, which slices each instance of the key cover with a unique set of slicing settings. In this case, since we only request 40 instances, G-ID only varies the slicing parameters initial bottom line angle and initial bottom line width (more on this in section "Slicing parameters used for labeling"). After slicing is completed, G-ID previews each instance as shown in Figure 5-2a.

#2 Enter Labels: We can now enter a label in the form of a text, an image, or a URL next to the preview of each instance. Since we want to give each key cover the name of one



Figure 5-4: G-ID mobile app for identifying instances: (a) select model from library, (b) face the object, (c) once outlines are aligned, the app automatically takes the image.

of our lab members, we enter one name per instance. We can update these labels later any time, for instance, when a new team member joins our lab and we need to reassign the key.

#3 3D Printing: Upon clicking the "Export" button, each instance's G-code file is saved, as well as a digital file (XML) that stores the object information and the entered label corresponding to each instance. We can now send the G-code files to our FDM printer to obtain the printed instances. We also transfer the digital file that stores the object information to our smartphone to be used later for identification.

5.2.4 Identification Interface (Mobile App with Object Alignment)

At the end of the semester when we update our key inventory, we use the G-ID mobile app on our phone to identify which of the returned keys belonged to whom. After launching the app, we first select the model we would like to scan, i.e., the key cover, from our object library (Figure 5-4a). The app then helps us to align the camera image with the object by showing an outline of the object on the screen, similar to how check cashing or document scanning apps work (Figure 5-4b). When the outlines are aligned in this human-in-the-loop setting, the app automatically captures and processes the image (Figure 5-4c). It then identifies the features in the photo associated with the surface-related slicing parameter settings, retrieves the user-assigned label, and shows it on the screen (Figure 5-2c). We check off the lab members who returned their keys and send a reminder to everyone else.

5.2.5 Surface and Interior: Detecting Infill Using a Light Source

In the above described scenario, G-ID was able to successfully label each instance using only slicing parameters that affect the object's surface, such as the initial bottom line width and angle because the number of instances was small. However, for scenarios requiring more



Figure 5-5: By adding a small light source, we can also detect variations in infill, such as different infill angles, patterns, and densities, which allow for a larger number of instances. Here, the coffee maker recognizes the mug's infill and pours the user's preferred drink.

instances, G-ID can also sense the interior of objects (infill) at the expense of adding a small light source as described in the next scenario.

For our department's annual celebration, we are asked to print a set of 300 coffee mugs as a giveaway. Each coffee mug, when inserted into a smart coffee machine (camera and light source below the tray table), automatically fills the mug with the user's preferred drink. Similar to the previous scenario, we use G-ID's labeling interface to generate the instances, but this time G-ID also varies the parameters infill angle, infill pattern, and infill density once it used up the parameter combinations available for the surface. As users insert their mug into the smart coffee machine, which has a stationary setup, the integrated light makes the infill visible due to the translucent nature of regular PLA 3D printing filament (Figure 5-5). G-ID takes a picture, extracts the infill angle, pattern, and density in addition to the previously mentioned bottom surface parameters, and after identification, pours the user's favorite drink.

5.3 Slicing Parameters Used for Labeling

In the next section, we report on the types of slicing parameters for surface and infill that can be used for creating unique identifiers.

5.3.1 Surface Parameters

Bottom Surface: Resolution and Angle When the bottom layer is printed by moving the print head along a path, two parameters influence how the path on this first layer is laid out.

Initial bottom line width defines the width of a single line on the bottom surface and thus the resulting resolution. Initial bottom line angle sets the direction when drawing the lines to construct the surface. Combinations of these two parameters are shown in Figure 5-6.



Figure 5-6: Combinations of different line widths and angles.

Intermediate Layers: Resolution and Angle It is possible to vary the slicing parameters for the intermediate layers in the same way as for the bottom surface. Layer height when varied leads to different layer thicknesses across the printed object and thus affects the overall print resolution. Rotating the 3D model on the build plate leads to different layer angles across the side surface. Combinations of these two parameters can be seen in Figure 5-7.



Figure 5-7: Different layer angles achieved by rotating the model at the expense of additional support material and print time (a vs. b), and various print qualities (b vs. c).

However, using the slicing parameters for layers comes at several drawbacks. As can be seen, changing the layer orientation results in a significant increase in print time due to the extra support material required. Further, changing the layer resolution can result in a notable difference in print quality across different instances. We still include it here to provide a complete overview of all available parameters.

5.3.2 Infill Parameters

Next, we review slicing parameters that change an object's internal print path.

Infill: Resolution, Angle, and Pattern: Three parameters influence how the infill is laid out. Infill line distance determines how much the lines of the infill are spaced out and thus determines the internal resolution. The denser the infill lines, the higher the infill density.



Figure 5-8: Cross-sections of the mug model show (a) different infill angles and densities, (b) different infill patterns.

Infill angle rotates the infill lines according to the direction specified in degrees. Different combinations of these two parameters are shown in Figure 5-8a. *Infill pattern* allows for different layouts of the print path (Figure 5-8b), such as grid or triangle shapes.

5.3.3 Selecting Parameters that Minimize Print Time and Material

When the user enters the number of instances, G-ID varies those slicing settings first that have the least amount of impact on print time and required material. For instance, the bottom line angle does not add any print time, does not change the resolution, and does not require additional material, whereas changing the bottom width changes the resolution slightly. Infill parameters are varied afterwards since they affect most layers of the model, starting with the infill angle, followed by infill pattern and width.

5.4 Detecting and Identifying Slicing Parameters

To detect these slicing parameters on a 3D print, we apply common image processing techniques. Our pipeline is implemented using OpenCV and uses SimpleElastix, a state-of-theart image registration library [25].

5.4.1 Aligning the Object's Base in Handheld Camera Images

In the first processing step, G-ID needs to further refine the position and orientation of the object in the photo the user has taken to match the outline of the 3D model that was shown on the screen. For such alignment, most existing tagging approaches include specific shapes with the tags. For example, QR codes [17] have three square finder patterns and AirCodes



Figure 5-9: Image registration & processing pipeline. (a) The captured outline is registered with that of the 3D model model for (b) improved alignment. (c) Its Fourier transform is used to infer line angle δ and width d. (d) The distance Δx between intensity peaks on the inclined line is inversely proportional to d.

[22] have four circles that are used to align the image. We did not want to add such markers and therefore decided to infer the position and orientation of the object based on the contour of its surface, which G-ID can extract from the 3D model.

Images Used for Alignment: When the user processes the 3D model in the G-ID labeling interface, it automatically saves the outline of its base in the XML file as a binary image (stored as a Base64 string). When the user loads the XML file in the app, the object appears in the user's model library. After choosing the desired model, the app shows the user the stored outline to assist them with facing the object from the right angle. The app automatically captures the image when the contours are matched (i.e., the bitwise XOR error between the detected contour and target contour is below an acceptable value). G-ID then applies several pre-processing steps, such as applying a bilateral filter to smooth different color and shade regions without blurring their boundaries.

Removing Overhangs: In the next processing step, G-ID removes overhangs, i.e., filters out object geometry that is not part of the bottom surface but appears in the image due to the camera angle. G-ID filters these parts out based on their shading in the camera image: Since the bottom surface is flat and located at a different height than an overhang, the two surfaces have different reflection properties, and thus appear brighter or darker in the image (Figure 5-9a). To find the shading of the bottom surface, G-ID samples a small region of interest to extract the HSV values to get the corresponding threshold range. G-ID then uses the threshold to mask the contour.

Reducing Perspective from the Image (Undistorting): After extracting the contour, G-ID applies an affine transformation (translation, rotation, scaling, shearing) to compute the deformation field required for alignment. As input to this image registration, we use the

masked image from the previous step (converted to a binary outline) as the moving image. The fixed image is the outline of the 3D model at a constant scale. While a projective transformation would best rectify the perspective, it can be approximated by an affine transform since the perspective deviation is minimized due to human-in-the-loop camera image capturing.

To find the best affine transformation, we use adaptive stochastic gradient descent as the optimizer. As the objective function, we use mean squares since we work with binary images, which have little gradient information. The computed parameter map of the affine transformation is then applied to the image the user has taken to align it with the digital 3D model outline (Figure 5-9b).

5.4.2 Detecting Bottom Line Angle and Width

Since the traces of the 3D printed surface have a periodic layout, we are able to detect their orientation and widths by looking at the frequency spectrum, i.e., we take the 2D Fourier transform of the image. From this spectrum, we can determine the bottom line angle θ by extracting the slope of the line on which the periodic peaks lie (peaks are marked yellow in Figure 5-9c). We can determine the bottom line width d by casting the intensity values on this inclined line into a 1D array and computing the distance Δx between the maxima, which is inversely proportional to d. This approach is more robust than looking at the original image itself because in case the lines have irregularities, their distances may be inconsistent, whereas the Fourier transform acts as a smoothing filter and provides an averaged value.

5.4.3 Error Checking

If the picture the user has taken is of poor quality (i.e., out of focus, poor lighting, or accidental shaking of camera), the lines on the object surface will not be clear enough to extract correct measurements of parameters. Fortunately, these false readings can be avoided due to the nature of the 2D Fourier transform. In the Fourier spectra of digital photos, there is a strong intensity along the x and y-axis since real-world objects have many horizontal or vertical features and symmetries [38, 48]. If surface lines are not distinguishable, peak intensities appear on the x and y-axis and therefore erroneously result in detection of 0° or 90°. Thus, the detection of either of these two angles indicates a false reading. Therefore, we exclude these two values from our allowed slicing parameter space. Whenever our algorithm



Figure 5-10: Image processing to extract the components of the infill pattern: (a) photo, (b) contrast increased, (c) blurred, (d) binarized, and (e) matched to the template of the respective infill type: grid, triangles, trihexagon from top to bottom.

detects these two angles, we notify the user that the image has to be retaken for correct measurement.

5.4.4 Detecting Infill Angle, Width, and Pattern

To detect the infill parameters, we first remove noise from the image that is caused by the bottom lines on the surface (Figure 5-10). We remove them by (a) increasing the contrast of the image, (b) blurring the image with a 2D Gaussian smoothing kernel, and (c) applying adaptive thresholding.

To detect the infill pattern, we compare the resulting shapes after thresholding to the known infill pattern templates shown in Figure 5-10d/e. To determine infill density, we compare the infill templates at different scales to the size of the shapes in the image, the matching template then indicates the size of the pattern. Similarly, the infill angle is detected by rotating the template and finding the angle that gives the smallest sum of squared difference to shapes in the image. Since infill is detected in the stationary setup, alignment of the base is less of a concern and image registration can either be simplified or ignored for shorter processing times.

5.5 Spacing of Slicing Parameters

We conducted an experiment to determine which parameter spacing can be reliably identified using our detection method. For the experiment, we printed a number of instances with different slicing settings and used our detection method to identify each pattern. Table 1 summarizes the results of this experiment under regular office light conditions. We focus

	Min	Max	Spacing	Variations
Bottom:				
Angle (°)	0°	180°	5°	36-2=34*
Width (mm)	0.35	0.6	0.05	6
Bottom Total:				= 204
Infill:				
Angle (°)	0°	$60^{\circ}/90^{\circ}$	5°	12 / 18
Width (mm)	2.6	3.2	0.6	2
Pattern (type)	-	-	-	3
Infill Total:				= 84
Total:				$= 17,\!136$

Table 5.1: Each slicing parameter's range (min, max) and incremental spacing values as determined by our experiments. The last column shows the number of variations that can be realized. (*2 angles reserved for error checking).

this analysis on the parameters related to bottom surface and infill, which are seen from the object's base, and do not consider those related to the side (intermediate layers).

Using the object's base for identification has many advantages: (1) it is easier for users to take aligned pictures of the base since it is flat, (2) it is more time and material efficient to manipulate base-related features since they only affect a single layer and have no influence on the print quality of the main surface of the object, (3) there are more combinations of identifiable features since both bottom surface and infill can be seen just from the base, (4) it is convenient to computationally process a flat surface. We therefore decided to first focus on the bottom layer and infill parameters, however, further analysis can be done concerning side surfaces by repeating our experiment.

5.5.1 Selecting 3D Models to Evaluate Parameter Spacings

How finely differences in slicing parameters can be detected depends on the size of the area of the bottom surface. The larger the surface, the more features can be used by the algorithm for classification. To determine a spacing of parameters that works well across different 3D models, we used objects with varying surface areas for our experiment.

To select these objects, we downloaded the top 50 3D models from *Thingiverse* [48] and ranked them by their bottom surface area (i.e., the largest square one may inscribe in the contour of the first slice, determined by an automated *MATLAB* script). We found that 25 models had a large surface area (>6cm²), 7 models had a medium surface area (1.2-6cm²), and 18 models had small surface areas (<1.2cm²). These ranges were determined empirically based on our initial tests. We randomly picked one object representing each of these three categories and printed multiple instances using the parameters below.

5.5.2 Determining the Range for Each Slicer Setting

Before slicing each of the models with different settings, we first determined the min and max values for each setting.

Bottom: For the bottom angle, we can use $0^{\circ}-180^{\circ}$. Going beyond 180° would cause instances to be non-distinguishable (i.e., 90° looks the same as 270°). We took the min value for initial bottom line width as 0.35mm, the default value recommended in the slicer *Cura*. Although this parameter can be as large as twice the nozzle size (2*0.4mm), we limit the max value to 0.6mm to avoid disconnected lines. For the pattern settings, which do not have min and max values, we considered the "line" pattern for the bottom surface.

Infill: As for the infill angle, we can use a range of $0^{\circ}-60^{\circ}$ for the trihexagon and triangular patterns, and $0^{\circ}-90^{\circ}$ for the grid pattern, as their layouts are periodic with period 60° and 90°, respectively. For infill line distance (density), we determined that having infill units smaller than 2.6mm makes the pattern unrecognizable — we thus used it as the min value. The max value is 3.2mm for objects with medium base area but may go up to 8.0mm for larger objects. Going beyond this value would imply an infill density of less than 10%, and thus fragile, less stable objects. The three infill pattern (type) settings do not have min or max values.

5.5.3 Slicing with Different Spacings and Capturing Photos

Next, we used our three selected objects (small, medium, large), and printed them with different slicing settings. Our goal was to determine how finely we can subdivide the given parameter ranges for accurate detection. To find the optimal spacing for each parameter, we made pairwise comparisons of two values (e.g., for angles, instance #1: 8° - instance #2: 5°; difference: 3°), while keeping all other parameters constant. Based on 16 pictures taken for each pairwise comparison, we report the accuracy at which we can distinguish the two instances. For the prints with infill variations, we held a small light source (*Nitecore Tini* [34]) against the side of the 3D printed object before taking the image.



Figure 5-11: Detection accuracies vs. parameter spacing between pairs of instances for the four slicing parameters (bottom line angle and width, as well as infill angle and width). All plots have the same y-range.

5.5.4 Results of the Experiments

As expected, objects from the "small" category did not have sufficient base area to fit in enough infill units and thus not give satisfactory results. We therefore conclude that G-ID cannot be used for very small bases and excluded them from the rest of the analysis. We next discuss the results for each slicing parameter for the medium and large object category.

Bottom Line Angle and Width: The dashed lines in Figure 5-11a,b indicate that a spacing of 5° and 0.05mm provides a classification accuracy of 100% for both the medium and large base area categories, respectively. Thus, a range of 0°-180° would give us 36 variations for the angle. However, we exclude the two degrees 0° and 90° from the bottom line angle range since these are reserved for error checking (as described in section "Detecting Slicing Parameters"), therefore we have 34 variations. A range of 0.35-0.6mm allows 36 variations for the width.

Infill Angle and Line Distance (Width): The dashed lines in Figure 5-11c,d show that a spacing of 5° and 0.6mm provides a 100% detection accuracy for the two categories, respectively. Thus, for the ranges of 0°-60° and 0°-90°, we can use 12 or 18 variations, respectively. For the width, we can use, for medium objects, a range of 2.6-3.2mm (2 variations); and for large objects 2.6-8.0mm (10 variations). We report the smaller number in Table 5.1.

Infill Pattern: The confusion matrix in Figure 5-12 shows that the "grid" and "trihexagon" work for both medium and large classes. For large objects, we can also use all three different patterns.

		Detected infill					
		grid	triangles	trihexagon	grid	triangles	trihexagon
ted infill	grid	100%			100%		
	triangles		50%	50%		100%	
Prin	trihexagon			100%			100%
		Medium base area		La	rge base a	irea	

Figure 5-12: Detection accuracies vs. parameter spacing between pairs of instances for the four slicing parameters (bottom line angle & width, as well as infill angle & width). All plots have the same y-range.

5.5.5 Total Number of Instances Possible

Based on the results, using a parameter spacing that works for both medium and large objects, we can achieve a total of 204 instances if we only use the camera, or 17,136 instances if we use both the camera and light (see Table 5.1). In comparison to other types of tags, we can say that these parameter spaces have a larger code capacity than a 1D barcode with 7 or 14 bits, respectively.

5.5.6 Cross-Validation

To cross-validate our parameter spacing, we printed another random set of 16 objects (10 large, 6 medium) from the same top 50 model list from *Thingiverse* (excluding the ones we used in the previous experiment) with white filament. Before printing, we randomly assigned each model a combination of slicing settings from the available parameter space and then tested if G-ID can identify them. Our second goal was to see if the parameter spacing still applies when multiple parameters are varied at the same time (our previous experiment only varied one slicing parameter per instance at a time). Among the 10 objects with large bottom area, all slicing parameters were correctly identified. Among the 6 objects from the medium category, 5 were correctly identified. In total, the detection accuracy is 93.75%. The falsely identified model had the smallest bottom surface area (1.4cm^2) , which confirms the fact that objects without sufficient surface area cannot be recognized.

5.6 System Implementation

An overview of the system is shown in Figure 5-13. G-ID's labeling interface for creating multiple instances runs on the browser and is based on WebGL. Once the user drags a



Figure 5-13: System overview.

3D model (.stl) onto the canvas and enters the number of instances, the interface calls its backend written in *Python*, which is responsible for the distribution of the slicing parameters. Once the slicing parameters are determined for each individual instance, the backend calls the slicer *CuraEngine* [43] to compute the G-code for each instance.

After the instances are sliced with their individual slicer settings, the user is shown the 2D sliced layers as well as the 3D model. For rendering these previews, we use the *JavaScript* library *Three.js.* Finally, G-ID saves an .XML file with the slicing parameters, labels and the contour of the object's base as an image (created using an automated *MATLAB* script) for future identification with the G-ID mobile app.

5.7 Evaluation

5.7.1 Different Materials, Lighting Conditions, Thicknesses

Surface: To see how the filament's color and different lighting affect the detection of surface parameters, we printed six instances of the key cover with eight different colors of *Ultimaker* PLA filaments (total of 48 instances) and using a dimmable LED lamp varied the light in the room from 0 - 500 lux (measured with lux meter *Tacklife LM01*). We picked the filament colors to be the primary and secondary colors of the RYB model, as well as white and black filament. We selected the light intensities to represent different low-light conditions. For slicing, we used surface parameters distributed evenly along bottom line angle and width within the allowed range from Table 5.1. The results are shown in Figure 5-14. All colors



Figure 5-14: Different filament colors vs. minimum illuminance required to correctly detect the traces on the bottom surface.

worked well for lighting conditions above 250 lux. This shows that our approach works well in classrooms (recommended light level: 250 lux) and laboratories (recommended light level: 500 lux) [98]. The results also show that the camera needs more light to resolve the lines for lighter colors (i.e., white and yellow) than for darker colors. Since we used white filament for our parameter spacing evaluation, the results in Table 5.1 work even for worst-case scenarios. This also means that for other filament colors, an even smaller surface area would suffice for correct detection since the surface details can be better resolved.

Infill: We were able to detect the patterns for all of the aforementioned filament colors except for black due to its opaque nature. Further, the brighter the light, the thicker the object base may be: 145 lumens suffice for a base of 1mm (suggested thickness in *Cura*), 380 lumens suffice for 1.75 mm.

5.7.2 Different 3D Printers

Since G-ID takes as input universal units like millimeters (width) and degrees (angle), our method extends to FDM printers other than the one we used for the experiments. To confirm this, we fabricated six test prints on the 3D printers *Prusa i3 MK3S* and *Creality CR-10S Pro* in addition to the *Ultimaker 3* that we used for our experiments, and inspected the traces laid down with a microscope. The line widths of the prints had an average deviation of 9.6μ m (*Prusa*) and 10.7μ m (*Creality*) from the Ultimaker 3 prints. The line angles had an average deviation of 0.5° (*Prusa*) and 0.25° (*Creality*). These deviations are insignificant for our detection method since the spacing values chosen for the parameters are much larger than these values. To verify this, we used our mobile app to take pictures of these samples and ran our algorithm, which correctly detected the unique identifiers.

Camera angle θ	4°	6°	8°	10°	12°
Accuracy	98.50%	94.50%	86.67%	75.00%	64.50%

Table 5.2: Polar angle θ vs. the percentage of identified objects.

5.7.3 Camera Distance and Angle

Distance: If the phone is held too far away from the object, the camera cannot detect the detailed grooves on the surface. To determine how far the camera can be held from the object, we took pictures with smartphones of different camera resolutions. We found that the *iPhone 5s* (8MP) can resolve the slicing parameter features up to 26cm, *Pixel 2* (12.2MP) up to 36cm, and *OnePlus 6* (16MP) up to 40cm. Taking into account the cameras' field of view, this means that users can fit in an object with one dimension as large as 29cm, 45cm, and 52cm, respectively. G-ID guides users into the correct camera distance by varying the size of the object outline displayed on the user's phone for alignment.

Angle: Since our image registration technique uses affine transformation, it is not able to fully remove the perspective distortion if the camera angle varies strongly. However, since our app guides users to align the object, the distortion is negligible. To show our algorithm can robustly read bottom surface parameters on a variety of shapes, we created a virtual dataset similar to [28]. We downloaded the first 600 models from the *Thingi10K* database [57] that have a rotationally non-symmetric base of appropriate size, sliced them with a random set of slicing settings, and rendered the G-codes using 3D editor *Blender*. We placed the virtual camera at points located on a spherical cap above the object base, with 8 evenly sampled azimuthal angles for each of the 5 polar angles. The percentage of shapes read correctly for each polar angle value θ is given in Table 5.2. The spacing values chosen for the parameters act as a buffer to prevent false readings. The objects for which detection failed at small angles had rather rounded bases, which makes alignment challenging.

5.8 Applications

Below, we outline three further application examples in addition to the two previously explained use cases.

Finding Optimal Print Settings: G-ID can be used to identify which slicing parameters a particular 3D print was created with. In Figure 5-15, a maker is trying to find the best
angle for optimizing mechanical strength, and prints the model multiple times with varying settings. Rather than carefully writing down which settings were used for which one, the maker can retrieve a particular setting from a print simply by taking a picture of it. It is unlikely that they users estimate these settings by eye correctly as seeing tiny differences is not trivial.



Figure 5-15: Identifying particular print settings with G-ID: (a) exploring different slicing parameters and (b) printing them, (c) retrieving the best settings using G-ID.

User Identification: G-ID can be used to create identifiable objects that belong to a specific user cheaply and rapidly as it doesn't require the user to embed, e.g., an RFID or NFC tag in a separate step. For instance, in toys-to-life video games, physical character figurines that carry a G-ID label can be used to load a player's identity and score. When users insert their figurine into the G-ID reader, it communicates the user's ID to the game to display their name and score (Figure 5-16).



Figure 5-16: Toys-to-life figurines are used to identify the player and display their info in the video game.

Labeling a Commercial 3D Print for Anti-Counterfeiting: Online 3D printing services such as 3D Hubs [64] or makexyz [91] ensure to refund customers if they can show a 3D model was not printed according to the user's specifications. By slicing a model using certain settings and storing this information, they can verify that a returned object was indeed fabricated by them before a refund is approved. Let us assume a 3D model is leaked and frauds attempt to print a copy themselves and then return that to get a refund (although they never bought it in the first place). Businesses can use G-ID to cross-verify the print setting used to create the original.

5.9 Discussion and Limitations

Next, we discuss limitations and future work for labeling and identifying objects by their slicing parameters.

5.9.1 Other Slicing Parameters

In this work, we focused on surface and infill parameters, which offer a large number of unique identifiable features. Other slicing parameters, such as those that create geometry that is removed after fabrication (e.g., those related to support material or build plate adhesion) are less suitable.

However, for special materials, such as wood filaments, the shade of the object's color can be altered by varying the speed and temperature, which could be used to create differences among instances: the hotter or slower the extruder, the more the wood particles burn and the darker the resulting surface (Figure 5-17). However, since the changes affect the objects appearance, we do not consider them for our work.



Figure 5-17: The hotter the nozzle, the darker the print's finish.

5.9.2 Rotational Symmetry of Outlines

Since we use the outline of objects to extract the orientation of features, objects whose bases are rotationally symmetric are less suitable for our approach. Thus, the number of identifiable angles is reduced for certain shapes, e.g., for a square base, the range narrows down from 0° -180° to 0° -90°.

5.9.3 Non-Flat Side Surfaces

When a camera's optical axis is parallel to the object's axis of rotation on the build plate, the layer traces on a curved surface appear as straight, parallel lines and the features can be extracted similarly using Fourier transforms. For that, we instruct the user to take a picture from the correct viewpoint (as shown in Figure 5-18) by generating a silhouette guide of the object taking into account the camera's focal length.



Figure 5-18: (a) Model's axis of rotation is orthogonal to the image plane of the virtual camera, (b) rendered target outline for the user to align model, (c) image has parallel traces.

5.9.4 Applicability Beyond FDM Printing

FDM and SLA printing have been the most accessible consumer techniques for the last decade. Although SLA achieves better resolutions, individual layers on objects can still be distinct (Figure 5-19). As for DLP printing, the projected pattern creates rectangular voxels that cause the edges to look stepped; different voxel sizes thus lead to different appearances [41]. Most printing methods use infill, so the general idea of varying infill still applies. We thus think our method will stay relevant. Even if printing imperfections become smaller in the future, there are two factors to consider: As 3D printers improve in resolution, camera resolution improves over time (see *Samsung*'s latest 200MP sensor [118]). Computer vision gets better too: Neural networks can now pick up details beyond what the human eye or traditional image processing can detect, e.g., they have been used to identify tiny defects in solar cells [16] or dents in cars [164].



Figure 5-19: A sample from a *Formlabs* SLA printer captured by a conventional mobile phone camera.

5.10 Conclusion

We presented G-ID, a method that utilizes the subtle patterns left by the 3D printing process to identify objects and that provides both a labeling and identification interface for creating and detecting surface and infill parameters using only a commodity camera. We reported on the code capacity enabled by an off-the-shelf slicer. In the future, this can be scaled up by building a custom slicer for creating unique print paths that go beyond what current slicers offer, e.g., spatial pattern tiling could expand the number of encodings [87]. Also, our current implementation uses optimization-based image registration, which takes a few seconds. In the future, we can enable continuous detection for faster image capturing using optimization-free contour matching methods [32, 33].

Chapter 6

InfraredTags: Embedding Invisible Markers Using Infrared-Translucent 3D Printing Filaments

6.1 Introduction

In the last decade, researchers have investigated several ways to embed tags *inside* 3D objects to make them unobtrusive. One method to accomplish this is to leave air gaps inside the object that represent the bits of a tag. For instance, *AirCode* [80] embeds air gaps underneath the surface of 3D printed objects and uses scattering of projected structured light through the material to detect where the air gaps are located. *InfraStructs* [153] also embeds air gaps into the object but scans it in 3D using terahertz imaging, which can penetrate better through material than visible light.

While both of these methods can embed tags inside 3D objects, they require complex hardware setups (e.g., a projector-camera setup as in *AirCode*), expensive equipment (e.g., a terahertz scanner as in *InfraStructs*), and long imaging time on the order of minutes. To address these issues, we propose a new method that combines air gaps inside the 3D printed structure with infrared transmitting filament. This makes the object semitransparent, and the air gaps are detectable when viewed with an infrared camera. Thus, our method only requires a low-cost infrared imaging module, and because the tag is detected from a single frame, scanning can be achieved much faster. One method that has used infrared-based 3D printing materials is *LayerCode* [89], which creates 1D barcodes by printing objects from regular resin and resin mixed with near-infrared dye. Thus, while the printed objects look unmodified to humans, infrared cameras can read the codes. However, this method required a modified SLA printer with two tanks, custom firmware, and custom printing material. In contrast, our method uses more readily available low-cost materials.

In this chapter, we present InfraredTags, a method to embed markers and barcodes in the geometry of the object that does not require complex fabrication or high-cost imaging equipment. We accomplish this by using off-the-shelf fused deposition modeling (FDM) 3D printers and a commercially available infrared (IR) transmitting filament [75] for fabrication, and an off-the-shelf near-infrared camera for detection. The main geometry of the object is 3D printed using the IR filament, while the tag itself is created by leaving air gaps for the bits. Because the main geometry is semitransparent in the IR region, the near-infrared camera can see through it and capture the air gaps, i.e., the marker, which shows up at a different intensity in the image. The contrast in the image can be further improved by dual-material 3D printing the bits from an infrared-opaque filament instead of leaving them as air gaps. Our method can embed 2D tags, such as QR codes and ArUco markers, and can embed multiple tags within the object, which allows for scanning from multiple angles while tolerating partial occlusion. To be able to detect InfraredTags with conventional smartphones, we added near-infrared imaging functionality by building a compact module that can be attached to existing mobile devices.

To enable users to embed the tags into 3D objects, we created a user interface that allows users to load tags into the editor and position them at the desired location. The editor then projects the tags into the 3D geometry to embed them with the object geometry. After fabrication, when the user is taking a photo with our imaging module, our custom image processing pipeline detects the tag by increasing the contrast to binarize it accurately. This enables new applications for interacting with 3D objects, such as remotely controlling appliances and devices in an augmented reality (AR) environment, as well as using existing passive objects as tangible game controllers. We note that this chapter was originally published at *ACM CHI 2022* [29].

In summary, our contributions are as follows:

- A method for embedding invisible tags into physical objects by 3D printing them on an off-the-shelf FDM 3D printer using an infrared transmitting filament.
- A user interface that allows users to embed the tags into the interior geometry of the object.
- An image processing pipeline for identifying the tags embedded inside 3D prints.
- A low-cost and compact infrared imaging module that augments existing mobile devices.
- An evaluation of InfraredTags detection accuracy based on 3D printing and imaging constraints.

6.2 The InfraredTags System

InfraredTags are embedded such that the objects appear opaque and unmodified under visible light but reveal the tag under near-infrared light. We accomplish this by 3D printing the main geometry of the object using an infrared-transmitting filament, while the tag itself is created by leaving air gaps for the bits. Because the main geometry is semitransparent in the infrared region, the near-infrared camera can see through it and capture the air gaps, i.e., tag, which shows up at a different intensity in the image. We refer to the infraredtransmitting filament as *infrared filament* or *IR filament* in the remainder of the chapter.

In the next sections, we describe the properties of the IR filament and the appropriate infrared camera, and then discuss how the IR filament can be used either as a standalone single-material print or together with another filament to create markers inside the object.

6.2.1 Infrared Filament

We acquired the IR filament from manufacturer 3dk.berlin [75] (ca. \$5.86/100g). It is made out of polylactic acid (PLA), the most common FDM printing filament, and can be used at regular 3D printing extrusion temperatures. To the naked eye, the filament has a slightly translucent black color, however, when 3D printed in multiple layers it looks opaque.

IR Translucency: Since the manufacturer does not provide data on the light transmission characteristics for different wavelengths, we manually measured it using a UV/VIS/NIR spectrophotometer (*PerkinElmer Lambda 1050*). The transmission spectra for both the IR PLA and comparable regular black PLA filament are given in Figure 6-1c. Both spectra are for 1mm thick 3D printed samples. Because the regular PLA has close to 0% transmission

in both visible and near-infrared regions, it always appears opaque. In contrast, the IR PLA transmits near-infrared at a much higher rate ($\sim 45\%$) compared to visible light (0%-15%), and thus appears translucent in the IR region and mostly opaque in the visible light region.



Figure 6-1: Material composition of the tags for a sample ArUco marker. We modify the interior of the object to embed the tag based on (a) single- or (b) multi-material printing. (c) The transmission spectrum of the IR PLA and regular PLA.

6.2.2 Choosing an Infrared Camera

To choose the image sensor and filter that can see infrared light and thus can read the tag, we considered the following:

Filter: Almost all commercial cameras have an infrared cut-off filter to make camera images look similar to human vision. This filter thus prevents near-infrared light from reaching the image sensor. Since for our purposes, we want to capture the infrared light, we can either buy a camera that has this filter already removed, e.g., the *Raspberry Pi NoIR* camera module, or remove the embedded filter from a camera manually.

Image Sensor: Different cameras' sensors have different sensitivity for different parts of the light spectrum. To best detect the markers, the sensor should have a high sensitivity in the maximum peak of the material's near-infrared transmission. However, as can be seen in Figure 2c, since the transmission is similar across the entire infrared-region, all cameras that can detect light in the IR region would work for our purposes. For instance, off-the-shelf cheap cameras, such as the *Raspberry Pi NoIR* (\$20), can detect up to 800-850nm

in the near-infrared range according to several vendors¹. More expensive IR cameras that have sensitivity beyond the near-infrared range, such as FLIR ONE Pro^2 , can detect up to 14,000nm but may cost more than \$400. However, since the infrared transmission does not increase much with higher infrared wavelengths, the low-cost camera is sufficient for our purposes.

6.2.3 Composition of the Tags and Materials

To create InfraredTags, we need to create two geometries with different IR transmission properties that form the object. The different IR transmission properties will cause the two geometries to appear with different intensities in the resulting infrared image. We found that there are two ways to accomplish this.

Single-Material Print (IR PLA): Our first method uses the IR filament for the main geometry of the object, air gaps for the outside bits of the marker, and IR filament for the inside bits of the marker as shown in Figure 6-1a. The contrast between the bits arises from the fact that the IR light transmission reduces by $\sim 45\%$ per mm of IR filament (Section 6.2.1). Under IR illumination, the light rays first penetrate the IR filament walls of the 3D printed object and then hit the air gap inside the object or the filled interior area. When the object is imaged by an IR camera, the light intensity reduces for each pixel differently depending on whether it is located on an air gap or not. The rays that go through the air gaps lead to brighter pixels since they penetrate through less material than the other rays. This intensity difference in the resulting image is sufficient to convert the detected air gaps and filled areas into the original tag.

Multi-Material Print (IR PLA + Regular PLA): We explored multi-material 3D printing to further improve the contrast of the marker in the image. This second approach uses IR PLA for the main geometry of the object, regular PLA for the outside bits of the marker, and air gaps for the inside bits of the marker as shown in Figure 6-1b. When the user takes an image, the IR rays penetrate the IR filament walls of the 3D printed object, and then either hit the air gap inside the object or the regular PLA. The air gaps will appear as brighter pixels since they transmit IR light, whereas the regular PLA filament will appear

https://www.arducam.com/product/

¹This module has an *Omnivision 5647* sensor. arducam-ov5647-noir-m12x0-5-mount-camera-board-w-raspberry-pi/ https://lilliputdirect.com/pinoir-raspberry-pi-infrared-camera

²https://www.flir.com/products/flir-one-pro/

as darker pixels since it is nearly completely opaque in the IR region (Figure 6-1c). This leads to a higher contrast than the previously discussed single-material prints.

We also considered filling the air gaps with IR filament to avoid empty spaces inside the object geometry. However, this requires frequent switches between the two material nozzles for regular PLA and IR filament within short time frames, which can lead to smearing. We therefore kept the air gaps for objects that we printed with the dual-material approach (Figure 6-1b).

Code Geometry: When embedding the code (i.e., the 2D tag) into the geometry of the object, the code and the geometry surrounding it (i.e., the shell) need to have a certain thickness.

Shell Thickness: The shell thickness t_{shell} should be large enough to create sufficient opaqueness so that the user cannot see the code with their eyes, but small enough to ensure detectability of the code with the IR camera.

Since the IR filament is slightly translucent to the naked eye, with small t_{shell} , it becomes possible for the user to see the code inside the object (Figure 6-2a). Thus, for the lower bound of t_{shell} , our goal is to find a value that achieves a contrast in the image smaller than 5% when the image is taken with a regular camera (i.e., with an IR cut-off filter). The image taken with regular camera represents the visible light region sensitivity, i.e., that of human vision. We chose 5% because this is the contrast value at which humans cannot differentiate contrast anymore [11].

On the opposite side, the larger t_{shell} is, the more IR light it absorbs and thus the darker the overall image becomes, reducing the contrast of the code in the IR region (Figure 6-2b). Thus, for the upper bound for t_{shell} , our goal is to find the value at which the code is no longer detectable in the IR camera image.

To determine these bounds, we 3D printed a checkerboard pattern as an InfraredTag with a shell of varying thickness (range: 0mm-6mm). As shown in Figure 6-2, we captured the 3D print with both a visible light camera and an IR camera. In Figure 6-2d, we plot the contrast between the "white" and "black" parts of the checkerboard as a function of shell thickness in the visible light camera image. We see that the visible light camera contrast drops to 5% at approximately 1.32mm thickness, which defines the lower bound, i.e., the minimum thickness needed so that the tag is invisible to humans. On the other hand, Figure 6-2c shows the binarized version of the IR camera image (Figure 6-2b). In Figure 6-2e, we show how the binarization of the checkerboard deteriorates as shell thickness increases. The graph shows that a shell thickness of up to 3.5mm could be used to achieve 90% binarization accuracy, which defines the upper bound. However, for the sake of maximum detectability, we use the lower bound values when fabricating the objects.



Figure 6-2: Determining the shell thickness for a multi-material print with white PLA. As t_{shell} increases, the checkerboard pattern becomes less visible in both (a) the visible camera and (b) IR camera image. Thus, it gets more challenging to (d) identify the contrast in the pattern for humans, and to (c, e) binarize it correctly from the IR view.

For multi-material 3D printing, different filament colors can be used for the regular PLA part (i.e., the code). Each color requires a different shell thickness to prevent users from seeing the code. For instance, because the IR filament appears *black* in the visible light region, it blends more easily with *black* or *blue* PLA, thus requiring a thinner top layer to hide the resulting code than when the code is printed in white PLA. Table 6.1 shows the minimum shell thickness needed to make codes fabricated from different colors unobtrusive.

Code Thickness: While the shell thickness affects the overall contrast of the image in the visible region, the code thickness t_{code} determines the contrast between the individual bits of the embedded code in the IR region. If the code layer is too thin, there might not be enough

contrast between the "white" and "black" bits and thus the code will not be detectable.

We conducted a test similar to the one shown in Figure 6-2, where we, instead of varying the shell thickness, varied the code thickness to determine which values provide enough contrast. The values are summarized in Table 6.1. Going below the values listed makes the material too thin such that the IR light starts going through the code bits, which reduces the contrast in IR view and thus detectability. Going above this value is possible but does not improve the contrast further.

	Shell thickness t_{shell}	Code thickness t_{code}
Single-material	1.08 mm	2.00 mm
(IR PLA)	1.00 11111	2.00 mm
Multi-material	1.32 mm	0.50 mm
(IR PLA + white PLA)		
Multi-material	1.08 mm	0.50 mm
(IR PLA + black PLA)		
Multi-material	1.20 mm	0.50 mm
(IR PLA + blue PLA)		

Table 6.1: Thickness values for the shell and code layers.

Lastly, an important observation we made is that IR filament spools ordered from the same manufacturer [75] at different times showed slightly different transmission characteristics. This is likely linked to the possibility that the manufacturer might have adjusted the amount of IR-translucent dye used to make the spools. We suggest that users conduct similar analysis with a test print as shown in Figure 6-2 to determine the optimal values for each new IR spool.

6.3 Embedding and Reading InfraredTags

We next explain how users can embed codes into 3D objects using our user interface and then discuss our custom add-on for mobile devices and the corresponding image processing pipeline for tag detection.

6.3.1 User Interface for Encoding InfraredTags

Import and Position Tags: The user starts by loading the 3D model (.stl file) into our user interface, which is a custom add-on to an existing 3D editor (*Rhinoceros 3D*). Next, users import the tag as a 2D drawing (.svg) into the editor, which loads the marker into



Figure 6-3: InfraredTags embedding interface.

the 3D viewport. The marker is then automatically projected onto the surface of the 3D geometry (Figure 1a). Users can move the code around in the viewport and scale it to place it in the desired location on the 3D object.

Select Printing Method: In the user interface, users can then select the printing method, i.e., if they want to fabricate the object with single material (IR-PLA only) or dual-material printing (IR-PLA + regular PLA). As a result, the user interface generates the geometry to accommodate the selected printing method. For example, for dual-material printing, it generates two .stl files, one for the main geometry and one for the embedded tag. The UI ensures that the tag is accurately spaced from the surface of the object (Table 6.1). The user can then slice both files with the 3D printer's slicing software and print the object.

6.3.2 IR Imaging Module for Reading the Tags

InfraredTags can be read with digital devices that have an infrared camera attached to them. Even conventional USB webcams for personal computers can be used for this purpose by manually removing their infrared cut-off filter³.

Today, several recent smartphones already come with an IR camera either on the front (iPhone X and newer models) or the rear $(OnePlus \ 8 \ Pro)$, however, the phones' APIs may

³A sample tutorial can be found on https://publiclab.org/wiki/webcam-filter-removal.

not allow developers to access these for non-native applications. Furthermore, not all mobile phones contain such a camera at the moment. To make our method compatible independent of the platform, we built an additional imaging add-on that can easily be attached to existing mobile phones.

Attaching the IR camera module: As shown in Figure 6-4, our add-on contains an infrared camera (model: *Raspberry Pi NoIR*). This camera can see infrared light since it has the IR cut-off filter removed that normally blocks IR light in regular cameras. Additionally, to remove the noise from visible light and improve detection, we added a visible light cut-off filter⁴, as well as 2 IR LEDs (940nm) which illuminate the object when it is dark. This add-on has two 3D printed parts: a smartphone case from flexible TPU filament that can be reprinted based on the user's phone model, and the imaging module from rigid PLA filament that can be slid into this case. The imaging module has a *Raspberry Pi Zero* board and a battery and weighs 132g.



Figure 6-4: Infrared imaging module. (a) The module is attached onto a flexible case that can be 3D printed based on the user's mobile device. (b) The module's hardware components.

Detecting the Tag: To detect the tag, users open the InfraredTags detection application on their mobile phones and point the camera to their object. The application shows the phone camera's view, which is what the user sees with their eyes instead of the IR view. This way, more information can be overlaid on top of the regular view for AR applications. Under the hood, the imaging module continuously streams the images to our image processing server. If the server detects any tags, it sends the location and the encoded message to the smartphone app to show to the user.

⁴https://www.edmundoptics.com/p/1quot-x-1quot-optical-cast-plastic-ir-longpass-filter/5421/

6.4 Software Implementation

In this section, we explain how we implemented the code embedding user interface, as well as our infrared imaging module and image processing pipeline.

6.4.1 UI Implementation

Our embedding user interface is based on *Rhinoceros 3D* CAD software⁵ (referred to as *Rhino*) and *Grasshopper*⁶ which is a visual programming language that runs within *Rhino*.

Importing the Tag and the 3D Model: After the user loads an STL file representing the 3D object, our software converts it into a mesh utilizing a Python subprocess function call. The script then centers the mesh along its center of mass. When the user imports a tag as an SVG file, it creates a plane that contains the paths that represent its bits, i.e., the air gaps. While the user is positioning the code, our software always orients the plane of the code to face the mesh's surface. For this, it uses the normal on the mesh that is closest to the plane that holds the code.

Embedding the Tag into the Object: Depending on the type of embedding selected (i.e., single-material or multi-material 3D printing), the tag is projected into the object in one of two ways:

Single-Material: Our software first projects the tag onto the curved surface of the mesh and then translates it along the inverted closest mesh normal (i.e., pointing it towards the mesh) by the shell thickness (t_{shell} , see Table 6.1). We then extrude the tag along the inverted normal by the code thickness (t_{code}), which creates a new mesh inside the object representing the air gaps inside the 3D geometry. To subtract the geometry that represents the air gaps from the overall geometry of the 3D object, we first invert the normals of the air gap mesh and then use a Boolean join mesh function to add the holes to the overall object geometry. This results in the completed mesh with the code, i.e., air gaps, embedded that the user can export as a single printable STL file.

Multi-Material: For multi-material prints, our software generates two meshes as illustrated in Figure 6-1b: one for the tag (printed in regular PLA) and one for the shell (printed in IR PLA). We start by following the steps described for the single-material approach, i.e.,

⁵https://www.rhino3d.com/

⁶https://www.grasshopper3d.com/

project the path representing the tag's bits onto the curved surface, translate it inwards, and extrude it to generate the tag mesh. Next, we find the bounding box of the this mesh, invert its normals, and join it with the main object's mesh. This creates a new mesh (i.e., the IR PLA shell), which once printed will have space inside where the regular PLA tag can sit.

6.4.2 Mobile IR Imaging

The mobile application used for capturing the tags is Web-based and has been developed using *JavaScript*. It uses *Socket.IO*⁷ to communicate with a server that runs the image processing pipeline for tag detection explained in Section 7.2.3.

The image processing server receives the images from the live stream shared by the microprocessor (*Raspberry Pi Zero W*) on the imaging module and constantly runs the detection algorithm. If a tag is detected, the server sends the tag's location and the decoded message to the Web application, and shows it subsequently to the user. Because the imaging module does not use the resources of the user's personal device and is Web-based, it is platform-independent and can be used with different mobile devices.

6.4.3 Image Processing Pipeline

InfraredTags are identified from the images captured by the IR camera on the mobile phone or attached imaging module. Although the tags are visible in the captured images, they need further processing to increase the contrast to be robustly read. We use OpenCV [15] to perform these image processing steps as shown in Figure 7-6.



Figure 6-5: Image processing to read the tags. (a) Infrared camera view. (b) Individual processing steps needed to decode the QR code message: "HCI_IR_TEST".

⁷https://socket.io/

Pre-processing the Image: We first convert the image to grayscale and apply a contrast limited adaptive histogram equalization (CLAHE) filter [103] to improve the local contrast (clipLimit=20, tileGridSize=(8,8)). For our pipeline, CLAHE is more appropriate than a standard histogram equalization as it redistributes the pixel intensity values based on distinct sections of the image [43]. To reduce the high-frequency noise that arises due to CLAHE, we smooth the image with a Gaussian blur filter. We then binarize the image using Gaussian adaptive thresholding to obtain black-and-white pixels that contain the code (constantSubtracted=4).

Code Extraction: Once the binary image is generated, it can be used to detect the respective code using existing libraries, such as $ZBar^8$. On average, it takes 6ms to decode a 4x4 ArUco marker and 14ms to decode a 21x21 QR code from a single original frame. The images we use as input are 512x288 pixels; in the future, the detection could be made even faster by downsampling the image to a dimension optimal for both readability and speed.

The Effect of Tag Distance: The readability of the binarized tag depends on the parameters used for the pre-processing filters. More specifically, we found that a different Gaussian kernel for the blur (ksize) and block size for the adaptive threshold (blockSize) need to be used depending on the size of the tag in the captured image, i.e., the distance between the tag and the camera. This is especially important for QR codes since they generally have more and smaller bits that need to be correctly segmented.

One strategy to increase detection accuracy is to iterate through different combinations of the filter parameters. To identify the effect of the number of filter parameter combinations on detection accuracy, we ran the following experiment: We captured 124 images of a 21x21 QR code from different distances (15-80cm from the camera). We then generated 200 different filter parameter combinations and used them separately to process the captured images. We then evaluated which filter parameters correctly binarized the QR code. We found that even with a small number of filter combinations, we can have sufficient detection results comparable to existing QR code detection algorithms. For instance, three different filter combinations (Table 6.2) achieve an accuracy up to 79.03% (existing QR code readers achieve <57% for blurred tags⁹). It is possible to further increase the number of filter

⁸http://zbar.sourceforge.net/

⁹Peter Abeles. 2019. Study of QR Code Scanning Performance in Different Environments. V3. https://boofcv. org/index.php?title=Performance:QrCode

Filter combinations	Accuracy
$(\texttt{ksize}{=}3, \texttt{blockSize}{=}23)$	56.45%
$(\texttt{ksize}{=}3, \texttt{blockSize}{=}23), (\texttt{ksize}{=}1, \texttt{blockSize}{=}37)$	70.97%
$(\texttt{ksize}{=}3, \texttt{blockSize}{=}23), (\texttt{ksize}{=}1, \texttt{blockSize}{=}37), (\texttt{ksize}{=}3, \texttt{blockSize}{=}21)$	79.03%

Table 6.2: Filter combinations and QR code detection accuracy

parameter combinations to improve the accuracy further at the expense of detection time.

6.5 Applications

We demonstrate how InfraredTags enable different use cases for interactions with objects and devices, storing data in them, and tracking them for sensing user input.

6.5.1 Distant Augmented Reality (AR) Interactions with Physical Devices

InfraredTags can be embedded into physical devices and appliances to identify them individually through the embedded unique IDs and show the corresponding device controls that can be directly manipulated by the user.

In the application shown in Figure 6-6a and b, a user points their smartphone camera at the room and smart home appliances are identified through their InfraredTags, which are imperceptible to the human eye. A control menu is shown in the AR view, where the user can adjust the volume of the speaker or set a temperature for the thermostat. InfraredTags could also allow multiple appliances of the same model (e.g., multiple smart speakers or lamps) in the room to be identified individually, which is not possible with standard computer vision-based object classification approaches.

Multiple tags on a single object for spatial awareness: Furthermore, InfraredTags enable multiple tags to be embedded in the same object. This enables different applications. For instance, when an object is partially occluded, multiple tags in the object can allow the capture of tags from different angles. Another application is to enable spatially aware AR controls where different settings appear at different locations within the same object. For example, Figure 6-6c illustrates how the front, side, and top faces of a WiFi router only have its network name (SSID) information, whereas its bottom also shows the password information, which can automatically pair the router to the phone. This enables quick



Figure 6-6: Controlling appliances using a mobile AR application. The user points at (a) the home speakers to adjust its volume, and the (b) thermostat to adjust the temperature. The infrared camera in the phone's case identifies the appliances by reading the embedded QR codes. (c) Pairing a phone with a WiFi router, whose SSID is visible from all sides but the password is visible only from its bottom.

pairing and authentication with devices without users having to type out complex character strings, while maintaining the physical use metaphors, such as the paper slip containing the password typically attached to the base of the router. While we demonstrate this application for mobile AR, InfraredTags could also enable lower friction, distant interactions with physical devices for head-mounted AR glasses.

6.5.2 Embedding Metadata about Objects

Spatially embedding metadata or documentation information within the object itself can provide richer contextualization and allow information sharing [36]. For example, we can embed the object's fabrication/origin link (e.g., a shortened *Thingiverse* URL) as an InfraredTag for users to look up in case they would like to get more information from its creator or 3D print it themselves as shown in Figure 6-7. Other types of metadata that could be embedded include user manuals, expiry dates, date of fabrication, materials used to fabricate the object, weight, or size information.

6.5.3 Tangible Interactions: Use Anything as a Game Controller

Because fiducial markers can be embedded as InfraredTags, they can be used to track the object's movement. Thus, any passive object can be used as a controller that can be held by users when playing video games.

Figure 6-8 shows a 3D printed wheel with no electronics, being used as a game controller.



Figure 6-7: Embedded metadata about the object itself: The user is redirected to the *Thingiverse* model that was used to fabricate the object.

The wheel contains an ArUco marker InfraredTag which is used to track the wheel's location and orientation. Even though the wheel is rotationally symmetric, the infrared camera can see the square marker inside and infer the wheel's position and orientation. Our method does not require any electronics as opposed to other approaches [158].

While we demonstrate an application where the user faces a screen with a camera behind it, this could be used to enable passive objects to serve as controllers for AR/VR headsets with egocentric cameras. Such an application scenario could be particularly suitable for headsets like *HoloLens 2*, which comes with an integrated infrared camera [142] that could be utilized for InfraredTag detection in the future. Even though the tag would be facing the user, it would not be visible to the user but can still be identified by the headset.



Figure 6-8: Using passive objects (a) as a game controller. (b) This wheel is black under visible light and has no electronic components. (c) The fiducial marker embedded inside is only visible to an infrared camera.

6.6 Evaluation of the Detection

In this section, we evaluate how InfraredTag detection is affected by fabrication- and environmentrelated factors.

Marker size: By following a test procedure similar to the one shown in Figure 6-2, we determined that the smallest detectable 4x4 ArUco marker printable is 9mm wide for single-material prints and 6mm wide for multi-material prints. The resolution for multi-material prints is better than single-material ones because the large transmission difference between the two distinct materials makes it easier for the image sensor to resolve the border between the marker bits. On the other hand, in single-material prints, the luminosity of an air gap resembles a 2D Gaussian distribution, i.e., the intensity gets higher towards the center. Thus, larger bits are needed to discern the borders between a single-material marker's bits.

Distance: To test the limits of our detection method, we measured the maximum distance tags of different sizes can be detected. This was done for both single-material (IR PLA) and multi-material (IR PLA + regular black PLA) prints. The marker size range we evaluated was 10-80mm for 4x4 ArUco markers, which would translate to a range for 42-336mm for 21x21 QR codes (can store up to 25 numeric characters). The results are given in Figure 6-9a, which shows that multi-material codes can be detected from further away than single single-material ones. The results are given for the filter parameters with the best detection outcome (Section 7.2.3).



Figure 6-9: Detection evaluation. (a) Maximum detection distance for single- and multimaterial ArUco markers. (b) Cases where the IR LED and the visible cut-off filter improve detection.

Lighting conditions: For InfraredTags to be discernible in NIR camera images, there has to be enough NIR illumination in the scene. We measured the minimum NIR intensity

needed to detect 4x4 ArUco markers using a lux meter which had a visible light cut-off filter (720nm) attached. We found that just a tiny amount of NIR is sufficient for this, i.e., that at least 1.1 lux is needed for single-material prints, and 0.2 lux for multi-material prints.

Because sunlight also contains NIR wavelengths, the tags are detectable outdoors and also in an indoor areas that have windows during daytime. We also noticed that many lamps used for indoor lighting emit enough NIR to detect the codes at nighttime (e.g., 1.5 lux in our office). Furthermore, the IR LEDs on our imaging module (Section 6.3.2) provide high enough intensity to sufficiently illuminate multi-material markers even in complete darkness (Figure 6-9b). In the future, brighter LEDs can be added to support single-material prints in such difficult detection scenarios.

The visible light-cut off filter used on our IR imaging module also improves detection in spite of challenging lighting conditions. For instance, the last two columns in Figure 6-9b shows how certain print artifacts on the object's surface might create noise in the IR camera image, which is reduced when the cut-off filter is added. This is particularly helpful for single-material prints, which are more challenging to identify.

6.7 Discussion

In this section, we discuss the limitations of our approach and how it could be further developed in future research.

Print Resolution: In this project, we used FDM printers, whose printing resolution is restricted by the size of its nozzle that extrudes the material, and a low-cost camera that has an 8MP resolution. In the future, even smaller InfraredTags can be fabricated by applying our method to printing technologies with higher resolution, such as stereolithography (SLA). Correspondingly, higher-resolution cameras with better aperture can be used to identify these smaller details (e.g., *Samsung*'s latest 200MP smartphone camera sensor [118]). This would allow embedding more information in the same area.

Discoverability vs. Unobtrusiveness: For InfraredTags to be detected, the user should orient the near-infrared camera such that the embedded marker is in the frame. However, similar to related projects such as *AirCode* [80] and *InfraStructs* [153], this might be challenging since the marker is invisible to users and thus they might not know where exactly on the object to point the camera at. For objects with flat surfaces, this can be compensated

for by embedding a marker on each face (e.g., on the six faces of a cube). This way, at least one marker will always be visible to the camera. Similar to how a QR code printed on a sheet of paper is detectable from different angles, the flat InfraredTag will maintain its shape when viewed from different angles (e.g., the router Section 6.5.1c).

However, detection of codes on curved objects poses a bigger challenge. This is because a 2D code projected onto a curved surface (e.g., the mug in Section 6.5.2) has a warped outline when viewed from an angle far away from its center. As a solution, we plan to pad the whole object surface with the same code, similar to ChArUco (a combination of ArUcos and chessboard patterns) [63], so that at least one of the codes appears undistorted in the captured image. Also, for curved objects, other tag types that are more robust to deformations could be used [157] in the future. Alternatively, a small visible or tactile marker in the form of a notch could be added to the surface of the object (corresponding to where the code is embedded) to help guide the user to the marker.

Other Color and Materials: While we only used black IR PLA in this project, manufacturers could produce filaments of other colors that have similar transmission characteristics to create more customized or multi-material prints in rigid or flexible forms [40]. In the future, we also plan to combine the IR PLA filament with IR retro-reflective printing filaments to increase the marker contrast even more.

6.8 Conclusion

In this chapter, we presented InfraredTags, a low-cost method to integrate commonly used 2D tags into 3D objects by using infrared transmitting filaments. We explained how this filament can be used by adding air gaps inside the object or by combining it with regular, opaque filaments, which increases the tag contrast even more. We discussed what kind of camera is appropriate for detecting InfraredTags and what kind of code geometry should be used for best detection, while ensuring unobtrusiveness to the naked eye. After introducing our tag embedding user interface and mobile infrared imaging module, we presented a wide range of applications for identifying devices and interacting with them in AR, storing information in physical objects, and tracking them for interactive, tangible games. Finally, we evaluated our method in terms of marker size, detection distance, and lighting conditions.

Chapter 7

BrightMarkers: 3D Printed Fluorescent Markers for Object Tracking

Existing methods for invisible object tagging and *tracking* have several limitations that impede their widespread adoption. One significant limitation is their low signal-to-noise (SNR) ratio, i.e., the poor resolution and clarity of the imaged marker. Because invisible markers are embedded in the interior of objects, the markers are imaged from a weak signal, which needs to be amplified by optical and digital processes [80, 153]. These processes result in long capture or decoding times, typically ranging from seconds to minutes per frame. This deteriorates further when objects are in motion, i.e., the captured markers appear blurrier and are thus unidentified in most frames. In addition, existing invisible tags are often limited in terms of the variety of object colors they can be used with. For example, *InfraredTags* [29] embedded 3D printed codes in black objects, and *AirCode* [80] in white objects.

To address these limitations, we present BrightMarker, a fabrication method for passive invisible tags using fluorescent filaments that emit light in a specific near-infrared (NIR) wavelength, which NIR cameras can robustly detect. By isolating the markers from the rest of the scene using the matching filter, we are able to robustly *track* markers even when objects are in motion. Our work builds on *InfraredTags* and addresses the limitations in regard to marker resolution and object colors by enhancing detection. We were inspired by the motion capture system *OptiTrack*, which uses passive retro-reflective markers that



Figure 7-1: Ways to add tracking capabilities to objects as used in previous HCI projects. External tags rely on adding retro-reflective beads [123, 38], sensor modules [166, 37], or fiducial markers [125], but may result in bulky or visually obtrusive objects. To address this, BrightMarker (rightmost) embeds high-contrast markers using a fluorescent material.

reflect the shined IR to the camera.

We demonstrate the potential of BrightMarker by showcasing various applications, including product tracking on conveyor belts, flexible wearables for motion capture, tangible and haptic interfaces for AR/VR, and privacy-preserving night vision. Our technical evaluation shows that the markers embedded in a variety of surface colors can be detected robustly and in real time as they move.

We believe that BrightMarker is a promising approach that could significantly improve the performance and versatility of invisible object tagging and have a wide range of potential HCI applications. The ability to track objects without the markers having a bulky form factor or being in the user's direct view allows for a more natural and immersive experience for users, and opens up new possibilities for tracking objects in real-life scenarios where visible markers would be impractical and obtrusive (Figure 7-1). We note that this chapter was originally published at *ACM UIST 2023* [27].

In summary, we make the following contributions:

- A novel method that uses fluorescent filaments and imaging to integrate invisible and passive tracking markers into 3D printed objects of different colors.
- A software interface that uniformly distributes markers onto 3D models based on their geometry.
- A detection hardware module for real-time fluorescence tracking that can be attached to existing AR/VR headsets.
- An image processing pipeline that allows real-time tracking of the integrated markers.
- The evaluation of the design space, including object colors, under various distance and lighting conditions.
- A demonstration of the potential applications of our approach, including custom-fabricated

motion capture wearables, AR/VR tangibles, and privacy-preserving night vision.

7.1 Method: High-Contrast Markers Using Fluorescent Filaments

BrightMarker has the benefit of using fluorescent filaments, which allow us to achieve high marker contrast in the filtered infrared images. Fluorescence is the physical phenomenon in which a material *absorbs* light at one wavelength and *emits* it at a longer wavelength [48]. This occurs when a molecule absorbs the energy of light and temporarily enters an excited state, before releasing the energy as a lower-energy photon. The difference between these two wavelengths is called Stokes shift [111]. By shifting the illumination from shorter wavelengths to longer ones, the fluorescent color can appear more saturated than it would by reflection alone, which enhances its detectability [121]. For this reason, fluorescent materials are particularly useful for imaging and sensing applications.

In this work, we utilize fluorescence as a material property to create objects with easily trackable markers via multi-material 3D printing. The key material we use is a fluorescent 3D printing filament which contains uniformly distributed fluorescent dye. The filament emits light in a specific wavelength when excited by an IR light source. By using an optical filter of the appropriate wavelength for the camera, we are able to capture exclusively the light emitted by the filament and thus the parts fabricated from it.

7.1.1 Fluorescent Filament

We utilize an ABS (acrylonitrile butadiene styrene) filament developed by *DIC Corporation* [19] and Silapasuphakornwong et al. [126]. This filament contains a NIR-fluorescent dye, which reacts to the NIR light source by fluorescing as explained earlier. The fluoresced light can penetrate the exterior material of the object and thus be captured from the outside (Figure 7-2a).

Fluorescence behavior: To understand the fluorescence characteristics of this material and optimize our system for it, we measured its excitation and reaction using a fluorimeter (HORIBA Jobin Yvon Fluorolog-3). The top graph in Figure 7-2b shows both the excitation (absorption, plotted in red) and emission (fluorescence, plotted in purple) spectra of the material. As can be seen in these unfiltered spectra, the emitted fluorescence has a longer



Figure 7-2: Fluorescence and our imaging approach. (a) BrightMarker embeds tracking markers with fluorescent filaments, which "shift" the wavelength of IR radiation. (b) Although the excitation and emission spectra of the filament overlap (top), they can be separated in practice using optical tools (bottom). (c) Our imaging setup filters for the marker's fluorescence.

wavelength than the absorbed light: While the material is most excited at wavelength 763nm, the peak of the emitted light is at 775nm. This Stokes shift of 12nm between the two spectra allows us to separate the excitation and emission signals for the IR image capture. However, due to the spectral overlap highlighted in the graph, the excitation and emission signals first need to be filtered using optical methods, which we explain in the imaging section.

Multi-material 3D printing: The NIR-fluorescent filament is used in one of the print heads of a multi-material FDM printer. We used *Ultimaker 3* and *S5* for our prints. The printing method builds on *InfraredTags*' multi-material printing approach in terms of the high-level CAD modifications. When embedding a BrightMarker, however, the main object geometry is printed using the filament of the user's choice, while the fluorescent filament is used to print the marker placed in the interior of the object (Figure 7-2a). Because the fluorescent filament's main polymer is ABS, it can be printed at standard ABS printing temperatures ($\sim 250^{\circ}$ C).

As shown in the cross-section in Figure 7-2a, we denote the thickness of the marker by t_{marker} , and the shell between the marker and the object surface by t_{shell} . If t_{marker} is too small, the fluorescence will be weak for robust marker capture. We found that one printed layer of the filament, i.e., $t_{marker} = 0.15$ mm, is sufficient for our applications. On the other hand, the value of t_{shell} depends on the material used for the main object geometry, which we explain next.



Figure 7-3: The design space of possible material colors. Each test slab was printed increasing shell thickness. The left image of each pair shows the visible camera capture, while the right image shows the NIR capture.

Main object material and color: Compared to *InfraredTags* [29] which only allows embedding into black objects, BrightMarker is compatible with multiple color options for the main object geometry (including object surface). Due to the high intensity of the fluoresced light, the emitted light can penetrate the shell above the fluorescent marker and reach the camera's image sensor.

We observed that the fluorescent marker can be combined with both PLA and ABS materials. This makes it possible to have a variety of colors for our fabricated objects. Since the fluorescent filament is ABS, we strive to use ABS for the main object geometry when possible, as it ensures similar printing parameters (e.g., temperature) among the two parts. The only ABS color we determined that does not pass the fluoresced light is black. This is because the carbon black used in the conventional filament absorbs most wavelengths [13]. Thus, for producing black objects, we use the IR-PLA filament [1] used in *InfraredTags*, which passes IR light.

Figure 7-3 shows the design space of material colors. As shown in the NIR camera images, a fluorescent checkerboard pattern is embedded in each test slab to determine t_{shell} for the different colors. The pattern is covered with increasing shell thickness, from $t_{shell}=$ 0mm to $t_{shell}=$ 3mm, thus the pattern contrast in the camera images gradually decreases. We choose t_{shell} such that at this value, the pattern is no longer in the visible camera image, i.e., its contrast is less than 5% [11]. Further, if the shell is too thin, this can result in a poor surface finish, as observed in the lower end of the slabs.

We found that colors closer to infrared, i.e., red, yellow, and orange, tend to be less opaque than other colors due to their dye composition. Thus, we use $t_{shell} = 1.2$ mm for these colors. For other colors printed with ABS, we use $t_{shell}=0.3$ mm For the IR-PLA (rightmost), we use $t_{shell} = 0.8$ mm, which has a tinted appearance due to its translucent property. These values are marked in the figure with a small triangle to the left of the slabs. Larger thicknesses are also possible, but to ensure the detectability of the markers in IR, we recommend using values that maintain the bit binarization accuracy above 90% [29].

We note that these values also depend on the specific filament vendor and that variations might exist even among different batches from the same vendor. Thus, users are recommended to determine the optimal values for their filaments by first printing test slabs as illustrated in this section.

7.1.2 Infrared Imaging of Fluorescence

When coupled with wavelength-specific optical components, the light emitted by the fluorescent filament results in high contrast between the marker and the rest of the IR image. This allows us to robustly detect and track the objects in which the markers are embedded.

Our imaging system consists of three key components: (1) a light source for exciting the marker, (2) an optical filter for isolating marker fluorescence, and (3) a high-speed infrared camera. We explain the role of these components in the next sections.

Light source for excitation: Excitation of the NIR fluorescent material within the 3D printed object is necessary to read the embedded pattern. There are two considerations that an appropriate light source should meet for this purpose. First, the light emitted by the light source should be invisible to the user, i.e., there should be no emission below 700nm. Second, the light should excite the fluorescent material as much as possible. To achieve this, the light source should have high power, and its peak wavelength should be as close to the material's peak excitation wavelength (i.e., 763nm as explained in Section 7.1.1) as possible.

To satisfy these criteria in practice, we use LEDs that peak at 760nm and deliver high power. The bottom graph in Figure 7-2b shows the spectrum of the LED used in our highspeed imaging module (Section 7.2.2), marked red and labeled "selected light source." We note that the intensity reaches zero at approximately 800nm.

Optical filter for marker isolation: Through a wavelength-specific filter, we can enhance the recognition of fluorescent markers by minimizing interference from other wavelengths.

Due to the natural characteristics of fluorescence, there is an overlap between the higher wavelength end of the excitation spectrum and the lower wavelength end of the emission spectrum. This overlap, which is shown in the top graph of Figure 7-2b, must be eliminated to avoid overwhelming the weaker emitted fluorescence light with the brighter excitation light, which would significantly reduce marker contrast.

To separate these signals, we use a longpass filter with a cut-on wavelength of 830nm, which blocks any wavelength under this value from entering the camera. As shown in Figure 7-2c, it blocks the excitation light emitted by the LED (marked red) and the visible environmental light (marked yellow) from reaching the camera. The only wavelength range that can enter the camera corresponds to the fluorescence from the marker itself (marked purple). Therefore, as shown in the top graph of Figure 7-2b, there is no longer an overlap between the excitation and emission spectra: Our selected light source cuts the emission at \sim 810nm, while the filtered fluorescence that enters the camera starts at \sim 820nm. This separation allows the high intensity of the markers in captured images.

High-speed NIR camera: A high-speed camera allows the observation of the fluorescence emitted from the moving objects.

To capture images at a high frame rate and minimize motion blur, we use a 60-framesper-second (fps) monochrome camera with a global shutter rather than a rolling shutter. Rolling shutters, which are commonly used in consumer-grade cameras, scan the image sensor line by line from top to bottom, resulting in a time delay between the capture of each row [47]. This can lead to motion blur in fast-moving scenes, which makes it difficult to detect the BrightMarker accurately.

In contrast, a global shutter captures the entire image simultaneously, resulting in no time delay between rows. This is crucial for real-time tracking where every frame counts. Additionally, a monochrome camera achieves higher spatial resolution than color cameras, and eliminates the need for a color filter array, which reduces the amount of light reaching the image sensor and decreases the camera's sensitivity to NIR fluorescence [148].

Together, these properties allow us to create a real-time video representation of the object with high temporal resolution.

7.2 Fabricating, Capturing, and Tracking BrightMarkers

In this section, we first describe the workflow in which BrightMarkers are added to objects for fabrication. We then explain the hardware and software we use for their detection once



Figure 7-4: Marker embedding process. (a) Our tool allows users to (b) uniformly distribute markers based on the object geometry.

printed.

7.2.1 Adding Markers for Fabrication

Users start by importing a 3D model into the CAD editor (*Blender*). Next, the user specifies how the fluorescent marker(s) should be implanted using our plugin, which offers a variety of options as shown in Figure 7-4a.

Determining marker locations: In tracking applications, it is important to pad the object surface with numerous markers, rather than a single one, to ensure the object can be tracked independently of the object orientation. The user can either manually pick exact target points on the object for the marker embedding, or use an automatic distribution mode. This mode uniformly distributes points on the object geometry based on a fixed intermarker distance or a total number of desired markers. The user can specify whether the target points should be distributed on the whole object, the areas other than the base, or a specific area selected by the user.

Determining marker content: The plugin allows users to embed ArUco markers with the same ID ("Use fixed ArUco ID") or increasing IDs ("Use sequential ArUco IDs") based on the desired use case. Unique sequential IDs can help identify an object's location and orientation. It is also possible to load a custom marker, such as a QR code or a Micro QR code, by selecting an image file.

Determining marker depth and dimensions: Next, the user specifies how deep the marker should be embedded under the object's surface. For this, the user can enter a custom value or simply select the desired object color from a dropdown, after which the plugin automatically retrieves the corresponding t_{shell} value from Section 7.1.1. Next the user can specify the dimensions of the marker. The marker thickness is set to the recommended t_{marker} value by default, and the user can specify a desired side length of the marker.

Finally, the user can specify whether the marker's bottom edge should be parallel to a certain plane. This helps users to align codes in the 3D printing direction, which can lower print time and avoid print failures that might occur due to frequent nozzle switching. After setting up the parameters, users can start the embedding by clicking "OK". Once the markers are embedded, users can export the resulting STL files for 3D printing.

3D printing: The user imports the resulting STL files into the slicer software of the printer. For the popular slicer $Cura^1$, we recommend disabling the "combing" parameter to ensure that the printer does not move over the already extruded pieces of fluorescent filament. This prevents the fluorescent filament from getting mixed into the outer surface layers and thus becoming visible.

Implementation: The automatic uniform distribution of the markers is created by first determining the areas on the model that are large enough and close to being flat to accommodate a marker of the user's specified size. This is done by comparing the angles between the normals of adjacent faces with the method faces_select_ linked_flat(), grouping the ones with an angle difference smaller than 0.1 rad, and ensuring that the contained surface area is greater than that of the marker. This threshold can be adjusted based on the user's preference and application if desired. As shown in Figure 7-4b for the lightsaber model from Section 7.3.3, this gives the subregions on the object geometry that are not too curvy or sharp.

Next, to uniformly sample points, each subregion is temporarily duplicated, flattened, and its shape is approximated to a high degree of accuracy in an array of 1s and 0s created with repeated calls of the function ray_cast(). The array is analyzed row by row, choosing rows that are a distance of half the marker side length apart. Points in each row are picked if they are sufficiently far from each other and the edges of the subregion. Finally, using the specifications set by the user, a knife projection is used to project the marker so it has the same curvature as the object at the sampled point. The projected marker is extruded to form a 3D model, which is exported separately.

¹https://ultimaker.com/software/ultimaker-cura

7.2.2 Detection Using Imaging Modules

As shown in Figure 7-5a, we built two hardware modules that fulfill the requirements of the fluorescence imaging principles explained in Section 7.1.2.



Figure 7-5: Hardware modules for tracking BrightMarkers.

Smartphone attachment: The module can be directly plugged into existing phones using a USB-C connection. It includes eight LEDs that correspond to the excitation wavelength of our filament. To ensure objects fit in the phone's field of view, half of the LEDs have a viewing angle of 60° and the other half 120° (Stanley FWR1107MS-TR and FWR1108MS-TR, \$2.5 each). The attachment weighs 47 grams, and consumes 1.6W during operation. We use it with a OnePlus 8 Pro that comes with an embedded NIR camera (GalaxyCore $GC5035^2$), which we coupled with the appropriate longpass filter for fluorescence (MaxMax, \$30).

Stand-alone module: The module is built for high-speed fluorescence imaging and can be attached to existing AR/VR headsets. It consists of a 60-fps NIR camera (ArduCam with $OV2311^3$, \$98) coupled with the above-mentioned longpass filter, a 10W LED grid (Nagalugu, \$18), and a small battery (generic 9V, \$2). A custom PCB utilizes a pulse-width modulated (PWM) signal to deliver battery power to the LEDs. It uses a timer IC (LM555) and an n-channel MOSFET to modulate the LED power via a constant current regulator (LM317), which can be adjusted using a potentiometer. In total, the module costs \$148 and weighs 118g. For prototyping purposes, we did not include a processing component on the module itself but connected its camera to an external computer using a cable. In the future, the module can be augmented with a small microprocessor to run the compute on-the-go,

²https://en.gcoreinc.com/products/index?cid=2&subcid=5

³https://www.ovt.com/products/ov2311/

considering that our approach does not use compute-heavy ML models.

To be able to attach and detach the stand-alone module to existing AR/VR headsets, we designed and 3D printed an enclosure that encompasses all the parts. Figure 7-5b,c shows how the module is mounted on the headsets.

7.2.3 Image Processing for Marker Detection

We developed an image processing pipeline to detect the markers in real time. The process of *tracking* and *decoding* the markers is shown in Figure 7-6, and is explained below.



Figure 7-6: BrightMarker's image processing pipeline. (a) The objects are tracked using (b) the outlines in IR capture. (c, d) The localized markers are decoded using a set of filters.

Tracking the marker: To keep the detection script as lightweight as possible for fast tracking, we intend to apply a small number of processing steps on the main image frame when localizing the markers. Thus, the grayscale input image is simply binarized using Otsu's thresholding method. The binarization results in multiple identified contours. We then approximate each contour as a polygon. The polygons with four sides are our target markers (Figure 7-6b).

This approach keeps track of all markers irrespective of the data encoded in them (i.e., ID/string). This keeps the detection lightweight if the encoded data is not relevant to the application, e.g., when all markers are known to have the same ID.

Decoding the marker: For data-relevant applications, the second part of the pipeline, marker decoding, is enabled. In this part, we use each marker's bounding box from the previous step to crop out a smaller patch from the original frame (Figure 7-6c). While cropping, we add a small padding around the marker, i.e., 1/8 of the detected bounding box length. We

then resize the patch to a certain size, i.e., 50px height. We invert the image such that the markers are dark to follow the ArUco convention. We apply a Gaussian blur to remove the noise, and apply an adaptive threshold with a block size of 15. Next, we use the ArUco detection library to decode the marker ID from the binarized patch.

The patch resizing in this part ensures that the applied block size is appropriate regardless of marker location and distance. To determine this, we applied different filtering operations to a test recording consisting of 600 frames, where the marker is moved constantly (distance: 10-80cm). When the adaptive threshold was applied to an uncropped frame, the markers could be decoded from only 85.2% of the frames. On the other hand, applying the threshold after cropping and resizing allows 98.2% of the frames to be decoded.

If no ArUco marker is found in the patch, the script checks if there is a QR code or a Data Matrix. For this, we follow the same steps, except for two differences: Because the codes have more bits than ArUcos, we use a rescaling height of 100px and an adaptive threshold block size of 9. We then use a standard library to decode the codes. An example is shown in Figure 7-6d.

If an ArUco or a QR code is found in the patch, the script records its data and corners in an array.

Tracking decoded markers across frames: We also added a "caching" feature to our detection pipeline that helps track of marker data across frames, without having to run the decoding script in every new frame. When caching is enabled, we attempt to match the newly localized markers to already decoded markers from the prior frame by comparing their corner coordinates. If a new marker is found to be similar to a previous marker, we retrieve the marker data from the previous frame. Otherwise, we run the remaining decoding script. This is especially useful for QR codes, which traditionally take several frames to be *decoded*, whereas the fluorescent outline can already be *tracked* in all frames. However, to be conservative, we did not enable this feature during our evaluations (Section 7.4).

Implementation: We use OpenCV [15] for the implementation of our system and the $Dynamsoft^4$ library for the detection of the 2D barcodes (i.e., QR, Micro QR, and Data Matrix). For rapid prototyping purposes, we ran the detection script on our laptop during the development of this project. The processing of a single 640x360px frame takes 3.7 ms

⁴https://www.dynamsoft.com/
on average, corresponding to a 270 fps on a 2020 *MacBook Pro* with a 2GHz Quad-Core *Intel Core i5* processor. Since our high-speed camera has a limit of 60 fps, the detection in our applications was constrained to this rate, but our software pipeline can support higher rates as well. In our AR/VR applications, after running OpenCV's ArUco pose estimation, we use *Unity*'s coordinate transform features to convert the marker's location to a common local coordinate frame.

7.3 Applications

In this section, we show several applications of BrightMarker, in which the tracking of object locations is an integral part of a process.

7.3.1 Rapid Product Tracking

Because BrightMarkers can localize and track embedded objects, it can be used for industrial or commercial applications in which items need to be processed in a swift manner. This can be especially useful for product and packaging logging where, although the external labels may be intentionally or unintentionally removed, it is still crucial to keep track of the item origin and other supply chain or inventory-related data.

Tracing products on conveyor belts: In manufacturing and packaging industries, fluorescent markers could be integrated to enable product or part tracing as part of assembly lines (Figure 4-1a).

On-the-fly inventory logging: Users can use the smartphone attachment described in Section 7.2.2 to activate the fluorescence of BrightMarker, and scan a batch of products by moving the phone to quickly capture all codes.

We note that currently, our approach is more suitable for products that are already being 3D printed (e.g. shoes [141]), and could be extended to those that will be printed in the future.

7.3.2 Wearables for Tracking Human Motion

One of the applications of BrightMarker is 3D printing custom wearables for tracking human motion. Figure 7-7a shows rigid and flexible wristbands printed with embedded markers.



Figure 7-7: Wearable for hand tracking. (a) Rigid and flexible bracelet designs with embedded markers. (b) Fluorescence imaging is used to detect the unique tracking IDs. (c) The user's motion is digitized.

Embedding unique markers allows us to digitize the user's motion and distinguish between right and left hands (Figure 7-7b). In our setup, the detection module is mounted above the user's desk (Figure 7-7c).

Such tracking wearables can allow various use cases unobtrusively, such as creating digital twins and animations, increasing safety in human-machine collaborations, posture correction warnings, or device control. Compared to existing tracking methods, the use of BrightMarker preserves the user's privacy since the camera only captures the marker, not the user's face or environment. Furthermore, current methods, especially those based on machine learning, are usually tuned for able-bodied people's hands. Wearables with Bright-Marker could support applications for people with limb differences or hand impairments. In our current implementation, we produced the black wristband using PLA and the red one using ABS. Both wristbands have a small thickness, thus allowing them to be bent. In the future, more custom wearables could be printed using more flexible materials such as TPU or by utilizing FDM-based textile fabrication methods [40, 137].

7.3.3 Tangible Interfaces for MR Experiences

BrightMarkers can be embedded into objects to turn them into tangibles with more precise tracking capabilities for mixed reality (MR) [21]. For instance, opportunistic tangible interfaces could enhance AR interactions [34], or serve as haptic placeholders in VR.

Appropriating physical parts as precise AR input tools: Figure 4-1c shows a loudspeaker that has been unused in an office. The user wants to make use of the unplugged speaker by transforming it into a passive tangible interface for controlling the volume and bass of his AR glasses. This allows him to have a more natural and tangible input method, while touching small buttons on the glasses can be cumbersome.

BrightMarker has the benefit that the marker objects also include the part's identifier, i.e., the top and bottom knobs can be distinguished and assigned unique functionalities. Further, since the knobs have a uniform color and shape, it would be difficult to precisely track their rotation without the embedded BrightMarkers.

Real-life objects as VR haptic props: BrightMarker allows users to make use of the physical shape of existing real-world objects (e.g., toys, gadgets, sports gear) as haptic proxies in VR. For example, a "lightsaber" toy could come with integrated BrightMarkers, so it can be used as a different object in games. As shown in Figure 7-8, the lightsaber's hilt is used as a haptic placeholder for a sword to slice fruits in a game. Another benefit is that the objects are fully passive, while typical VR game controllers contain infrared LEDs that need to be powered up.



Figure 7-8: Using a lightsaber as a prop to slice fruits in a game.

7.3.4 Privacy-Preserving Night Vision

Traditional security cameras use infrared LEDs to monitor environments at night. However, these cameras might not be optimal for use in private environments, such as one's bedroom, although users may still want an alternative method to ensure the security of their valuable belongings. BrightMarker's imaging system removes all details in the camera stream except for the marked objects. In Figure 7-9, a box that stores valuables was tagged with a BrightMarker, and the rest of the object surface was uniformly inlaid with the fluorescent filament so it can be captured from afar. The camera detects the shiny outline of the object, it triggers an alarm. While doing this, it preserves the user's privacy. This fluorescence-based monitoring approach could be enabled by modifying existing home security cameras, i.e., by



Figure 7-9: Privacy-preserving night vision. (a) Regular CCTVs help monitor important objects but may intrude on users' privacy. (b) Our detection setup allows tracking of solely the fluorescent objects.

attaching the appropriate filter on the camera and an IR source next to it as described in Section 7.1.2.

7.4 Evaluation

In this section, we evaluate our system's performance under a variety of conditions, including detection distance, illumination, shell color, and speed.

7.4.1 Detection Distance, Excitation Intensity, and Surface Color

Because the embedded filament fluoresces more when exposed to a greater amount of IR excitation, the maximum distance at which a marker can be detected depends on the amount of excitation it receives. To evaluate how the IR intensity affects detection, we conducted an experiment determining the minimum amount of IR required to track vs. decode markers at varying distances from the camera. We consider tracking to be when the program finds the bounds of the BrightMarker; in contrast, decoding occurs when it is also able to extract the *data* of the marker (Section 7.2.3).

Procedure: We printed three square BrightMarkers with a 4x4 ArUco pattern of size 1"x1" (2.54cm x 2.54cm). Each BrightMarker was printed using shell material of a different color (blue ABS, red ABS, and black IR-PLA). We picked these to represent the variety in materials and fluorescence strength. We placed a 220cm tape measure along a table in a dark room (3lux ambient light). The NIR camera was aligned at the 0cm mark. As a baseline, we also recorded the maximum distance that a (visible) paper ArUco marker of the same size could be decoded using solely the off-the-shelf ArUco detection library.



Figure 7-10: Excitation intensity required with increasing marker distance from the camera.

For each trial, we started by placing a BrightMarker 10cm away from the camera. Then, we moved the excitation light as far away from the marker as possible until the marker is just able to be tracked. Keeping the light at this position, we measured the amount of illumination reaching the marker surface using a *Tacklife LM01* digital luxmeter. We then repeated this, but for the amount of illumination required for decoding rather than tracking. The minimum illumination needed to track and to decode the BrightMarker was recorded for each interval of 10cm until 220cm.

Since different shell colors allow for varying levels of fluorescence, we conducted trials for the different color prints. The chosen colors represent a wider range of fluorescence, including those which only allow minimal fluorescence (e.g., blue) and those with substantial fluorescence (e.g., red). We repeated the procedure three times for each color and plotted the average results in Figure 7-10.

Results: The tracking and decoding results are plotted separately for each color in Figure 7-10. The dashed lines represent the intensity needed to *track* the marker at each distance. The solid lines, however, represent the intensity to *decode* the marker at each distance.

As a baseline, the dashed green line shows the maximum distance at which a standard paper marker can be tracked and decoded (i.e., 122cm). We found that since the NIR capture filters out wavelengths lower than the BrightMarker emission, markers are able to be tracked at distances far greater than a paper marker. On the other hand, BrightMarker decoding distances were not expected to exceed this value, but were expected to be relatively close to it. While the red and black samples exhibited this behavior, the blue sample exceeded the expectation and could be decoded just past the point where a paper code can be detected. We believe this is because the filtered capture allows the decoding algorithm to ignore the noise that is in the unfiltered capture; thus, allowing it to decode the marker at a further distance. However, this does not occur for other colors because unlike blue, which allows lower levels of fluorescence, the emitted light in the red and black markers slightly bleed into the shell of the markers.

The plots also indicate a correlation between material color and the intensity of light required for detection. Overall, lower curves indicate easier detection than higher curves, since a low curve in this plot means that less light is needed given a marker distance. The more fluorescence that the shell lets through, the less excitation is required to detect the marker, e.g., less light is required for red prints than blue prints. This is expected since the NIR camera is capturing the emitted light, so the materials that allow for more emission require less overall excitation. For this reason, we recommend using shell materials such as red ABS for tracking from far distances using weaker excitation sources.

7.4.2 Detection Rate and Marker Speed

Because the fluorescence of BrightMarkers is imaged using a longpass filter, our detection setup eliminates non-marker elements from the scene, thus reducing the chance of undetected frames. We conducted an experiment to compare how the fluorescence-based detection approach improves the detection rate compared to regular *InfraredTags* [29] as the tags are being moved.

Procedure: We printed a red and blue BrightMarker with a 4x4 ArUco pattern (size: 2.54cm) x 2.54cm) to represent high and low fluorescence. We then used the printer as a CNC tool: We attached each marker separately on the printhead of an *Ultimaker 3*, and placed our detection module on the printbed, with its camera looking upward at the marker. We moved the printhead in an upward conical helix trajectory to cover the remaining printer volume (21.6x21.6x130cm), while also staying in the camera's field of view. We repeated this for 12 different head speeds (range: 20mm/s - 240mm/s). We computed the detection rate throughout the trajectory from the resulting 60-fps videos.

Results: Across the 12 speed values, the *InfraredTag* could be tracked and decoded in only 60.73% of the frames on average (std=2.26). For BrightMarkers, the red and blue sample

could be *tracked* in 100% of the frames. The red sample could be *decoded* in 99.41% of the frames (std=0.48) and the blue sample 99.83% (std=0.19). The small standard deviation values across the different speeds show that the high-speed camera employed in our imaging module successfully avoids motion blur due to its global shutter (Section 7.1.2).

7.4.3 Marker Size

To test what the smallest detectable BrightMarker size is, we printed samples in 1mm dimension increments (range: 5-10mm) separately for red and blue ABS surface materials. For both colors, the smallest decodable marker was 6mm wide. However, the camera had to be 2cm close to the blue marker to decode it, while the red marker could be decoded from as far as 7cm. This is likely due to the higher IR absorbance of the blue shell material.

7.5 Discussion

In this section, we discuss the limitations of BrightMarker and potential directions for future research.

7.5.1 Concentration of Fluorescent Dye

The concentration of the fluorescent dye used in the filament of BrightMarkers is an important factor in its detectability.

To test how the dye concentration affects the marker intensity, we obtained two small test plates from the filament manufacturer, since a high-concentration filament is not readily available yet. Each plate was doped with fluorochrome, one with the same concentration as our filament, and another one with eight times the standard concentration. Given the same level of excitation, we measured the intensity of the emitted light when the plates are uncovered. We repeated this after covering both samples with a 1.2mm sheet made from regular red ABS filament, mimicking BrightMarker's t_{shell} .

In the uncovered comparison, we observed that the highly doped sample resulted in 33% more IR intensity than the regular sample. In the covered comparison, which represents the conditions for BrightMarker, the intensity of the highly doped sample was 20% higher than the regular sample. Thus, to further increase detection performance, further research and

optimization could lead to the production of filaments with higher fluorochrome concentrations.

7.5.2 Mass Production

In the future, the BrightMarker approach may be adapted for mass-market manufacturing. For instance, instead of 3D printing, plastic overmolding could be utilized to include fluorescent materials in mass-manufactured products without any post-processing steps.

7.5.3 NIR Power

While the LED component we used in the AR/VR attachment module (Section 7.2.2) is rated 10W, we did not use it at full power for the headset. The potentiometer in the PCB allows us to adjust the power from 1.8W up to 3.5W. At the lowest power, a black IR PLAcovered sample can be tracked from up to 50cm away. At max power, it can be tracked at 90cm away. While, as far as we know, there are no longitudinal studies yet on NIR and eye safety, commonly used examples of NIR light include *iPhone FaceID*, *Microsoft Kinect*, and *Intel RealSense* depth cameras. For instance, RealSense D400's IR projector [68] can consume up to 4.25W.

7.5.4 Embedding Circular Markers

In this project, we embedded ArUco markers for tracking purposes. Another way to add trackers would be to use the fluorescent filament insert small circular markers, similar to OptiTrack's retro-reflective beads, underneath the object surface. Such triangulation-based tracking systems are typically deemed more robust than square marker-based methods. However, since triangulation-based methods require multiple cameras to be set up, a costly and cumbersome process, we chose to use ArUco markers for their simplicity which suits our everyday applications. Interested researchers can use our embedded fabrication approach for other tracking methods based on their needs and constraints. In the future, this could also be used to improve detection for more intricate objects, i.e., those with high-frequency surface details that would lead to local occlusion of the markers based on the viewing angle.

7.5.5 Occlusion

Object occlusion is a typical problem for most tracking methods. Similarly, BrightMarker could be occluded by the user's hands and other objects. One way to overcome this is to couple the optical tracking with magnetic tracking methods (i.e., hybrid tracking) [130]. A magnetic material could be embedded in the printed object using magnetic filaments, which would enhance the tracking when the object is occluded by utilizing magnetic sensors.

7.6 Conclusion

We presented BrightMarker, a novel method for embedding and tracking hidden highcontrast markers using fluorescent 3D printing filaments. Our approach offers an easy-to-use solution for marker-based tracking without affecting the object's look or shape. We showed that BrightMarkers can be embedded in various object colors, and can be easily localized using a light source and camera filter that match the fluorescence characteristics of the material. Our CAD tool allows users to add markers to their 3D models before printing, and our optical detection hardware can be attached to existing AR/VR headsets for marker tracking. BrightMarker's image processing pipeline uses the captured images to robustly localize the markers.

Our applications demonstrate rapid product tracking, custom-fabricated wearables, tangible interfaces in AR/VR, and privacy-preserving night vision. Our evaluation shows that markers of different colors can be detected from afar and at various object speeds. We believe that our work demonstrates the potential of using fluorescence as an effective and versatile method for embedding invisible markers, and we hope it fosters further exploration and innovation in this area by the HCI and fabrication community.

Chapter 8

Discussion

Together, the presented tagging approaches (*natural*, *structural*, and *internal*) provide effective ways of how to include identifiers and markers in objects without disrupting their look, feel, and functionality. This is especially true for natural markers as they, by definition, do not alter any feature of the object. However, for structural and internal markers, the design needs a more meticulous thought process so as to not impact these aspects.

While our presented approaches align with the design criteria outlined in Section 1.1, they also represent a targeted exploration of the broader design space for embedded markers. The precise dimensions of this design space have not been the primary focus of this thesis. Nonetheless, future investigations could extend their scope to provide a more thorough exploration of the specific dimension axes.

These embedded markers contribute to the bigger vision of enabling users to more seamlessly identify products, devices, and other items in their surroundings and access more information related to them rapidly. Further, these techniques can be used in various industries that inherently rely on tags, such as retail, packaging, shipping, robotics, and manufacturing.

The following sections explore various aspects and implications of the embedded markers and the vision of ubiquitous metadata. We explore key topics related to scaling up for mass production, privacy considerations, the markers' use in consumer products, and interaction and personalization in AR. Through these discussions, we aim to gain deeper insights into the challenges and potential solutions that arise in the context of digital fabrication, mixed reality, and ubiquitous metadata.

8.1 Scaling Up and Mass Production

The successful implementation of embedded machine-readable markers extends beyond 3D printing and requires consideration for generalization to more common and scalable manufacturing methods. In this section, we discuss the challenges and opportunities associated with extending the use of embedded tags to diverse manufacturing processes to allow for broader adoption and mass-scale production.

Scalability is a key aspect to consider when generalizing embedded markers to more commonly used manufacturing methods. While 3D printing offers flexibility and customization, its relatively slow production speed makes it less suitable for large-scale manufacturing. Therefore, it is necessary to explore and adopt faster and more scalable methods, such as injection molding, casting, and CNC machining, to meet an increasing demand for tagged objects. To ensure compatibility with these scalable fabrication methods, the design of embedded tags should be adaptable and compatible with the specific constraints, material properties, and production workflows associated with each technique. This requires careful consideration of factors such as the choice of materials and geometric design optimizations.

Standardization also plays a vital role in the generalization of embedded markers to more common manufacturing methods. Developing industry-wide standards for tag designs and integration processes fosters interoperability and facilitates seamless adoption across different manufacturers and industries. Standardization efforts should consider aspects such as tag specifications and encoding formats. By establishing common practices, manufacturers could more easily incorporate embedded markers into their existing production workflows.

Cost considerations are another important factor for scalable manufacturing. Exploring cost-efficient materials, optimizing fabrication processes, and identifying opportunities for economies of scale are essential to make embedded markers economically viable. Finding a balance between cost and functionality ensures that manufacturers can adopt embedded markers without significant financial barriers while still reaping the benefits of enhanced object identification, tracking, and interaction.

8.2 Privacy

The widespread adoption of embedded machine-readable markers entails important privacy implications for end users [18]. In this section, we discuss the privacy challenges and potential solutions related to embedded markers.

One of the primary privacy concerns is the unauthorized access or misuse of data encoded in the markers. As embedded markers become more prevalent in various domains, including retail, robotics, and smart homes, the potential risks associated with data breaches and unauthorized tracking of individuals become more significant. It is crucial to implement robust encryption and authentication mechanisms to protect the integrity and confidentiality of the information stored in the markers. This includes techniques such as data anonymization, secure key management, and access control protocols [46, 163] to prevent unauthorized access and ensure data privacy.

Another privacy consideration is the potential for tracking and profiling of individuals based on the information collected through embedded markers. In certain contexts, such as retail or marketing, embedded markers may be used to track user behavior, preferences, and interactions. To address this concern, privacy-enhancing technologies and techniques should be utilized, such as data minimization, privacy-preserving algorithms, and user consent mechanisms [97]. By allowing individuals to have control over their data and providing transparent information about data collection and usage, privacy risks can be mitigated.

To address the privacy implications of embedded tags, interdisciplinary collaborations between researchers, policymakers, and industry experts are essential. Establishing privacy guidelines, standards, and best practices specific to embedded tags can help ensure responsible and privacy-preserving deployment.

8.3 Embedded Markers in Consumer Products

One of the main applications of embedded machine-readable markers is the concept of Digital Product Passports (DPP). DPPs serve as comprehensive digital records that accompany physical consumer products throughout their lifecycle, providing valuable information and insights to various stakeholders, including manufacturers, retailers, and consumers [71, 145].

By embedding machine-readable markers into products during the manufacturing process, a wealth of information can be captured and associated with each item. This information can include details about the product's origin, materials used, manufacturing processes, quality certifications, and sustainability attributes. Thus, DPPs could allow the metadata to be securely stored and accessed throughout the product's journey. For *manufacturers*, DPPs could enable enhanced traceability, supply chain management, and quality control. Manufacturers could monitor the entire lifecycle of their products, ensuring compliance with regulations, identifying potential issues, and tracking product performance. This comprehensive data could enable manufacturers to make informed decisions, optimize processes, and improve sustainability practices.

Retailers and distributors could also benefit from DPPs. By accessing the embedded metadata, retailers can verify product authenticity, ensure compliance with standards, and provide consumers with detailed information about the products they offer. This transparency builds trust and enables consumers to make more informed purchasing decisions based on their preferences and values.

Consumers may make sustainable and ethical choices, supporting brands that align with their values, using the information from the embedded markers. Additionally, DPPs can facilitate after-sales services, such as warranty registration, maintenance guides, and product recalls, enhancing the overall user experience.

However, the implementation of DPPs faces certain challenges. Data privacy and security are key concerns, as sensitive information is associated with each product. Robust measures must be in place to ensure the secure and controlled access to this information, protecting both the integrity of the data and the privacy of individuals. Additionally, the standardization and interoperability of metadata formats and protocols are essential to enable seamless exchange of information across different stakeholders and systems.

8.4 Interaction and Personalization in AR

Enabling the detection of physical objects' metadata on AR headsets, such as smart glasses, holds great potential for advancing personalized AR experiences. By incorporating sensing capabilities into these headsets, users can effortlessly interact with their surroundings and receive additional context and information about tagged objects. The continuous scanning of the environment using *always-on* sensors would eliminate the need for users to point their mobile devices in specific directions to read the tags.

However, it is essential to display the information from the marker only when it is relevant and beneficial to the user. Avoiding information overload is crucial to prevent distractions and maintain focus. Inspired by previous research [83], an optimization-based approach



Figure 8-1: Adaptive display of related information acquired from unobtrusive tags could be utilized to create a more personalized and assistive mixed reality environment.

could be pursued to determine which tags should be visible in the AR view. Factors such as the user's gaze, attention level, and current activity will be taken into consideration. Leveraging tools and sensors already present in AR headsets, such as eye tracking, will aid in the computational determination of information visibility in the AR environment. This personalized approach ensures that users receive the most relevant and contextually appropriate information.

Moreover, the AR content displayed can be tailored to the user's daily tasks and goals, further enhancing *personalization* [28]. For instance, a tagged artwork in a museum can trigger personalized information about the artist, the painting's history, or related artworks, providing a more engaging and informative experience for each visitor. When shopping, the embedded tags on product packaging can be spatially displayed and filtered based on the user's predetermined shopping list and fitness goals (Figure 8-1). This tailored approach would provide users with targeted recommendations and relevant information that aligns with their specific needs and preferences. Throughout these interactions, ensuring privacy and obtaining user consent should be prioritized (Section 8.2).

Chapter 9

Conclusion

In this thesis, we have explored the design, fabrication, and detection of embedded machinereadable markers that serve as a bridge between the physical and virtual worlds. These tags offer a means to identify, track, and interact with real-world objects in mixed reality and spatial computing. Our research explores three distinct approaches: natural markers, structural markers, and internal markers.

Natural markers utilize the inherent fingerprints of objects and materials. Structural markers leverage the structural artifacts that emerge during the fabrication process for unique identification. Internal markers are intentionally engineered within the interior of objects and are made from specialized materials. These approaches have been optimized for minimal impact on the object's appearance, cost-effective fabrication using commonly available tools like 3D printers and laser cutters, and detection using readily accessible sensors such as RGB and near-infrared cameras.

Our research envisions a future where every real-world object carries metadata that can be accessed effortlessly using mobile devices or augmented reality glasses, a concept we refer to as "ubiquitous metadata." By combining techniques from computer vision, machine learning, computational imaging, and material science, our approaches provide robust and versatile solutions toward this vision.

In conclusion, our work brings us closer to a future where real-world objects are seamlessly integrated into virtual worlds. By embedding embedded machine-readable markers into real-world objects, we empower users with a wealth of multimedia content, interactive experiences, and contextual information. The implications and applications of our research span a wide range of domains, including product design, manufacturing, entertainment, marketing, logistics, security, and sustainability. With responsible implementation, we can revolutionize object identification and interaction, paving the way for an interconnected and intelligent future.

Bibliography

- 3dk.berlin. PLA Filament IR-Black, 2021. URL: https://3dk.berlin/en/special/ 115-pla-filament-ir-black.html.
- [2] Muhammad Abdullah, Romeo Sommerfeld, Laurenz Seidel, Jonas Noack, Ran Zhang, Thijs Roumen, and Patrick Baudisch. Roadkill: Nesting Laser-Cut Objects for Fast Assembly. In *The 34th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, UIST '21, pages 972–984, New York, NY, USA, October 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3472749.3474799.
- [3] Kelly Allen. IKEA Now Offers Disassembly Instructions to Make Your Moves So Much Easier. House Beautiful, February 2021. URL: https://www.housebeautiful.com/ lifestyle/a35615293/ikea-disassembly-instructions/.
- [4] Michelle Annett, Tovi Grossman, Daniel Wigdor, and George Fitzmaurice. Exploring and Understanding the Role of Workshop Environments in Personal Fabrication Processes. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction, 26(2):10:1–10:43, March 2019. doi:10.1145/3301420.
- [5] Martin P. Ansell. Wood microstructure A cellular composite. In Wood Composites, pages 3-26. Woodhead Publishing, January 2015. URL: http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9781782424543000019, doi:10.1016/ B978-1-78242-454-3.00001-9.
- [6] Autodesk. Instructables, 2020. URL: https://www.instructables.com/.
- [7] Kylie Bates-Green and Tucker Howie. Materials for laser cutter machines. Technical report, National Resource Center for Materials Technology Education, 2018. Volume: 26. URL: http://www.materialseducation.org/educators/ matedu-modules/docs/Laser_Cutter_Materials.pdf.
- [8] Patrick Baudisch and Stefanie Mueller. Personal Fabrication. Foundations and Trends in Human-Computer Interaction, 10(3-4):165-293, 2017. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1561/110000055, doi:10.1561/110000055.
- [9] Patrick Baudisch, Arthur Silber, Yannis Kommana, Milan Gruner, Ludwig Wall, Kevin Reuss, Lukas Heilman, Robert Kovacs, Daniel Rechlitz, and Thijs Roumen. Kyub: A 3D Editor for Modeling Sturdy Laser-Cut Objects. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–12, Glasgow Scotland Uk, May 2019. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3290605.3300796, doi:10.1145/3290605.3300796.

- [10] R. Bencina, M. Kaltenbrunner, and S. Jorda. Improved Topological Fiducial Tracking in the reacTIVision System. In 2005 IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR'05) - Workshops, volume 3, pages 99–99, San Diego, CA, USA, 2005. IEEE. URL: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/ 1565409/, doi:10.1109/CVPR.2005.475.
- P. Bijl, J.J. Koenderink, and A. Toet. Visibility of blobs with a gaussian luminance profile. Vision Research, 29(4):447-456, January 1989. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0042698989900084, doi: 10.1016/0042-6989(89)90008-4.
- [12] Susanne Boll, Philippe Palanque, Alexander G. Mirnig, Jessica Cauchard, Margareta Holtensdotter Lützhöft, and Michael S. Feary. Designing Safety Critical Interactions: Hunting Down Human Error. In Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI EA '20, pages 1– 7, New York, NY, USA, April 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. doi: 10.1145/3334480.3375148.
- [13] Tami C. Bond and Robert W. Bergstrom. Light Absorption by Carbonaceous Particles: An Investigative Review. Aerosol Science and Technology, 40(1):27-67, January 2006. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/ 02786820500421521, doi:10.1080/02786820500421521.
- [14] E. G. Boring. Sensation and perception in the history of experimental psychology. Sensation and perception in the history of experimental psychology. Appleton-Century, Oxford, England, 1942. Pages: xv, 644.
- [15] Gary Bradski. The OpenCV Library. Dr. Dobb's Journal of Software Tools, 2000.
- [16] Haiyong Chen, Yue Pang, Qidi Hu, and Kun Liu. Solar Cell Surface Defect Inspection Based on Multispectral Convolutional Neural Network. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*, pages 1–16, 2018.
- [17] Lujie Chen and Lawrence Sass. Fresh Press Modeler: A generative system for physically based low fidelity prototyping. *Computers & Graphics*, 54:157-165, February 2016. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0097849315001065, doi:10.1016/j.cag.2015.07.003.
- [18] Yu-Ting Cheng, Mathias Funk, Rung-Huei Liang, and Lin-Lin Chen. Seeing Through Things: Exploring the Design Space of Privacy-Aware Data-Enabled Objects. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction, December 2022. Just Accepted. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3577012, doi:10.1145/3577012.
- [19] DIC Corporation. DIC Global, 2023. URL: https://www.dic-global.com/en/.
- [20] Kristin N. Dew and Daniela K. Rosner. Designing with Waste: A Situated Inquiry into the Material Excess of Making. In *Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference*, DIS '19, pages 1307–1319, New York, NY, USA, June 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3322276.3322320.

- [21] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Patrick Baudisch, Hrvoje Benko, Michael Nebeling, Huaishu Peng, Valkyrie Savage, and Stefanie Mueller. Fabricate It or Render It? Digital Fabrication vs. Virtual Reality for Creating Objects Instantly. In *Extended Abstracts of the* 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, page 5. Association for Computing Machinery, 2022. doi:10.1145/3491101.3516510.
- [22] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Vivian Hsinyueh Chan, Richard Qi, Grace Tang, Thijs Roumen, and Stefanie Mueller. StructCode: Leveraging Fabrication Artifacts to Store Data in Laser-Cut Objects. In *Proceedings of the 8th ACM Symposium on Computational Fabrication*, SCF '23, pages 1–13, New York, NY, USA, November 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3623263.3623353, doi:10.1145/3623263.3623353.
- [23] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Steven Vidal Acevedo Colon, Varnika Sinha, Kaan Akşit, and Stefanie Mueller. SensiCut: Material-Aware Laser Cutting Using Speckle Sensing and Deep Learning. In Proceedings of the 34th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, page 15, Virtual Event USA, 2021. ACM. doi: 10.1145/3472749.3474733.
- [24] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Faraz Faruqi, Andrew Day Churchill, Kenneth Friedman, Leon Cheng, Sriram Subramanian, and Stefanie Mueller. Demonstration of G-ID: Identifying 3D Prints Using Slicing Parameters. In Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI EA '20, pages 1– 4, New York, NY, USA, April 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. doi: 10.1145/3334480.3383141.
- [25] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Faraz Faruqi, Andrew Day Churchill, Kenneth Friedman, Leon Cheng, Sriram Subramanian, and Stefanie Mueller. G-ID: Identifying 3D Prints Using Slicing Parameters. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '20, pages 1–13, New York, NY, USA, April 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3313831.3376202.
- [26] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Raul Garcia-Martin, Patrick William Haertel, Jamison John O'Keefe, Raul Sanchez-Reillo, and Stefanie Mueller. Demonstrating BrightMarkers: Fluorescent Tracking Markers Embedded in 3D Printed Objects. In Adjunct Proceedings of the 36th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, UIST '23 Adjunct, pages 1–3, New York, NY, USA, October 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3586182.3615977.
- [27] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Raul Garcia-Martin, Patrick William Haertel, Jamison John O'Keefe, Ahmad Taka, Akarsh Aurora, Raul Sanchez-Reillo, and Stefanie Mueller. BrightMarker: 3D Printed Fluorescent Markers for Object Tracking. In Proceedings of the 36th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, UIST '23, pages 1–13, New York, NY, USA, October 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3586183.3606758, doi:10.1145/3586183.3606758.
- [28] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Alexa F. Siu, Jennifer Healey, Curtis Wigington, Chang Xiao, and Tong Sun. StandARone: Infrared-Watermarked Documents as Portable Containers of AR Interaction and Personalization. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2023*

CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI EA '23, pages 1–7, New York, NY, USA, April 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. doi: 10.1145/3544549.3585905.

- [29] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Ahmad Taka, Michael Lu, Yunyi Zhu, Akshat Kumar, Aakar Gupta, and Stefanie Mueller. InfraredTags: Embedding Invisible AR Markers and Barcodes Using Low-Cost, Infrared-Based 3D Printing and Imaging Tools. In Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, page 9, New Orleans LA USA, 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. doi: 10.1145/3491102.3501951.
- [30] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Veerapatr Yotamornsunthorn, Ahmad Taka, Aakar Gupta, and Stefanie Mueller. InfraredTags Demo: Invisible AR Markers and Barcodes Using Infrared Imaging and 3D Printing. In Adjunct Proceedings of the 35th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, UIST '22 Adjunct, pages 1– 5, New York, NY, USA, October 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. doi: 10.1145/3526114.3558660.
- [31] Mustafa Doga Dogan, Veerapatr Yotamornsunthorn, Ahmad Taka, Yunyi Zhu, Aakar Gupta, and Stefanie Mueller. Demonstrating InfraredTags: Decoding Invisible 3D Printed Tags with Convolutional Neural Networks. In Extended Abstracts of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, page 7. Association for Computing Machinery, 2022. doi:10.1145/3491101.3519905.
- [32] Csaba Domokos and Zoltan Kato. Parametric estimation of affine deformations of planar shapes. *Pattern Recogn*, 43, 3:569-578, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.patcog.2009. 08.013.
- [33] Csaba Domokos and Zoltan Kato. Simultaneous affine registration of multiple shapes. In 21st International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR, pages 9–12, Los Alamitos, CA, 2012. IEEE Computer Society.
- [34] Ruofei Du, Alex Olwal, Mathieu Le Goc, Shengzhi Wu, Danhang Tang, Yinda Zhang, Jun Zhang, David Joseph Tan, Federico Tombari, and David Kim. Opportunistic Interfaces for Augmented Reality: Transforming Everyday Objects into Tangible 6DoF Interfaces Using Ad hoc UI. In CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Extended Abstracts, pages 1–4, New Orleans LA USA, April 2022. ACM. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3491101.3519911, doi:10.1145/3491101.3519911.
- [35] Studio eQ. Free Laser-Cut Face Shield Plans Protect Yourself from COVID-19, 2020. URL: http://www.studio-eq.com/laser-cut-ppe-face-shield-covid-19.
- [36] Omid Ettehadi, Fraser Anderson, Adam Tindale, and Sowmya Somanath. Documented: Embedding Information onto and Retrieving Information from 3D Printed Objects. In Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–11, Yokohama Japan, May 2021. ACM. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3411764.3445551, doi:10.1145/3411764.3445551.
- [37] Martin Feick, Scott Bateman, Anthony Tang, Andre Miede, and Nicolai Marquardt. Tangi: Tangible Proxies For Embodied Object Exploration And Manipulation In Virtual Reality. In 2020 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and

Augmented Reality (ISMAR), pages 195-206, Porto de Galinhas, Brazil, November 2020. IEEE. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9284771/, doi: 10.1109/ISMAR50242.2020.00042.

- [38] Martin Feick, Kora Persephone Regitz, Anthony Tang, and Antonio Krüger. Designing Visuo-Haptic Illusions with Proxies in Virtual Reality: Exploration of Grasp, Movement Trajectory and Object Mass. In CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–15, New Orleans LA USA, April 2022. ACM. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3491102.3517671, doi:10.1145/3491102.3517671.
- [39] Patrick Fenner. Lattice Hinge Design Choosing Torsional Stress, 2012. URL: https://www.defproc.co.uk/analysis/ lattice-hinge-design-choosing-torsional-stress/.
- [40] Jack Forman, Mustafa Doga Dogan, Hamilton Forsythe, and Hiroshi Ishii. DefeXtiles: 3D Printing Quasi-Woven Fabric via Under-Extrusion. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pages 1222– 1233, Virtual Event USA, October 2020. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10. 1145/3379337.3415876, doi:10.1145/3379337.3415876.
- [41] Formlabs. SLA vs. DLP: Guide to Resin 3D Printers, 2020. URL: https://formlabs. com/blog/3d-printing-technology-comparison-sla-dlp/.
- [42] Jiayun Fu, Bin Zhu, Weiwei Cui, Song Ge, Yun Wang, Haidong Zhang, He Huang, Yuanyuan Tang, Dongmei Zhang, and Xiaojing Ma. Chartem: Reviving Chart Images with Data Embedding. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 27(02):337-346, February 2021. Publisher: IEEE Computer Society. URL: https: //www.computer.org/csdl/journal/tg/2021/02/09293003/1pyonCyir8k, doi:10. 1109/TVCG.2020.3030351.
- [43] Raul Garcia-Martin and Raul Sanchez-Reillo. Vein Biometric Recognition on a Smartphone. *IEEE Access*, 8:104801–104813, 2020. Conference Name: IEEE Access. doi:10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3000044.
- [44] Christopher Getschmann and Florian Echtler. Seedmarkers: Embeddable Markers for Physical Objects. In Proceedings of the Fifteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction, TEI '21, pages 1–11, New York, NY, USA, February 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3430524. 3440645.
- [45] Ian Goodfellow, Yoshua Bengio, and Aaron Courville. Deep Learning. The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, November 2016.
- [46] K. Govinda and Perla Ravitheja. Identity anonymization and secure data storage using group signature in private cloud. In *Proceedings of the International Conference* on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics, ICACCI '12, pages 129–132, New York, NY, USA, August 2012. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/2345396.2345418.
- [47] Oliver Grau and Julien Pansiot. Motion and velocity estimation of rolling shutter cameras. In Proceedings of the 9th European Conference on Visual Media Produc-

tion, CVMP '12, pages 94–98, New York, NY, USA, December 2012. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/2414688.2414700.

- [48] George G. Guilbault, editor. *Practical Fluorescence*. CRC Press, New York, 2nd edition edition, October 1990.
- [49] H. Haferkamp, F. von Alvensleben, D. Seebaum, M. Goede, and T. Püster. Air contaminants generated during laser processing of organic materials and protective measures. *Journal of Laser Applications*, 10(3):109–113, June 1998. Publisher: Laser Institute of America. URL: https://lia.scitation.org/doi/10.2351/1.521835, doi:10.2351/1.521835.
- [50] Sylvain Hallereau. Apple iPhone X IR Dot Projector. Technical report, SystemPlus Consulting Report, December 2017.
- [51] R. W. Hamming. Error detecting and error correcting codes. *The Bell System Technical Journal*, 29(2):147–160, 1950. doi:10.1002/j.1538-7305.1950.tb00463.x.
- [52] Chris Harrison and Scott E. Hudson. Lightweight material detection for placementaware mobile computing. In *Proceedings of the 21st annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology - UIST '08*, page 279, Monterey, CA, USA, 2008. ACM Press. URL: http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=1449715.1449761, doi:10.1145/1449715.1449761.
- [53] Chris Harrison, Robert Xiao, and Scott Hudson. Acoustic barcodes: passive, durable and inexpensive notched identification tags. In *Proceedings of the 25th annual ACM* symposium on User interface software and technology, UIST '12, pages 563–568, New York, NY, USA, October 2012. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/ 2380116.2380187.
- [54] Kaiming He, Georgia Gkioxari, Piotr Dollár, and Ross Girshick. Mask R-CNN. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision (ICCV), pages 2980-2988, October 2017. ISSN: 2380-7504. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/ 8237584, doi:10.1109/ICCV.2017.322.
- [55] Kaiming He, Xiangyu Zhang, Shaoqing Ren, and Jian Sun. Deep Residual Learning for Image Recognition. arXiv:1512.03385 [cs], December 2015. arXiv: 1512.03385. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/1512.03385.
- [56] Selig Hecht. The Visual Discrimination Of Intensity and The Weber-Fechner Law. Journal of General Physiology, 7(2):235-267, November 1924. doi:10.1085/jgp.7.
 2.235.
- [57] Florian Heller, Jan Thar, Dennis Lewandowski, Mirko Hartmann, Pierre Schoonbrood, Sophy Stönner, Simon Voelker, and Jan Borchers. CutCAD - An Open-source Tool to Design 3D Objects in 2D. In *Proceedings of the 2018 Designing Interactive Systems Conference*, DIS '18, pages 1135–1139, New York, NY, USA, June 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3196709.3196800.
- [58] Daniel Herrick and Robert Klein. Emerging Health and Safety Issues in Makerspaces. In Proceedings of the 1st International Symposium on Academic Makerspaces, 2016.

- [59] Derek Hoiem, Alexei A. Efros, and Martial Hebert. Putting Objects in Perspective. International Journal of Computer Vision, 80(1):3–15, October 2008. doi:10.1007/ s11263-008-0137-5.
- [60] Lars Erik Holmquist. Tagging the world. Interactions, 13(4):51, July 2006. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/1142169.1142201, doi:10.1145/1142169.1142201.
- [61] Jeremy Howard and Sylvain Gugger. Fastai: A Layered API for Deep Learning. Information, 11(2):108, February 2020. Number: 2 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2078-2489/11/2/108, doi:10.3390/info11020108.
- [62] Meng-Ju Hsieh, Rong-Hao Liang, Da-Yuan Huang, Jheng-You Ke, and Bing-Yu Chen. RFIBricks: Interactive Building Blocks Based on RFID. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '18, pages 1–10, New York, NY, USA, April 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/ 3173574.3173763.
- [63] Danying Hu, Daniel DeTone, and Tomasz Malisiewicz. Deep ChArUco: Dark ChArUco Marker Pose Estimation. In 2019 IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), pages 8428-8436, Long Beach, CA, USA, June 2019. IEEE. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8953882/, doi: 10.1109/CVPR.2019.00863.
- [64] Hubs. 3D Hubs, 2020. URL: https://www.3dhubs.com/.
- [65] Nathaniel Hudson, Celena Alcock, and Parmit K. Chilana. Understanding Newcomers to 3D Printing: Motivations, Workflows, and Barriers of Casual Makers. In *Proceedings* of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 384– 396. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, May 2016. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858266.
- [66] Glowforge Inc. Glowforge Plus, 2019. URL: https://glowforge.com/our-products/ plus.
- [67] Ponoko Inc. Ponoko Online Laser Cutting Service, March 2020. URL: https://www. ponoko.com/.
- [68] Intel. RealSense Product Family D400 Series Datasheet. Technical report, June 2020.
- [69] Weiwei Jiang, Chaofan Wang, Zhanna Sarsenbayeva, Andrew Irlitti, Jarrod Knibbe, Tilman Dingler, Jorge Goncalves, and Vassilis Kostakos. InfoPrint: Embedding Information into 3D Printed Objects, November 2021. arXiv:2112.00189 [cs]. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/2112.00189, doi:10.48550/arXiv.2112.00189.
- [70] David A. Katz. Identification of Polymers. Technical report, 1998. URL: http: //www.chymist.com/Polymer%20Identification.pdf.
- [71] Melanie R.N. King, Paul D. Timms, and Sara Mountney. A proposed universal definition of a Digital Product Passport Ecosystem (DPPE): Worldviews, discrete capabilities, stakeholder requirements and concerns. *Journal of Cleaner Production*,

384:135538, January 2023. URL: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/ pii/S0959652622051125, doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.135538.

- [72] Jarrod Knibbe, Tovi Grossman, and George Fitzmaurice. Smart Makerspace: An Immersive Instructional Space for Physical Tasks. In Proceedings of the 2015 International Conference on Interactive Tabletops & Surfaces, ITS '15, pages 83– 92, New York, NY, USA, November 2015. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/2817721.2817741.
- John M. Kokosa. Hazardous chemicals produced by laser materials processing. International Laser Safety Conference, 1992(1):S4I013, December 1992. Publisher: Laser Institute of America. URL: https://lia.scitation.org/doi/10.2351/1.5056329, doi:10.2351/1.5056329.
- [74] Yuki Kubo, Kana Eguchi, and Ryosuke Aoki. 3D-Printed Object Identification Method using Inner Structure Patterns Configured by Slicer Software. In *Extended Abstracts* of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI EA '20, pages 1–7, New York, NY, USA, April 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3334480.3382847.
- [75] 3dk.berlin Kunststoffe für 3D-Drucker. PLA Filament IR-Black, 2021. URL: https: //3dk.berlin/en/special/115-pla-filament-ir-black.html.
- [76] Maria Larsson, Hironori Yoshida, Nobuyuki Umetani, and Takeo Igarashi. Tsugite: Interactive Design and Fabrication of Wood Joints. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, UIST '20, pages 317– 327, New York, NY, USA, October 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. doi: 10.1145/3379337.3415899.
- [77] Trotec Laser. Laser Materials, 2020. URL: https://www.trotec-materials.com/.
- Y. Lecun, L. Bottou, Y. Bengio, and P. Haffner. Gradient-based learning applied to document recognition. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 86(11):2278-2324, November 1998. Conference Name: Proceedings of the IEEE. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ document/726791, doi:10.1109/5.726791.
- [79] Danny Leen, Tom Veuskens, Kris Luyten, and Raf Ramakers. JigFab: Computational Fabrication of Constraints to Facilitate Woodworking with Power Tools. In *Proceedings* of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–12, Glasgow Scotland Uk, May 2019. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/ 3290605.3300386, doi:10.1145/3290605.3300386.
- [80] Dingzeyu Li, Avinash S Nair, Shree K Nayar, and Changxi Zheng. AirCode. Proceedings of the 30th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology UIST '17, 2017. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/3126594.3126635, doi:10.1145/3126594.3126635.
- [81] Zhengxiong Li, Aditya Singh Rathore, Chen Song, Sheng Wei, Yanzhi Wang, and Wenyao Xu. PrinTracker: Fingerprinting 3D printers using commodity scanners. In Proceedings of the 2018 ACM sigsac conference on computer and communications security (CCS, volume 18, pages 1306–1323, 2018. doi:10.1145/3243734.3243735.

- [82] Tsung-Yi Lin, Michael Maire, Serge Belongie, James Hays, Pietro Perona, Deva Ramanan, Piotr Dollár, and C. Lawrence Zitnick. Microsoft COCO: Common Objects in Context. In David Fleet, Tomas Pajdla, Bernt Schiele, and Tinne Tuytelaars, editors, *Computer Vision – ECCV 2014*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 740–755, Cham, 2014. Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-10602-1_ 48.
- [83] David Lindlbauer, Anna Maria Feit, and Otmar Hilliges. Context-Aware Online Adaptation of Mixed Reality Interfaces. In Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, UIST '19, pages 147–160, New York, NY, USA, October 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. doi: 10.1145/3332165.3347945.
- [84] Wei Liu, Dragomir Anguelov, Dumitru Erhan, Christian Szegedy, Scott Reed, Cheng-Yang Fu, and Alexander C. Berg. SSD: Single Shot MultiBox Detector. In Bastian Leibe, Jiri Matas, Nicu Sebe, and Max Welling, editors, *Computer Vision – ECCV* 2016, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 21–37, Cham, 2016. Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46448-0_2.
- [85] Tyler S. Love. Perceptions of Safety in Makerspaces: Examining the Influence of Professional Development. page 18, Nashville, Tennessee, November 2018.
- [86] Camillo Lugaresi, Jiuqiang Tang, Hadon Nash, Chris McClanahan, Esha Uboweja, Michael Hays, Fan Zhang, Chuo-Ling Chang, Ming Yong, Juhyun Lee, Wan-Teh Chang, Wei Hua, Manfred Georg, and Matthias Grundmann. MediaPipe: A Framework for Perceiving and Processing Reality. In *Third Workshop on Computer Vision for AR/VR at IEEE Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition* (CVPR) 2019, 2019. URL: https://mixedreality.cs.cornell.edu/s/NewTitle_ May1_MediaPipe_CVPR_CV4ARVR_Workshop_2019.pdf.
- [87] Zehua Ma, Hang Zhou, and Weiming Zhang. AnisoTag: 3D Printed Tag on 2D Surface via Reflection Anisotropy, January 2023. arXiv:2301.10599 [cs]. URL: http: //arxiv.org/abs/2301.10599, doi:10.1145/3544548.3581024.
- [88] Shiran Magrisso, Moran Mizrahi, and Amit Zoran. Digital Joinery For Hybrid Carpentry. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–11, Montreal QC Canada, April 2018. ACM. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3173574.3173741, doi:10.1145/3173574.3173741.
- [89] Henrique Teles Maia, Dingzeyu Li, Yuan Yang, and Changxi Zheng. LayerCode: optical barcodes for 3D printed shapes. ACM Transactions on Graphics, 38(4):112:1– 112:14, July 2019. doi:10.1145/3306346.3322960.
- [90] MakerBot. Thingiverse, 2020. URL: https://www.thingiverse.com/.
- [91] LLC makexyz. makexyz, 2020. Place: Makexyz, LLC. URL: https://www.makexyz. com/.
- [92] Hanna Matusik and Mina Konakovic Lukovic. ObjGen: Constructing Objects with Digital Genetic Information. In Extended Abstracts of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–8, Hamburg Germany, April 2023.

ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3544549.3585781, doi:10.1145/3544549.3585781.

- [93] James McCrae, Nobuyuki Umetani, and Karan Singh. FlatFitFab: interactive modeling with planar sections. In *Proceedings of the 27th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology*, pages 13–22, Honolulu Hawaii USA, October 2014. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/2642918.2647388, doi: 10.1145/2642918.2647388.
- [94] Cassie McGrath. FBI Warns That Cyber Criminals Now Using QR Codes for Theft, February 2022. Section: Cybersecurity. URL: https://www.govtech.com/security/ fbi-warns-that-cyber-criminals-now-using-qr-codes-for-theft.
- [95] K. Michael and L. McCathie. The pros and cons of RFID in supply chain management. In International Conference on Mobile Business (ICMB'05), pages 623–629, July 2005. ISSN: 1935-4908. doi:10.1109/ICMB.2005.103.
- [96] Stefanie Mueller, Bastian Kruck, and Patrick Baudisch. LaserOrigami: laser-cutting 3D objects. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 2585–2592. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, April 2013. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/2470654.2481358.
- [97] Midas Nouwens, Ilaria Liccardi, Michael Veale, David Karger, and Lalana Kagal. Dark Patterns after the GDPR: Scraping Consent Pop-ups and Demonstrating their Influence. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–13. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, April 2020. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/3313831.3376321.
- [98] National Optical Astronomy Observatory. Recommended Light Levels (Illuminance) for Outdoor and Indoor Venues. Technical report, Association of Universities for Research in Astronomy, 2016.
- [99] Mary A. Pagnutti, Robert E. Ryan, George J. Cazenavette V, Maxwell J. Gold, Ryan Harlan, Edward Leggett, and James F. Pagnutti. Laying the foundation to use Raspberry Pi 3 V2 camera module imagery for scientific and engineering purposes. *Journal of Electronic Imaging*, 26(1):013014, February 2017. Publisher: International Society for Optics and Photonics. URL: https://www.spiedigitallibrary. org/journals/Journal-of-Electronic-Imaging/volume-26/issue-1/013014/ Laying-the-foundation-to-use-Raspberry-Pi-3-V2-camera/10.1117/1.JEI. 26.1.013014.short, doi:10.1117/1.JEI.26.1.013014.
- [100] Philippe Palanque, Fabio Paternò, and Peter Wright. Designing user interfaces for safety critical systems. In CHI 98 Conference Summary on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '98, page 200, New York, NY, USA, April 1998. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/286498.286685.
- [101] Keunwoo Park and Patrick Baudisch. FoolProofJoint: Reducing Assembly Errors of Laser Cut 3D Models by Means of Custom Joint Patterns. In Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. ACM, 2022.

- [102] Materials Engineering Penton/IPC. How to Identify Plastics. Technical report, Thomas Publishing Company, 2020. URL: https://cdn.thomasnet.com/ccp/ 01296269/42809.pdf.
- [103] Stephen M. Pizer, E. Philip Amburn, John D. Austin, Robert Cromartie, Ari Geselowitz, Trey Greer, Bart ter Haar Romeny, John B. Zimmerman, and Karel Zuiderveld. Adaptive histogram equalization and its variations. *Computer Vision, Graphics, and Image Processing*, 39(3):355-368, September 1987. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0734189X8780186X, doi:10.1016/S0734-189X(87)80186-X.
- [104] William Preston, Steve Benford, Emily-Clare Thorn, Boriana Koleva, Stefan Rennick-Egglestone, Richard Mortier, Anthony Quinn, John Stell, and Michael Worboys. Enabling Hand-Crafted Visual Markers at Scale. In *Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Designing Interactive Systems*, pages 1227–1237, Edinburgh United Kingdom, June 2017. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3064663.3064746, doi:10.1145/3064663.3064746.
- [105] Siyuan Qiao, Xiaoxin Fang, Bin Sheng, Wen Wu, and Enhua Wu. Structureaware QR Code abstraction. *The Visual Computer*, 31(6-8):1123-1133, June 2015. URL: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00371-015-1107-x, doi:10. 1007/s00371-015-1107-x.
- [106] Joseph Redmon, Santosh Divvala, Ross Girshick, and Ali Farhadi. You Only Look Once: Unified, Real-Time Object Detection. In 2016 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), pages 779–788, June 2016. ISSN: 1063-6919. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7780460, doi:10.1109/ CVPR.2016.91.
- [107] I. S. Reed and G. Solomon. Polynomial Codes Over Certain Finite Fields. Journal of the Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 8(2):300–304, 1960. _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1137/0108018. doi:10.1137/0108018.
- [108] Alec Rivers, Ilan E. Moyer, and Frédo Durand. Position-correcting tools for 2D digital fabrication. ACM Transactions on Graphics, 31(4):88:1-88:7, July 2012. doi:10. 1145/2185520.2185584.
- [109] Francisco Romero-Ramirez, Rafael Muñoz-Salinas, and Rafael Medina-Carnicer. Speeded Up Detection of Squared Fiducial Markers. *Image and Vision Computing*, 76, June 2018. doi:10.1016/j.imavis.2018.05.004.
- [110] Olaf Ronneberger, Philipp Fischer, and Thomas Brox. U-Net: Convolutional Networks for Biomedical Image Segmentation. In Nassir Navab, Joachim Hornegger, William M. Wells, and Alejandro F. Frangi, editors, *Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention MICCAI 2015*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 234–241, Cham, 2015. Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-24574-4_28.
- [111] F. W. D. Rost. *Fluorescence Microscopy*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; New York, 1992. OCLC: 23766227.

- [112] Thijs Roumen, Ingo Apel, Jotaro Shigeyama, Abdullah Muhammad, and Patrick Baudisch. Kerf-Canceling Mechanisms: Making Laser-Cut Mechanisms Operate across Different Laser Cutters. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Sympo*sium on User Interface Software and Technology, pages 293-303, Virtual Event USA, October 2020. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3379337.3415895, doi:10.1145/3379337.3415895.
- [113] Thijs Roumen, Yannis Kommana, Ingo Apel, Conrad Lempert, Markus Brand, Erik Brendel, Laurenz Seidel, Lukas Rambold, Carl Goedecken, Pascal Crenzin, Ben Hurdelhey, Muhammad Abdullah, and Patrick Baudisch. Assembler3: 3D Reconstruction of Laser-Cut Models. In *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '21, pages 1–11, New York, NY, USA, May 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3411764.3445453.
- [114] Thijs Roumen, Jotaro Shigeyama, Julius Cosmo Romeo Rudolph, Felix Grzelka, and Patrick Baudisch. SpringFit: Joints and Mounts that Fabricate on Any Laser Cutter. In Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pages 727–738, New Orleans LA USA, October 2019. ACM. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3332165.3347930, doi:10.1145/3332165.3347930.
- [115] Olga Russakovsky, Jia Deng, Hao Su, Jonathan Krause, Sanjeev Satheesh, Sean Ma, Zhiheng Huang, Andrej Karpathy, Aditya Khosla, Michael Bernstein, Alexander C. Berg, and Li Fei-Fei. ImageNet Large Scale Visual Recognition Challenge. International Journal of Computer Vision, 115(3):211–252, December 2015. doi: 10.1007/s11263-015-0816-y.
- [116] Daniel Saakes, Thomas Cambazard, Jun Mitani, and Takeo Igarashi. PacCAM. Proceedings of the 26th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology UIST '13, 2013. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2501988.2501990, doi:10.1145/2501988.2501990.
- [117] Environmental Health and Safety. Laser Cutter Safety Guideline. Technical report, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh PA, March 2019. URL: https://www.cmu.edu/ehs/Workplace-Construction/documents/ehs-guideline_ laser-cutters.pdf.
- [118] Samsung. ISOCELL HP1: Ultra-Fine Samsung Brings Advanced Pixel Technologies to New Mobile Image Sensors. Technical report, September 2021.URL: https://news.samsung.com/global/ Korea. samsung-brings-advanced-ultra-fine-pixel-technologies-to-new-mobile-image-sensors.
- [119] Munehiko Sato, Shigeo Yoshida, Alex Olwal, Boxin Shi, Atsushi Hiyama, Tomohiro Tanikawa, Michitaka Hirose, and Ramesh Raskar. SpecTrans: Versatile Material Classification for Interaction with Textureless, Specular and Transparent Surfaces. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 2191–2200, Seoul, Republic of Korea, 2015. ACM Press. URL: http://dl. acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=2702123.2702169, doi:10.1145/2702123.2702169.
- [120] Greg Saul, Manfred Lau, Jun Mitani, and Takeo Igarashi. SketchChair: an all-in-one chair design system for end users. In *Proceedings of the fifth international conference on Tangible, embedded, and embodied interaction*, pages 73–80, Funchal Portugal, January

2010. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/1935701.1935717, doi:10.1145/1935701.1935717.

- [121] Frank Schieber. Modeling the Appearance of Fluorescent Colors. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, 45(18):1324–1327, October 2001. Publisher: SAGE Publications Inc. doi:10.1177/154193120104501802.
- [122] Yuliy Schwartzburg and Mark Pauly. Fabrication-aware design with intersecting planar pieces. volume 32, pages 317-326, 2013. URL: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/abs/10.1111/cgf.12051.
- [123] Dominik Schön, Thomas Kosch, Martin Schmitz, Florian Müller, Sebastian Günther, Johannes Kreutz, and Max Mühlhäuser. TrackItPipe: A Fabrication Pipeline To Incorporate Location and Rotation Tracking Into 3D Printed Objects. In *The Adjunct Publication of the 35th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 1–5, Bend OR USA, October 2022. ACM. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3526114.3558719, doi:10.1145/3526114.3558719.
- [124] Ticha Sethapakdi, Adrian Reginald Chua Sy, Daniel Anderson, and Stefanie Mueller. Fabricaide: Fabrication-Aware Design for 2D Cutting Machines. In Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Virtual, 2021.
- [125] Lei Shi, Holly Lawson, Zhuohao Zhang, and Shiri Azenkot. Designing Interactive 3D Printed Models with Teachers of the Visually Impaired. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–14, Glasgow Scotland Uk, May 2019. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3290605.3300427, doi:10.1145/3290605.3300427.
- [126] Piyarat Silapasuphakornwong, Hideyuki Trii, Kazutake Uehira, and Masahiro Suzuki. Technique for Embedding Information in Objects Produced with 3D Printer Using Near Infrared Fluorescent Dye. 2019.
- [127] Brandon M Smith, Pratham Desai, Vishal Agarwal, and Mohit Gupta. CoLux. ACM Transactions on Graphics, 36(4):1-12, 2017. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/ 3072959.3073607, doi:10.1145/3072959.3073607.
- [128] Sony. IMX219PQH5 Datasheet, 2020. URL: https://publiclab.org/system/ images/photos/000/023/294/original/RASPBERRY_PI_CAMERA_V2_DATASHEET_ IMX219PQH5_7.0.0_Datasheet_XXX.PDF.
- [129] Andrew Spielberg, Alanson Sample, Scott E. Hudson, Jennifer Mankoff, and James McCann. RapID: A Framework for Fabricating Low-Latency Interactive Objects with RFID Tags. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 5897–5908. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, May 2016. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858243.
- [130] Andrei State, Gentaro Hirota, David T. Chen, William F. Garrett, and Mark A. Livingston. Superior augmented reality registration by integrating landmark tracking and magnetic tracking. In *Proceedings of the 23rd annual conference on Computer graphics and interactive techniques - SIGGRAPH '96*, pages 429–438, Not Known, 1996. ACM Press. URL: http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=237170.237282, doi:10.1145/237170.237282.

- [131] Paul Streli, Jiaxi Jiang, Juliete Rossie, and Christian Holz. Structured Light Speckle: Joint Ego-Centric Depth Estimation and Low-Latency Contact Detection via Remote Vibrometry. In Proceedings of the 36th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, UIST '23, pages 1–12, New York, NY, USA, October 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3586183.3606749.
- [132] Peter Sturm. Pinhole Camera Model. In Katsushi Ikeuchi, editor, Computer Vision: A Reference Guide, pages 610–613. Springer US, Boston, MA, 2014. doi:10.1007/ 978-0-387-31439-6_472.
- [133] Yuta Sugiura, Diasuke Sakamoto, Anusha Withana, Masahiko Inami, and Takeo Igarashi. Cooking with robots: designing a household system working in open environments. In Proceedings of the 28th international conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '10, page 2427, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, 2010. ACM Press. URL: http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=1753326.1753693, doi:10.1145/1753326.1753693.
- [134] Hui Sun, Saurav Maji, Anantha P. Chandrakasan, and Benedetto Marelli. Integrating biopolymer design with physical unclonable functions for anticounterfeiting and product traceability in agriculture. *Science Advances*, 9(12):eadf1978, March 2023. Publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science. URL: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciadv.adf1978, doi:10.1126/sciadv.adf1978.
- [135] Universal Laser Systems. Universal Control Panel (UCP), 2020. URL: https://www. ulsinc.com/support/software-downloads.
- [136] Richard Szeliski. Computer Vision: Algorithms and Applications. Springer, London Heidelberg, 2011th edition edition, October 2010.
- [137] Haruki Takahashi and Jeeeun Kim. 3D Printed Fabric: Techniques for Design and 3D Weaving Programmable Textiles. In Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, UIST '19, pages 43–51, New York, NY, USA, October 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. URL: https://dl.acm. org/doi/10.1145/3332165.3347896, doi:10.1145/3332165.3347896.
- [138] Matthew Tancik, Ben Mildenhall, and Ren Ng. StegaStamp: Invisible Hyperlinks in Physical Photographs. In 2020 IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), pages 2114-2123, Seattle, WA, USA, June 2020. IEEE. URL: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9156548/, doi:10. 1109/CVPR42600.2020.00219.
- [139] Ryuhei Tenmoku, Yusuke Yoshida, Fumihisa Shibata, Asako Kimura, and Hideyuki Tamura. Visually Elegant and Robust Semi-Fiducials for Geometric Registration in Mixed Reality. In 2007 6th IEEE and ACM International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality, pages 1-2, Nara, Japan, November 2007. IEEE. URL: http: //ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/4538857/, doi:10.1109/ISMAR.2007.4538857.
- [140] Rundong Tian, Sarah Sterman, Ethan Chiou, Jeremy Warner, and Eric Paulos. Match-Sticks: Woodworking through Improvisational Digital Fabrication. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '18, pages 1–12, New York, NY, USA, April 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3173574.3173723.

- [141] Markus Trapp, Markus Kreutz, Michael Lütjen, and Michael Freitag. Improving Sustainability of Footwear Production through 3D Printing of Shoes. pages 1–15. September 2022. doi:10.30844/WGAB_2022_1.
- [142] Dorin Ungureanu, Federica Bogo, Silvano Galliani, Pooja Sama, Xin Duan, Casey Meekhof, Jan Stühmer, Thomas J. Cashman, Bugra Tekin, Johannes L. Schönberger, Pawel Olszta, and Marc Pollefeys. HoloLens 2 Research Mode as a Tool for Computer Vision Research. arXiv:2008.11239 [cs], August 2020. arXiv: 2008.11239. URL: http://arxiv.org/abs/2008.11239.
- [143] Dhaval Vyas and John Vines. Making at the Margins: Making in an Under-resourced e-Waste Recycling Center. Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, 3(CSCW):188:1-188:23, November 2019. doi:10.1145/3359290.
- [144] Dinkar Wadhwa. The Series of a Four-node Motif can Provide Sensitive Detection over Arbitrary Range of Signal, thereby Explain Weber's Law in Higher-Order Sensory Processes, and Compute Logarithm. Technical report, bioRxiv, June 2020. Section: New Results Type: article. URL: https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.04. 08.032193v3, doi:10.1101/2020.04.08.032193.
- [145] Joerg Walden, Angelika Steinbrecher, and Maroye Marinkovic. Digital Product Passports as Enabler of the Circular Economy. *Chemie Ingenieur Technik*, 93(11):1717–1727, 2021. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/cite.202100121. URL: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/cite.202100121, doi:10.1002/cite.202100121.
- [146] Ge Wang, Chen Qian, Jinsong Han, Wei Xi, Han Ding, Zhiping Jiang, and Jizhong Zhao. Verifiable smart packaging with passive RFID. In Proceedings of the 2016 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing, pages 156– 166, Heidelberg Germany, September 2016. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/ 10.1145/2971648.2971692, doi:10.1145/2971648.2971692.
- [147] Roy Want, Kenneth P. Fishkin, Anuj Gujar, and Beverly L. Harrison. Bridging physical and virtual worlds with electronic tags. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems the CHI is the limit CHI '99*, pages 370–377, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, United States, 1999. ACM Press. URL: http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=302979.303111, doi:10.1145/302979.303111.
- [148] Gregory F. Weber and A. Sue Menko. Color image acquisition using a monochrome camera and standard fluorescence filter cubes. *BioTechniques*, 38(1):52-56, January 2005. Publisher: Future Science. URL: https://www.future-science.com/doi/10. 2144/05381BM06, doi:10.2144/05381BM06.
- [149] Christian Weichel, Manfred Lau, and Hans Gellersen. Enclosed: a component-centric interface for designing prototype enclosures. In *Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Tangible, Embedded and Embodied Interaction - TEI '13*, page 215, Barcelona, Spain, 2013. ACM Press. URL: http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid= 2460625.2460659, doi:10.1145/2460625.2460659.
- [150] Mark Weiser. The Computer for the 21st Century. ACM SIGMOBILE Mobile Computing and Communications Review, 3(3):3–11, July 1999. doi:10.1145/329124.329126.

- [151] Gareth White, Georgina Gardiner, Guru Prabhakar, and Azley Abd Razak. A Comparison of Barcoding and RFID Technologies in Practice. Journal of Information, Information Technology and Organizations, 2, January 2007. doi:10.28945/142.
- [152] Alex C. Wiedenhoeft and David E. Kretschmann. Species Identification and Design Value Estimation of Wooden Members in Covered Bridges. Technical Report FPL-GTR-228, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI, 2014. URL: https://www.fs.usda.gov/treesearch/pubs/46745, doi:10.2737/FPL-GTR-228.
- [153] Karl D. D. Willis and Andrew D. Wilson. InfraStructs: fabricating information inside physical objects for imaging in the terahertz region. ACM Transactions on Graphics, 32(4):1-10, July 2013. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/2461912.2461936, doi:10.1145/2461912.2461936.
- [154] Po-Chen Wu, Robert Wang, Kenrick Kin, Christopher Twigg, Shangchen Han, Ming-Hsuan Yang, and Shao-Yi Chien. DodecaPen: Accurate 6DoF Tracking of a Passive Stylus. In Proceedings of the 30th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pages 365–374, Québec City QC Canada, October 2017. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3126594.3126664, doi:10.1145/ 3126594.3126664.
- [155] Chang Xiao, Cheng Zhang, and Changxi Zheng. FontCode: Embedding Information in Text Documents Using Glyph Perturbation. ACM Transactions on Graphics, 37(2):1– 16, April 2018. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3152823, doi:10.1145/ 3152823.
- [156] Garima Yadav, Saurabh Maheshwari, and Anjali Agarwal. Contrast limited adaptive histogram equalization based enhancement for real time video system. In 2014 International Conference on Advances in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI), pages 2392–2397, September 2014. doi:10.1109/ICACCI.2014.6968381.
- [157] Mustafa B. Yaldiz, Andreas Meuleman, Hyeonjoong Jang, Hyunho Ha, and Min H. Kim. DeepFormableTag: end-to-end generation and recognition of deformable fiducial markers. ACM Transactions on Graphics, 40(4):1–14, August 2021. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3476576.3476619, doi:10.1145/3476576.3476619.
- [158] Junichi Yamaoka, Mustafa Doga Dogan, Katarina Bulovic, Kazuya Saito, Yoshihiro Kawahara, Yasuaki Kakehi, and Stefanie Mueller. FoldTronics: Creating 3D Objects with Integrated Electronics Using Foldable Honeycomb Structures. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–14, New York, NY, USA, May 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300858.
- [159] Hui-Shyong Yeo, Juyoung Lee, Andrea Bianchi, David Harris-Birtill, and Aaron Quigley. SpeCam. Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services - MobileHCI '17, 2017. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/3098279.3098541, doi:10.1145/3098279.3098541.
- [160] Nur Yildirim, James McCann, and John Zimmerman. Digital Fabrication Tools at Work: Probing Professionals' Current Needs and Desired Futures. In Proceedings of

the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–13, Honolulu HI USA, April 2020. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3313831.3376621, doi:10.1145/3313831.3376621.

- [161] Clement Zheng, Ellen Yi-Luen Do, and Jim Budd. Joinery: Parametric Joint Generation for Laser Cut Assemblies. In *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM SIGCHI Conference* on Creativity and Cognition, C&C '17, pages 63–74, New York, NY, USA, June 2017. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3059454.3059459.
- [162] Clement Zheng, Peter Gyory, and Ellen Yi-Luen Do. Tangible Interfaces with Printed Paper Markers. In Proceedings of the 2020 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference, pages 909–923, Eindhoven Netherlands, July 2020. ACM. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3357236.3395578, doi:10.1145/3357236.3395578.
- [163] Sheng Zhong, Zhiqiang Yang, and Rebecca N. Wright. Privacy-enhancing kanonymization of customer data. In Proceedings of the twenty-fourth ACM SIGMOD-SIGACT-SIGART symposium on Principles of database systems, PODS '05, pages 139–147, New York, NY, USA, June 2005. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/1065167.1065185.
- [164] Qinbang Zhou, Renwen Chen, Huang Bin, Chuan Liu, Jie Yu, and Xiaoqing Yu. An Automatic Surface Defect Inspection System for Automobiles Using Machine Vision Methods. Sensors, 19:644, 2019.
- [165] Amy Zhu, Adriana Schulz, and Zachary Tatlock. Exploring Self-Embedded Knitting Programs with Twine. In Proceedings of the 11th ACM SIGPLAN International Workshop on Functional Art, Music, Modelling, and Design, FARM 2023, pages 25–31, New York, NY, USA, August 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3609023.3609805, doi:10.1145/3609023.3609805.
- [166] Kening Zhu, Taizhou Chen, Feng Han, and Yi-Shiun Wu. HapTwist: Creating Interactive Haptic Proxies in Virtual Reality Using Low-cost Twistable Artefacts. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–13, Glasgow Scotland Uk, May 2019. ACM. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/ 10.1145/3290605.3300923, doi:10.1145/3290605.3300923.